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Dear Shareholders,

In 2022, in the face of a complex and volatile economic environment and
the impact of the recurring COVID-19 outbreak, 51 Credit Card Inc. (the
“Company”), together with its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “we"), maintained
a high level of business compliance and made steady progress in all the Group's
businesses as a whole based on its superior technological and technical strength
and strong operational capabilities.

ADHERING TO COMPLIANCE AND MOVING FORWARD

In 2022, we adjusted our overall business strategy to enhance cooperation with
our financial institution partners and the accumulation of high-quality users.
While taking strict risk control measures, we continued to steadily increase the
number of our users, with our registered user base increased to approximately
88.7 million and the cumulative number of credit cards under management
increased to |51.2 million as of 31 December 2022. In addition, ensuring
business compliance will remain our primary principle in conducting all of our
businesses, which is believed to continuously enhance the trust between our
financial institution partners and existing users, and attract more new quality
users, bringing more new opportunities for our financial technology and credit
facilitation business.

DEVELOPING NEW BUSINESS AND CONTINUOUS BUSINESS
TRANSFORMATION AND UPGRADING

Despite the impact of the recurring epidemic, our Little Blue Book business
made significant development in 2022. Relying on our strong innovation
capability and technological strength, we continued to improve sales effectiveness
and accumulated rich industry experience, laying a solid foundation for the
continued strength of our business in the later years. During the year, we laid
the groundwork to enter the camping business to provide self-service exquisite
camping services to our customers. Since the launch of the business in April 2022,
we have become a leading brand in the camping industry. As of 31 December
2022, we have served more than 60,000 people in total, and our camping
services have now radiated to the Yangtze River Delta and Pearl River Delta
regions.

In the future, we will continue to keep down to earth, promote the
transformation and upgrading of each of our businesses in an orderly manner,
and continue to make unremitting efforts to create long-term value for our
shareholders, users and society.

Last but not least, on behalf of the board (the “Board") of directors (the
"“Directors”) of the Company, | would like to thank all the Shareholders for their
support and express my sincere gratitude to all our staff for their dedication and
contribution to the Group.

Sun Haitao
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

31 March 2023
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEEFwmA O

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates a widely-used credit card management platform, 51 Credit
Card Manager App (‘51 Credit Card Manager”). As at 3| December 2022, the
number of registered users of 51 Credit Card Manager was approximately 88.7
million, and the number of credit cards we had managed cumulatively amounted
to approximately |151.2 million. The Group’s commercial information searching
tool, Little Blue Book App (‘Little Blue Book™), aims to provide users with
valuable commercial information. As at 31 December 2022, Little Blue Book had

approximately 6.7 million registered users.

In the year ended 31 December 2022, facing the sporadic outbreaks of
the COVID-19 Pandemic (the “Pandemic”) and sluggish macroeconomic
environment, we adjusted our business strategies of the credit facilitation
business with focus on the user management of high-quality existing customers,
which has achieved satisfactory results and the overall delinquency rate of credit
facilitation assets maintained at a low level. With our efficient and multi-channel
collection management system, the recovery of overdue assets generated from

historical credit facilitation business maintained a positive momentum.

Despite the slowdown in the expansion plan of To B business of Little Blue Book
due to the substantial impact of the Pandemic on the overall software as a service
(“SaaS"”) industry in the year ended 3| December 2022, we have still achieved
comprehensive growth in respect of the number of customers, customer unit
price, sales efficiency, etc., as well as gained relatively profound understanding and

accumulation of multiple industries.

In summary, in the year ended 31 December 2022, the delinquency rate of our
credit facilitation business maintained at a low level and the efficiency of overdue
assets recovery maintained a positive momentum, providing a solid foundation
for the Group’s day-to-day operations and the development of new businesses
such as the SaaS business. For the year ended 31 December 2022, our revenue
was approximately RMB395.7 million, representing a decrease of approximately
10.1% from approximately RMB440.| million for the year ended 31 December
2021; our operating loss was approximately RMB40.7 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 79.6% from approximately RMB199.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021; and our net loss was approximately RMB97.6
million, representing a decrease of approximately 62.6% from approximately

RMB260.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

As for non-IFRS measures, for the year ended 3| December 2022, our non-
IFRS adjusted operating profit was approximately RMB33.7 million, as compared
with non-IFRS adjusted operating profit of approximately RMBI.8 million for
the year ended 3| December 2021; and our non-IFRS adjusted net profit was
approximately RMB/ .2 million, as compared with non- IFRS adjusted net loss of
approximately RMB57.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. Please
refer to the section headed “FINANCIAL REVIEW — Non-IFRS measures” of this

report for the definitions, explanations of usage and reconciliations of non-IFRS
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BEEm R

Notes:

@)

8

Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit for the year is defined as operating loss for the year
ended 3| December 2022 and 202 excluding share-based compensation expenses,
fair value loss of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), impairment
loss of intangible assets and impairment loss of investments accounted for using equity

method. For more details, please see the section headed “Non- IFRS measures” below.

Non-IFRS adjusted net profit/(loss) for the year is defined as net loss for the year ended
31 December 2022 and 202 excluding share-based compensation expenses, fair value
loss of financial assets/liabilities at FVPL, impairment loss of intangible assets, loss on
deconsolidation of subsidiaries and impairment loss of investments accounted for using
equity method. For more details, please see the section headed “Non-IFRS measures”

below.

Credit Facilitation Service

The Group refers qualified borrowers to partner financial institutions to
provide loan services and receives service fees upon successful drawdown
of loans to borrowers. We also provide credit enhancement to partner
financial institutions through a licenced financial guarantee company within

the Group.

In the year ended 31 December 2022, the total volume of credit
facilitation business was approximately RMB2,519.4 million, all being
businesses cooperated with financial institutions, representing a decrease
of approximately 41.6% from approximately RMB4,317.2 million in the
year ended 3| December 2021. The Day-| delinquency rate (defined
as the total amount of overdue principal as of a specified date divided
by the total amount of principal due for repayment as of such date) of
the credit facilitation assets facilitated in the year ended 3| December
2022 was lower than 3.5%, representing a decrease of approximately
42.6% as compared to the year ended 3| December in 2021, which was
attributable to our adoption of stringent risk control measures. Meanwhile,
the 30-day collection rate of overdue assets was approximately 85.1%.
The average tenure of loans increased to approximately 9.5 months in
the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately 8.9 months in
the year ended 3| December 2021, and the average amount of loans
increased to approximately RMB9,200 in the year ended 3| December
2022 from approximately RMB7,500 in the year ended 31 December
2021.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

SaaS Business

Our Saa$S business consists of the Little Blue Book business and the
smart retail business. Little Blue Book mainly focuses on an APP for
general query of commercial information for To C users and smart
sales of SaaS products for To B enterprises, in which the APP business
provides membership-based services for individual users to generate
monthly or annual subscription income while the SaaS smart sales
of products mainly provides services including intelligent customer
expansion, intelligent reach, intelligent customer management and
related solutions for marketing and sales teams of To B enterprises to
generate annual subscription income. Our smart retail business serves
corporate customers, and received a fixed amount of revenue from
system development and hardware and software sales and agency fees
based on customer usage such as transaction payment amount, cloud
service usage and SMS traffic. Revenue from SaaS business increased to
approximately RMB5 1.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
from approximately RMB32.7 million for the year ended 3| December
2021.

Credit card technology service

In the year ended 3| December 2022, credit card technology service
mainly focused on the issuance of co-branded cards under the
cooperation with financial institutions. As a result of the tightening
regulatory policies related to the co-branded card business, our
investment in co-branded cards declined. Revenue from credit card
technology service decreased from approximately RMB39.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 202 | to approximately RMB27.7 million for the
year ended 3| December 2022.

Camping services

During the year ended 3| December 2022, we have established the
campsite brand chain named 51 CAMP, with the aim to develop the “2H"
urban camping circle centered on intra-urban themed urban campsites,
peri-urban campsites and complemented by remote glamping campsites.
The revenue of 51 CAMP can mainly be divided into two types: To C and
To B. For To C, we provide our customers with delicate camping services
and charge a fixed service fee for the use of the venue, food and beverage
consumption, etc. On the other hand, To B revenue includes fees charged
for commercial advertising shooting, live broadcast, commercial brand
press conference, wedding shooting, bespoke wedding, music festivals,
camping festivals, enterprise team building customization, event advertising
sponsorship and other modes of site services. Revenue from camping
services was approximately RMBI |.| million for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEEFwmA O

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our total revenue decreased by approximately 10.1% from approximately
RMB440.1 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to approximately
RMB395.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Credit facilitation and service fee decreased by approximately 52.1% from
approximately RMB237.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMBI 3.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. We
generally collect credit facilitation service fees from fees borrowers according
to the pre-confirmed fee schedules, and recognize in the consolidated financial
statements the upfront credit facilitation service fee at the inception of the
loan and the post credit facilitation service fee over the loan during the year.
The decrease in credit facilitation and service fee was mainly attributable to the
decrease in credit facilitation business volume in the year ended 31 December

2022 mainly due to own business strategies adjustments.

Payment service fee increased by approximately 94.7% from approximately
RMB78.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB152.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly due to the
increase in business volume of payment service in the year ended 31 December
2022.

SaaS service fee increased by approximately 56.2% from approximately RMB32.7
million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to approximately RMB51.1
million for the year ended 3| December 2022, mainly due to the increase in the

subscription income of Little Blue Book.

Credit card technology service fee decreased by approximately 30.5% from
approximately RMB39.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB27.7 million for the year ended 3| December 2022. In the
year ended 31 December 2022, credit card technology service mainly focused
on the issuance of co-branded cards under the cooperation with financial
institutions. After evaluating the market situations, we reduced the investment in
the co-branded card business, which led to a decrease in credit card technology

service fee.

Other revenue decreased by approximately 2.6% from approximately RMB51.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB50. | million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly due to the decrease in overdue
payment fees as a result of the decrease in the volume of credit facilitation
business. Revenue from 51 CAMP was approximately RMBI I.1 million for the
year ended 3| December 2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased by approximately 31.7% from approximately
RMB639.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to approximately
RMB436.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Origination and servicing expenses increased by approximately 25.4% from
approximately RMB265.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB332.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
of which (i) fund transfer charges increased by approximately 72.3% from
approximately RMB78.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to
approximately RMBI35.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 due to

the increase in the volume of payment business.

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by approximately 40.9% from
approximately RMB53.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to
approximately RMB31.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. We
strictly controlled the expense of online channel promotion as part of the
Group's cost control measures, which decreased by approximately 84.1% from
approximately RMB44.5 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to
approximately RMB7.1 million for the year ended 3| December 2022, and which
was offset by an increase in sales staff wages by 157.8% from approximately
RMB6.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB 6.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 due to the expansion of
Little Blue Book.

General and administrative expenses decreased by approximately 5.6% from
approximately RMBI0I.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB95.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2022, which
was attributable to the decrease in staff remuneration and benefit expenses by
approximately 7.2% to approximately RMB61.7 million for the year ended 3|
December 2022 from approximately RMB66.5 million for the year ended 31

December 2021, mainly due to the decrease in the number of back office staff.

Research and development expenses decreased by approximately 42.6%
from approximately RMB50.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021
to approximately RMB28.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
mainly due to the decrease of research and development staff as the result
of business transformation, which led to a decrease in employee benefit
expenses for research and development department by approximately 37.3%
to approximately RMB24.9 million for the year ended 3| December 2022
from approximately RMB39.7 million for the year ended 31 December in
2021. Meanwhile, the depreciation and amortization borne by the research and
development department decreased by approximately 83.3% to approximately
RMB .3 million from approximately RMB7.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 due to the decrease in the number of research and

development staff.
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BEEEFwmA O

Expected credit gain/(loss) changed from a loss of approximately RMBI5.4
million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to a gain of approximately
RMB85.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 mainly because of (i) the
increase in expected credit gain related to quality assurance fund and contract
assets from approximately RMB32.7 million for the year ended 3| December
2021 to approximately RMB88.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2022,
mainly due to the fact that in the year ended 3| December 2022, the impact of
the Group's exit of P2P business and Pandemic on our business was weakened
substantially, and that we adopted stringent risk control measures so the risk level
of the credit facilitation business maintained at a low level; (i) expected credit
gain related to loans to customers increased from approximately RMB0.4 million
for the year ended 3| December 2021 to approximately RMBI.7 million for the
year ended 3| December 2022. Loans to customers, net are mainly historical
overdue assets, and the overdue recovery in the year ended 3| December 2022
was maintained well; and (iii) expected credit loss related to receivables are
mainly caused by expected credit loss on accounts receivables under the credit
card technology service, which significantly decreased by approximately 96.3%
from approximately RMB30.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMBI.I million for the year ended 3| December 2022, mainly
due to the reduction of scale in business. In this segment, the management has
closely monitored all outstanding overdue assets and regularly reviewed the

recoverability of various loans and receivables.

Other losses, net decreased by approximately 78.6% from approximately
RMB154.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB32.9 million for the year ended 3| December 2021, mainly due to (i)
the absence of impairment loss of approximately RMB148.9 million for the
year ended 3| December 2021 in respect of license under intangible assets
with reference to the market prices for the same period of the year ended 31
December 2022; and (ii) the fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL increased
by approximately 5.7% to approximately RMB14.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 from approximately RMBI13.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2021, as the business of several investees was underperformed,
resulting in a lower market value as at 31 December 2022 as compared to that
of 31 December 2021.

|2  5i CREDIT CARD INC. 2022 Annual Report

AR E AW E, (3BK) BE E2021F 12831 B IEFE
ERNBEROARE I SAERETEBEAEE2025128
3B LEFEENK LA ARIESS.0EETT o EEH()
HEERFEERaNBEEBNTERGRAREHEE
2021 F 12831 HIEFENNWAREN7TERTIEEE
E20NFNA3IHIEFENNARKSS4EET » =
EHREE20225FE12 B3I HIEEE » ZEEP2PER
MBBHBRMEFN BRI > URFEMEKRT
BRI RIZEEN > AL EERSEBNRBERFER
BKE; (WEPREMFREERNBEREAKREHER
2021 F A3 BIEFENNARBI4AESE TILEE
FQNFNAIIHIEFENNAREI 788 &
FERIEFEAFELAREERE » BIE2022F12
A3l HIEEEAHBINERRYT 5 K(ii) U RE
WIERERBREFERER FRERBERWIENTE
HEAIBL  HEZE 2021 E1N2A3 I BIEEENHAR
307 BB ITAREBRD A% I%EFE2022F 12831
HIEFENNUARKE . B8t TEEHREKRE
HEREN - OB Ms > EEBEEEZEMER
Y Ela A E E W E S B AR ER W E R T i Bl o

HiEEFEREE2020F A3 BIEEENHA
Bl I54088uR/ L A78.6% 28 E2022F 12831 H
IFFENNARKINIEET  TEHRO)ZRBEE
20224 12831 B ILFERHEANTIBER > REE2021
FNAJBLEFETEAREESEFNERBIRAE
BROARE 489B 8T ; R(iNVBRANEE AR
mHNEMEENANEEBEEEE2021F12831H
IFFEENHAREI37TESE T MAS.7%E & E2022
FI2A3BEFENYOARKI45BE T » HRNEX
WIREBE AN EXERBAE > ERH2025 128
3B HIBEER2021E 12831 BEMR T -




Management Discussion And Analysis

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using equity method

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using equity method increased by
approximately 462.1% from approximately RMB2.| million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to approximately RMBI .9 million for the year ended 31

December 2022, because of the increase in losses of several associates.

Fair value loss of financial liabilities at FVPL

Fair value loss of financial liabilities at FVPL increased by approximately 70.8%
from approximately RMB2.0 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to
approximately RMB3.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2022, mainly
because of the increase in appraisal value of such liabilities as at 31 December
2022 as compared to that of 3|1 December 2021.

Finance expenses, net

Financial expenses, net amounted to approximately RMB7.4 million for the year
ended 3| December 2022 which was basically unchanged from the expenses for

the year ended 31 December 2021 of approximately RMB7.5 million.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses decreased by from approximately 93.5% from
approximately RMB49.8 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to
RMB3.2 million for the year ended 3| December 2022.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year decreased by approximately
62.6% from approximately RMB260.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB97.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, primarily due to (i) the improved recovery of overdue assets in the
credit facilitation assets as compared to the year ended 31 December 2021,
during which there was a significant offset in the amount of expected credit loss
under International Financial Reporting Standard 9; and (i) the absence of the
impairment loss on license under intangible assets of approximately RMB148.9
million accrued with reference to the market prices during the year ended 31
December 202 1. The decrease in the loss for the year ended 31 December 2022
is partially offset by the one-off loss on deconsolidation of Beiing Shouhui Kaizhuo
Technology Co., Ltd* JEREEMRERHRAIRAE]) (“Shouhui Kaizhuo”) and
its subsidiaries (“SK Group”) from the Group with effect from 3 August 2022.
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Non-IFRS measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements that have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs, we also use adjusted operating profit and adjusted
net profit/(loss) as additional financial indicators, which are not presented in
accordance with IFRSs. We believe that adjusted operating profit and adjusted
net profit/(loss) facilitate comparisons of operating performance from period to
period by eliminating potential impacts of items which the management considers
non-indicative of our operating performance, and provide useful information to
investors and others in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of
operations. The use of adjusted operating profit and adjusted net profit/(loss) has
limitations as an analytical tool, and such measures should not be considered as
an isolation from, or as a substitute for an analysis of, our results of operations
or financial conditions as prepared under IFRSs. As non-IFRS measures do not
have a standardised meaning prescribed by IFRSs, such non-IFRS measures may
be defined differently from similar terms presented by other companies, and
may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures presented by other

companies.

When measuring adjusted operating profit and adjusted net profit/(loss) for
the year, we excluded share-based compensation expenses, fair value loss of
financial assets/liabilities at FVPL, impairment loss of intangible assets, loss on
deconsolidation of subsidiaries and impairment loss of investments accounted for
using equity method from operating loss and net loss, respectively. We excluded
these items because they were either non-operating in nature or not indicative
of our core operating results and business outlook, or did not generate any
cash outflows: (i) share-based compensation expenses were excluded because
they were non-cash in nature and did not result in cash outflow. In particular,
as the types of incentive available and valuation methodologies used may vary
in different companies, we believed that excluding such item provides investors
and others with greater visibility to the underlying performance of our business
operations; (i) fair value loss of financial assets/liabilities at FVPL were non-cash
in nature and did not result in cash outflow. We believe that this item was not
reflective of our ongoing operating results and there was no direct correlation
to the operation of our business; and (iii) impairment loss of intangible assets,
loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries and impairment loss of investments
accounted for using equity method were non-cash items and there were no

direct correlation to the operation of our business.
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The following tables reconcile the non-IFRS adjusted operating profit for the year 3R &5 JE B PR B 75 ¥ 25 2E Bl FE (NS A R A8 = m Al K

pa = =

and the adjusted net profit/(loss) for the year presented to the most directly R EEEFHA] (E518) BEIRE B IR 753k & 281
comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with  stE &K Z2FINEREZE A B LR FETE (AIERLKLE
IFRSs, which are operating loss for the year and net loss for the year: EBIEMFERZEE) NEER

For the year ended 3| December

BENA3IALEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AE%FT
Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit JE R PR B 75 3R 25 ZE R AR SR B
R E
Operating loss KERs1E (40,735) (199.301)
Adjusted for: MUTZIEMHAE .
Share-based compensation expenses LURGAD & BB 27BN B =2 33,809 35,653
Fair value loss of financial assets at FVPL BARBES ABZNER
BENANBEESRE 14,489 13711
Impairment loss of intangible assets EEEREERX = 148,903
Impairment loss of investments accounted FEREREARNKZEDN
for using equity method PEAEEEES 26,179 2817
Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit JEE PR A TE 3R 5 HE R AR A 28
RESE R 33,742 1,783

For the year ended 3| December

BENAIALEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEHEFT AE%FT
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit/(loss) JEEI PR B F5 3R 5 HE R AR SR B
PR (§518)
Net loss F 18 (97,629) (260,701)
Adjusted for: MU TEIEMLEE
Share-based compensation expenses LR A B R BN EE S 33,809 35,653
Fair value loss of financial liabilities at FVPL BAREBEFAEBRISRE
BENANEERSIE 3,350 1,961
Fair value loss of financial assets at FVPL BARBES ABZNESR
BENAAEBEESSE 14,489 13711
Impairment loss of intangible assets B EEREEBRX = 148,903
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries M A B IERE AR EE 30,956 -
Impairment loss of investments accounted for EAEREARNKZERN
using equity method DEAEEEES 26,179 2817
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit/(loss) JEE PR B S SR S A R A S B
Bimdl, (§518) 11,154 (57,656)
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

The Group maintained a net cash position throughout the period under review.
Our net cash positions as at 3| December 2022 and 3| December 2021 are as

follows:

RBBEETRMBERREEARLE

AEEREECIBEIAB R EIREARR o FFIH22022
FI12H31BX2021F 12831 HEF RS RZUWT ¢

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

20224 20214

12B31H 128318

RMB’ million RMB’ million

AREEET ANEBEFET

Cash and cash equivalents RERIRESHEY 377 313
Liquid investments ISHRGE 0 00
Borrowings EE (180) (192)

Net cash FIRE 197 121

(i) Due to rounding.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and other short-term deposits
with original maturities of three months or less. Our cash and cash equivalents
and liquid investments are denominated in the United States dollars (the “US
dollars”), Renminbi (“RMB") and HK dollars.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded net cash inflow of
approximately RMB64 million, primarily representing net cash inflow in operating
activities of approximately RMB 25 million; net cash outflow in investing activities
of approximately RMB37 million; and net cash outflow in financing activities of

approximately RMB24 million.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves, banking
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows, and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities.

The gearing ratio, calculated as total borrowings divided by total assets,
was approximately 15.8% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
approximately 12.3%).
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Management Discussion And Analysis

The following table sets forth the maturity profile of our borrowings within the

years indicated:

BEEES RO

TEREFUR PR EE AR FIBIERE B EHRR

As at

31 December

As at

31 December

2022 2021

7202245 12202 1 5

12831 12H318

RMB’ million RMB’ million

AREEET ANEREEET

Within | year —F RN 166,687 171,943
| yearto 2 years —EmE 7,763 7,344
2 years to 5 years “EhRE 5,407 13,196
Total borrowings famR4a%e 179,857 192,483

The bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2022 were denominated in
RMB (31 December 2021: RMB). For the year ended 3| December 2022, the
annual interest rates of borrowings ranged from 3.40% to 8.04% (year ended 31
December 2021 5.64% to 8.04%).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group's subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to

US dollars and HK dollars.

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency is RMB, if US
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the loss before income tax for the year ended 3| December
2022 would have been approximately RMB2,723,000 higher/lower, and the loss
before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2021 would have been
approximately RMBI1,911,000 higher/lower, as a result of net foreign exchange

gains/(losses) on translation of net monetary liabilities denominated in US dollars.

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency is RMB, if HK
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the loss before income tax for the year ended 31 December
2022 would have been approximately RMB300 lower/higher, and the loss
before income tax for the year ended 3| December 2021 would have been
approximately RMB250 lower/higher, as a result of net foreign exchange gains/

(losses) on translation of net monetary assets denominated in HK dollars.

122022 128318 > RITREMERUAREE
(2021 F 128318 : AR¥) - #F20225F 12831 H
IEFE - BERNEFZENF3.40%E8.04% (B £ 2021
FE12H3IHIEERE | 5.64%E8.04% ) ©
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The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange forward contracts or other
hedging instruments to hedge against fluctuating during the year ended 3|
December 2022. The Group will monitor and manage foreign exchange risk from
time to time and enter into foreign exchange forward contracts depending on
circumstance to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts within the

exposure generated from time to time where appropriate.

BE20202F 12831 BIEEE » AEB BT EMA
SNERBEONEME R T AMUEHEE - KEEK
FRESGERREEIIERBILAEFERTLINERRAS
4 LUREREROS R EINEW S (B A) ©

Loans to Customers EREX
Loans to customers comprise the following: BREREE
Loan to Expected Loan to
Tenor Interest rate customers balance Credit Loss  customers, net
PREA flE ERENRE RHERBX TRENIH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANBEFT ARETT ARETT
Loan arising from continuing activity: BEIHELNER
Financial guarantee provided for A EEEENIZETBEER 6 to 12 months 439% to 10.66% 162,951 66,731 96,220
credit facilitation 6E 1288 439%Z10.66%

Loan arising from discontinued activities: 42 1E5EEHEEME:

Purchase of credit-impaired loans upon  P2PEEFR HFFBE A S A 3 to 24 months 3.24% to 8.14% 77,809 - 77,809
exiting of P2P business TREX 3E24(EA 324%%8.14%

Consolidated trust scheme RAEfEststal 6to 18 months 5.53% to 21.90% 172,008 166,392 5,696
6Z 18188 5.53%%21.90%

Micro loan INEER within 24 months ~ 5.53% to 33.86% 47,285 47,285 =
4EBR 5.53%%33.86%

Total st 460,133 280,408 179,725

ECL of loans to customers is calculated by using a complex model by taking into
consideration of the Group’s historical settlement pattern and forward looking

information (as detailed in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements).

As at 3|1 December 2022, the five largest borrowers in loans to customers

occupy less than 30% of the total loans to customers.
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Trade receivables

Trade receivables comprise the following:

BEE R

1%

] 5 FEW TR IR

\

BEREGRIEEENTRAS !

Trade receivables Expected Net trade
balance Credit Loss receivables
B 5 R IEEREE FHEAEL EBZREREIERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ANE#BTFT ARIEFT
Trade receivables arising from: BEEWRIBESR .
Co-branded credit cards A =R S 206,010 202,320 3,690
Other credit card technology HMER R ER
businesses 20,571 11,820 8,751
Other businesses H 7% 6,527 = 6,527
Total w5t 233,108 214,140 18968

ECL of trade receivables is calculated by taking into consideration of the Group's
historical settlement pattern and forward looking information (as detailed in

Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements).

As at 31 December 2022, the five largest borrowers in trade receivables occupy

less than 30% of the total trade receivables.

Charge on Assets

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had charged its properties
located at Building B3, No. 588 Wenyi West Road, Hangzhou, PRC in favour
of Wenchuang Branch of Bank of Hangzhou and Hangzhou Branch of Bank of
Wenzhou for obtaining mortgage loans of RMB53.0 million and RMB85.0 million,

respectively.

Material Investment and Future Plans for Material Investments on Capital

Assets Acquisition

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material
investments (year ended 31 December 2021: Nil). The Group had no other
specific plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at 3|
December 2022.

B2 EWIENTERERBLARRBAEBENE L4
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Material Acquisition and Disposal

For the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group did not have any material

acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries (year ended 3| December 202 |: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 3| December

2022 (31 December 202 1: Nil).
Employees and Remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 469 employees. For the
year ended 3| December 2022, the total staff cost incurred by the Group was
approximately RMB153.4 million.

The Company has established an effective compensation management system
and talent incentive mechanism by following the principle of “competitive
compensation to attract high-quality talent”. The Company's compensation
system is linked to the performance appraisal system and the Group's operating
results to create a more fair and humane working environment for each
employee to fully exert his/her own value, so as to provide human resources
guarantee for the Group’s sustainable and stable development. In addition, the
Company focuses on employee training system construction, including new
employee induction training and on-the-job training, covering professional
training to improve vocational skills, management training to enhance leadership
quality and general-purpose training to develop comprehensive quality. The
Company has also adopted the 51 Stock Scheme and 5| Award Scheme to

reward the employees.
QUALIFIED OPINION

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the auditor (*Auditor”) of the Company has
issued a qualified opinion (the “Qualified Opinion”) on the independent auditor's
report (“Independent Auditor’s Report”) on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. For details of the
Qualified Opinion and the potential impact on the Company's financial position,
please refer to the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 145 to 149 of this
report.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Management’s View on the Qualified Opinion

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3|
December 2022 were prepared by the Company and audited by the Auditor.
As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 4 November 2022
and 9 January 2023, Mr. Yang Fan (“Mr. Yang”) has restricted the management
of the SK Group from contacting the staff of the Group, and disrupted
the business operation of the SK Group since 3 August 2022 (the “Date
of Deconsolidation”), the Group has been unable to carry out workplace
communication with the SK Group and also unable to access all the books and
records of the SK Group, despite the Group has taken protective measures as
detailed in such announcements as well as those as specified in the action plan as

detailed below.

Having taken into account the circumstances at the material time and the
applicable requirements under the IFRSs in relation to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
considers that the SK Group shall be deconsolidated from the Group with effect
from the date of the event that Mr. Yang seized the Group’s management right
over the office of SK Group (i.e. 3 August 2022) (the “Deconsolidation”), on the
basis that (i) the Company is unable to control the operation and finance of SK
Group; (ii) the Company is unable to obtain the books and records of SK Group
since 3 August 2022; (iii) the Company is unable to obtain report from the
management of SK Group on business matter; and (iv) the Company is unable to

direct the future development of SK Group.

In the view of the Company, the judgement of Deconsolidation is justified and in

accordance with the applicable IFRSs.

However, the Auditor expressed Qualified Opinion on the Group'’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. In particular,
the Auditor, in its opinion, was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence under International Standards on Auditing and in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and satisfy themselves as to whether
(i) the Deconsolidation of SK Group was appropriate; (ii) the Deconsolidation
of SK Group on the Date of Deconsolidation and the loss on Deconsolidation
of approximately RMB30,956,000; (iii) the income and expenses for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021; (iv) the assets and liabilities as at 31
December 2022 and 2021; and (v) the segment information and other related
disclosure notes in relation to the Group, as included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, have been accurately recorded and properly accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements (the “Audit Issues”), as set out in

“Basis for Qualified Opinion” in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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BEEEmRDN

Given the above, and also due to the uncertainty of the outcome of the legal
proceedings, the insufficient supporting documents and relevant explanations
on the accounting books and records in respect of SK Group and its operations,
the Auditor was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
themselves as to the Audit Issues as at and for the year ended 3| December
2022.

Audit Committee’s View on the Qualified Opinion

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed the
details of the Audit Issues, in particular, the Deconsolidation, and understood the
Company's management (the “Management”) position and basis as set out in the
section headed “Management's View on the Qualified Opinion” above. Having
considered the circumstances and information at the material time, the Audit

Committee agrees with the Management's position and basis.

The Audit Committee also had discussion with the Auditor and understood
the basis of the Qualified Opinion which arose from the Deconsolidation of SK

Group.

The Audit Committee is also of the view that the Management should continue
its efforts in implementing the actions and measures set out in the action plan as

detailed below with the intention of resolving the Audit Issues.
Action Plan of the Company to Address the Qualified Opinion

The Company has strived to resolve the disputes with Mr. Yang, one of the
former controlling shareholders of Shouhui Kaizhuo, and has taken various steps
and measures. The actions of the Group to address the Qualified Opinion, as at

the date of this report, are set out as follows:

(i) the relevant subsidiary of the Group has taken out legal action against
Beijing Shouhui Shidai Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (LR & =REKF
REERMABRAE]) (“Shouhui Shidai”) and Beijing Yaku Shikong
Information Exchange Technology Co., Ltd.* (3L R FEBERF 22 (5 B R
T FRAE]) (“Yaku Shikong") for the repayment of loans an aggregate
of RMB101,425,800 to the Group;

(i) the relevant subsidiary of the Group has obtained an order from the court

to freeze the bank accounts of Shouhui Shidai and Yaku Shikong;
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Management Discussion And Analysis

(i) the relevant subsidiary of the Group has commenced arbitration
proceedings against the relevant individuals and entities (including but not
limited to Mr. Yang) who were the then shareholders of such subsidiary
to, among others, rescind the acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of the
entire equity interest in Shouhui Kaizhuo from the former shareholders
of Shouhui Kaizhuo under the acquisition agreement (“‘Acquisition
Agreement”) for the Acquisition dated | April 2017 (as supplemented)

and seek for damages for breach of contract; and

(iv)  the relevant subsidiary of the Group has obtained an order from the court
to freeze the bank accounts of certain former shareholders of Shouhui
Kaizhuo (including but not limited to Mr. Yang and Beijing Fanshan Jinshi
Investment Development Partnership (Limited Partnership) (AEER LU
AREZEABTLEEBERER)).

The Group has taken out the arbitration proceedings as set out in (iii) above
to, among others, rescind the Acquisition under the Acquisition Agreement and
seek for damages for breach of contract. Pursuant to the discussion between the
Company and the Auditor, the Company understands that if the claims for the
rescission of the Acquisition Agreement and compensation for damages made
by the Group under the arbitration proceedings are upheld by the relevant
arbitration tribunal, the arbitral awards could serve as audit evidence for the
Auditors in relation to the appropriateness of the Deconsolidation of SK Group,
the Date of Deconsolidation and the loss suffered, and could thereby help the
Company in addressing the Audit Issues. On such basis, if and upon receiving
such favourable arbitral awards by the Group under the arbitration proceedings,
the Company expects that the Qualified Opinion could be removed in the

financial year after the arbitral awards of the arbitration proceedings are granted.

The Company will continue to actively monitor the development of this matter
and keep ongoing communication with the Auditor with the intention to remove

the Qualified Opinion as soon as practicable.
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BEEEFwmA O

OUTLOOK

Facing the impacts of the deceleration of overall macro-economic growth in
the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group carried out comprehensive cost
optimization arrangement in a timely manner and achieved positive results. Our
traditional financial technology business is progressing steadily and our innovative
business, 5| CAMP camping business, is also taking shape, the latter achieving a
leading position in the camping industry in its first year of operation. In the future,
we will continue to comply with various regulatory requirements while ensuring

business compliance and seek to operate each business efficiently, specifically:

For financial technology business, we will further enhance our technological
research and development capability with risk control at the core, strengthen
our long-term cooperation with licensed financial institutions and continue to
optimise our user applications and product operations in order to enhance brand

recognition and customer loyalty.

As for Saa$S business, we will focus on To B sales as our key business
development, and continue to improve and optimise our To B intelligent sales
growth cloud platform SaaS products in line with market customer demand.
At the same time, we will continue to improve our sales efficiency and expand
our team in a healthy manner to increase our consolidated annual revenue and

customer base while maintaining a high HR efficiency.

In terms of camping services, with the practice and standardisation of our
business operations in the past six months, 5| CAMP has now reached the
Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta and Sanya regions in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC"), operating over 25 peri-urban campsites and 4 urban
campsites. In the future, relying on the “51 CAMP” campsite brand chain, we
will continue to develop camping projects across the PRC and are currently
exploring large-scale expansion in urban areas such as Sanya, Hainan, Guangdong,
Guangzhou and Shanghai to provide a vast selection of “scenery + content”
self-service delicate camping services to the domestic population. The Group
also plans to attract investors and partners by camping operation with a higher
standardized mode and special camping resources with high-quality, introducing
flexible and diversified cooperation model, and achieving sustainable and

replicable large-scale development of the 51 CAMP business.

Going forward, the Company will continue to pay attention to the trends of the
market and consumers’ needs while adjusting its cost-saving measures to prepare
itself for capturing new business opportunities across its different business
segments, thereby preserving and generating value to the shareholders of the

Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (F4/87&), aged 42, has been appointed as the chairman of the
Board and an executive Director since September 2017. He is the chairmen of
the nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) and
a member of the remuneration committee of the Company (‘“Remuneration
Committee”) and has been the chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive
Officer”) since January 2022. Currently, Mr. Sun serves as the chairman of the
board of directors, chief executive officer and general manager of Hangzhou
Enniu Network Technology Co,, Ltd.* (FTINBRAHELEEMTBRAE]) (“Enniu
Network”), and also serves as a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Sun also serves as the chairman of the board and an executive director of
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (“*“China Netcom”) (listed on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock
code: 8071), a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur and obtained a Bachelor's degree in business
administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic Industry (now known as the
Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the PRC in June 2002. He has been engaging in
Internet businesses since 2004, and founded several Internet companies from

2004 to 2012. In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card

management mobile application named 51 Credit Card Manager.

As of 31 December 2022, Mr. Sun was interested in certain shares of the
Company. Please refer to the section headed “INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE COMPANY
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION"
further details.
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EEREHREEBREEHRS

Mr. Zhu Jianfei (5REIF), aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director
and an authorised representative of the Company in September 202 1. He also
served as a vice-president of the Company. He has considerable experience in
management consultancy, human resources practices and business management,
as well as ample experience in and insightful views on different aspects such as
organizational planning and management, business innovation and operations,
etc. in each development stage of enterprises. He served as an executive
director, an authorised representative, the compliance officer and a member
of the senior management committee of China Netcom. He also served as a
general manager of Hangzhou Panniu Financing and Guarantee Co., Ltd.* (#7
INEARIEIEFRBRAR), which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. From May 2015 to April 2022, Mr. Zhu served a number of
positions at the Company, including the director of the human resources and
administration department of the Company, etc. From June 2010 to April 2013,
Mr. Zhu served in a number of positions at Cloudary Corporation* (BRE(EE
5 (L78) BRAE], also known as B¥ A E2), and subsequently served as
the managing director of DataYes Inc.* GBE SRS 2AF]) from April 2013
to April 2015.

Mr. Zhu obtained a Bachelor's degree in human resources management from
the Peking University in the PRC in July 2006 and obtained a Master’s degree in
accounting from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in the PRC
in June 2012. Mr. Zhu has resigned as an executive Director and authorised

representative of the Company on 14 April 2022.

Ms. Wu Shan (52H#), aged 38, has been appointed as an executive Director and
an authorised representative of the Company since January 2022 and April 2022,
respectively. She is also a vice-president of the Company. She has extensive and
solid experience in corporate and commercial affairs. Ms. Wu has held senior
position in the corporate legal department of a large state-owned enterprise, and
subsequently joined the Company in November 2014, where she has served as
the director of the legal department of the Company up to January 2022. Ms. Wu
is mainly responsible for the investment, finance and legal affairs of the Group. Ms.
Wau also serves as a director of a subsidiary of the Company and the executive

director of China Netcom.

Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor's degree in science majoring in mathematics
and applied mathematics from Hubei University in the PRC in June 2008 and
obtained a Master's degree in law from Nankai University in the PRC in June
2012. Ms. Wu currently holds a legal professional qualification certificate in the
PRC.
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Mr. Zheng Haiguo (ZRiEE]), aged 50, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer and an executive Director in February 2021. From August 1994 to
January 2021, Mr. Zheng served in various positions at Agricultural Bank of
China Limited (“ABC") (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
601288, and listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1288). From August
1994, Mr. Zheng served as the deputy section chief, section chief and deputy
general manager of the software section in the sales department and technology
information department, the deputy general manager of the technology
information department and electronic banking department, and the deputy
general manager and general manager of the electronic banking department and
information technologies management department of ABC Zhejiang Branch, etc.
From March 2011, Mr. Zheng served as the chief branch secretary of the Party
Committee and the president of ABC Hangzhou Baochu Branch. From June 2015
to January 2021, Mr. Zheng served as the deputy general manager and general
manager of the electronic banking department and the general manager of the

e-financing department of ABC Zhejiang Branch, etc.

Mr. Zheng has extensive experience in information technology (“IT") and
e-financing in the banking Industry and has relatively long-term experience
in serving as a president of bank. He has deep knowledge and rich practical

experience in the integration of finance and Internet and other IT technologies.

Mr. Zheng obtained a Bachelor's degree in applied electronic technology from
Zhejiang University of Technology in the PRC in July 1994 and completed a
postgraduate course in economics at Zhejiang University in the PRC in July 2001.
He also holds a senior economist qualification. Mr. Zheng has resigned as the

Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director on 7 January 2022.
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli (S8 RE), aged 50, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since November 2017. Ms. Zou is also a member of the audit
committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”). Currently, Ms. Zou also
serves as a director of Enniu Network, a subsidiary of the Company. From
October 1994 to June 2010, Ms. Zou served at a number of companies, including
Shenzhen Tianjian Xinde Accounting Firm* GFYIIKE{EE S HEMEBIA
FRE{EARE]), Shenzhen Jingjia Group Co., Ltd. CRIIM=EBERMLHBRA
B]) (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 00219 1) and Shenzhen
Tiantu Venture Capital Co., Ltd* CRIITXEBIEREBRAE). Ms.
Zou joined Tian Tu Capital Co,, Ltd. (RIITKEIRESERHBRAE)
(National Equities Exchange and Quotations System, stock code: 833979) as a

director in June 2010 and resigned as the financial controller in April 2022.
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EEREHREEBREEHRS

Ms. Zou obtained a Bachelor's degree in auditing from Zhongnan University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC (now known as Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law) in July 1994, a Master's degree in professional accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2004 and an executive
Master's degree in business administration from The Hong Kong University of

Science and Technology in June 2017.

Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui (formerly known as Ms. Jiang Cuicui (§§H#EHE)), aged
39, has been appointed as a non-executive Director since April 2022. Ms.
Jiang has been the president of Hangzhou Zhijiang New Industrial Investment
Management Co, Ltd* (MM Z I BEXRKEEEBR L F) since
November 2018.

Ms. Jiang obtained a Bachelor's degree in business (marketing) and Master's
degree in international business from Monash University in Australia in December
2005 and October 2007, respectively.

Ms. Gao Li (7Z#0), aged 41, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
since April 2022. Ms. Gao has been the director of the securities affairs centre
of Xinhu Zhongbao Co. Ltd.* (FAPERMDARAT), a substantial
Shareholder, since July 2010.

Ms. Gao obtained a Doctor's degree in economics from Zhejiang University in

the PRC in June 2008.

Mr. Yu Jin (F3#), aged 62, was appointed as a non-executive Director in
February 2021. Mr. Yu had served in a number of positions from April 2000 to
September 2018, including the deputy general manager of the human resources
department, the general manager of the electronic banking department and
the head of the technology and product management bureau of ABC and the
chairman of ABC-CA Fund Management Co.,, Ltd.* (RRIREIEESEERREA

@]). He served as a director of Beijing Runbo Intemet Digital Technology Co.,
Ld* QERBEBEBEFRRARAR) since March 2019.

Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor's degree in engineering from Renmin University of
China in July 1983 and a Master's degree in finance from Nanjing Agricultural
University in the PRC in July 1999. He also holds a senior economist qualification.

Mr. Yu has resigned as a non-executive Director on 14 April 2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ti (GE##), aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in February 2018. Mr. Wong joined PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian (BZEXEHKRGTENEFSFT) in December 1990 and has held various
positions successively. Mr. Wong served as senior auditor, senior manager and
partner in the PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian before retiring in June 2015.
He has nearly 25 years of experience in serving financial service Industry clients.
Mr. Wong has also served as an independent non-executive director of China
Merchants Securities Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600999 and on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6099) since January 2018.

Mr. Wong obtained a Master's degree in business administration from the
University of California, Los Angeles in the United States of America (the “United
States”) in March 1986. He was accredited as a Certified public accountant by
The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in October 2002 and a
Certified public accountant in the United States in May 1993. Mr. Wong has
resigned as an independent non-executive director and the chairman of the Audit

Committee of the Company on 14 April 2022.

Mr. Ye Xiang (E#]), aged 59, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since February 2018. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of each of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee. From August 2001 to November 2007, Mr. Ye served
in a number of positions, including as a director of China affairs of the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Mr. Ye has served as the managing
director of Vision Gain Capital Limited (FBE{SEZANERAT)) since November
2007.

Mr. Ye has also served as an independent non-executive director of each of
Wouling Motors Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 305)
since October 2008, Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1272) since June 2015 and Jinshang Bank Co., Ltd.
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2558) since December 2018.

Mr. Ye obtained a Bachelor's degree in engineering from Zhejiang University in
the PRC in July 1983 and obtained a Master's degree in economics from Zhejiang
University in the PRC in January 1991. Mr. Ye obtained his doctoral degree in
Economics at the Financial Research Institute of the People’s Bank of China
(PEARIRITRITEREAZEFT) in January 1995. He was accredited as a
chartered financial analyst by the CFA Institute in September 2004.
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EEREHREEBREEHRS

Mr. Xu Xuchu (#RE#]), aged 60, has been appointed as an independent
non- executive Director since April 2020. Mr. Xu is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Renumeration Committee.
Mr. Xu joined Hangzhou Dianzi University in the PRC in June 1989 and is
currently a professor at the law school of the said university. Currently, Mr. Xu
is also an adjunct professor of the China Academy for Rural Development of
Zhejiang University in the PRC. He has thirty years of experience in economics,

management and sociology.

Mr. Xu obtained a Doctorate degree in management from Zhejiang University of

the PRC in June 2005.

Mr. Shou Jian (Ff#), aged 51, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since May 2022. Mr. Shou has previously worked at the
Hangzhou Public Security Bureau, where he served as the head of legal and
the head of the police station. Mr. Shou has been the director of the integrity
department of Alibaba Group since February 2012, and was responsible for
corporate disciplinary supervision and integrity culture building. He is currently
serving as a senior director of the general department of the SiGuoYa Line of
Alibaba Group, where he is responsible for major risk control. Mr. Shou has been
an independent director of Hangcha Group Co., Ltd.* (a company listed on the

Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603298) since September 2019.

Mr. Shou obtained a Bachelor's degree in law from East China University of
Political Science and Law in PRC in July 1994 and a Master’s degree in public
administration from Nottingham Trent University in the United Kingdom in
October 2009. He was also qualified as a lawyer by the Ministry of Justice of the
PRC in 1996. Mr. Shou is a member of the Communist Party of the PRC.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yu Hon (#$2), has been appointed as the company secretary (the
“Company Secretary”) of the Company since June 2020. He was appointed as
the financial controller of the Company since July 2018 and the chief financial
officer of the Company since September 2021. Mr. Lam has over |5 years of
auditing and finance experiences from various international accounting firms
and Hong Kong listed companies. He obtained a Master of Science degree in
Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance and a Bachelor of Applied
Science degree in Computer Engineering. He is a Chartered Secretary and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and the
Chartered Governance Institute, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accounts, a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia Canada, a Certified Internal Auditor and a Certified Treasury

Professional. Currently, Mr. Lam is also the company secretary of China Netcom.
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The Directors hereby present the Report of the Directors and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst its major
operating subsidiaries operate the online credit card management platform.
Details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's performance
for the year ended 3| December 2022 by business segments is set out in Note

7 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the state of affairs
of the Group and of the Company as at that date are set out in the consolidated

financial statements on pages 158 to |64.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure on declaring
and recommending the dividend payment of the Company, a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy") is adopted by the Board which aims to allow the Shareholders
to participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity

to capture future growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company'’s ability to pay dividends,
which will depend upon, including but not limited to, the financial performance
and position of the Company, Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and
strategies, and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to the
interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews the Dividend Policy and
its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required to ensure the benefit of the
Shareholders as a whole is taken into consideration from time to time during

recommendation and declaration of dividends.

The Board did not recommend the declaration of the final dividend for the year

ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRT

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing by the Group, and an indication of likely future development
in the Group's business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance
Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this Report.

These discussions form part of this “Report of the Directors”.
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group's commitment to protecting the environment is well reflected by
the continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in its daily
business operations. The Group encourages environmental protection and
promotes awareness towards environmental protection to the employees. The
Group also implements green office practices such as promoting the use of
recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting

and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the

operation of the Group's businesses and enhancing environmental sustainability.

Details of the Group’s environmental performance for the year ended 3|
December 2022 please refer “Environmental, Social And Governance Report” of

this report.
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that had a

significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets. Thus, the
Group provides competitive remuneration packages to attract and motivate
its employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration packages of its

employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with its business partners to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, the
Directors or senior management have kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when appropriate.
During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group

and its business partners.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in the Company's share capital during the year,
together with reasons therefor, are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and the

consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As
at 31 December 2022, the Company had reserves available for distribution of
approximately RMB6,284,907,000 (202 |: approximately RMB6,260,304,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year are set out in Note |7 to the consolidated financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, there is no provision for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares (““Shares”) to its existing Shareholders first on

a pro-rata basis.
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years as extracted from the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Group is set out on page 324 of this Report.
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the year.
CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of approximately
RMB27,000 (202 1: approximately RMB 1,000).
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or legal liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is
acquitted. During the year, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’

liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of the Group.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes for its
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. For its Hong Kong employees, the Group
operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the

MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Regarding its employees in the PRC, pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules
and regulations in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by the
relevant local government authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required
to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a certain rate of the
standard wages determined by the relevant authorities in the PRC during the

year. Contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, there was no forfeited contribution
under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by
the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions (202 1: Nil).

Details of the Group’s contributions to the retirement schemes are shown in

Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company, or existed

during the year.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts, other than the employment contracts, concerning the

management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the

business of the Group were entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the major

customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set out below:

Report of the Directors
EFERS

FTEZRKRMER

FRo FEETERTR RMEBDHGHERKLRE
BT ¢

Approximate

percentage of

the Group’s
total sales
LA EREE
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()] Sales
SHE
— the largest customer 6.6%
-BAER
— the five largest customers (combined) 12.5%
-BERER(BH)

Approximate

percentage of

the Group’s
total purchases
LA EEEREE
MEEZ BN
Bt
) Purchases
xiE
— the largest supplier 8.4%
- RAMHER

— the five largest suppliers (combined) 22.9%

- BARMHRER (56)

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)), or any Shareholders (that, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of issued Shares) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during the

year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 7 January 2022)

Mr. Zhu Jianfei (Vice-President) (resigned on |4 April 2022)

Ms. Wu Shan (Vice-President) (appointed on 7 January 2022)

Mr. Zheng Haiguo (resigned on 7 January 2022)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli

Mr. Yu Jin (resigned on 14 April 2022)

Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui (appointed on |4 April 2022)
Ms. Gao Li (appointed on 14 April 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ti (resigned on 14 April 2022)
Mr. Ye Xiang

Mr. Xu Xuchu

Mr. Shou Jian (appointed on |3 May 2022)
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BB A (72202248 | B7HEHE)
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BT (R20202F48 141REESE)
BFIZ T (22022648 4B EZRT)
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B E

ERAE (2002558 13HESRT)

Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-  RIBAHBEIE 161815 » EEEREART L ER="
Z—HES (HURMFANABTR=ZH=3)091E
o ARRBEBTIONR=Z0Z—AR) BHAE

£ BEUES  BREVS=FHMARE—R-

third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director, shall be subject to

retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES EEREREEERBE

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group

EERAEESREEB ZBEFBEHNAREHES

are set out on pages 25 to 30 of this Report. F30HE o
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CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS UNDER RULE
13.51B(l) OF THE LISTING RULES

Below is the information relating to the Directors required to be disclosed

pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

. the name of Ms. Jiang Cuicui has been changed to Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui
with effect from 22 December 2022, ¥ ¥ just for Chinese translation

purpose only.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be disclosed

pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the Board
the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the Directors.
The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and
compensation are appropriate. References to the remuneration standards of
the Industry as well as the business development of the Company are made to
ensure the level of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain the
Directors, and the Company should avoid paying more than necessary for this

purpose.

Details of the Directors” and senior management’s remuneration of the Group

are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this Report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Group'’s businesses to which any of the Company's
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a Party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during at
any time during the year. In addition, no contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its

subsidiaries.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 3| December 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO™) (Cap. 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)), which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register of the Company referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares

Name of Director(s) Capacity and nature of interest
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EERBRARREITHRAEREQEHE
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BEEm kXA

K2022F 12A31H » EERAATESTHAER
ARBKEERBREEZE (EXRERSRAEEHM
(MRS KREAGIHRG ) (BFREFIES7IE) EXVE) 2
5~ BERG RESTHRERBE S RS KRGE
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ETHRSRZNRETFAD (MEEFR)) BREEAA
BBz EREAAENT

RRGBZHE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares issued Shares("

HE 817G
EEHA B REREE e =] ZEHIBE Ao
Mr. Sun Haitao Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how 108,159,464 7.96%
("Mr. Sun”) the trustee exercises his discretion
BERELE (REE) TTREIFANATEERBEENEBEFMIIA
Others 50,355,000 3.71%
Hi
Others 142,708,272 10.51%
Hi
301,222,736 22.18%
Ms. Zou Yunli Interest of spouse 200,000 0.01%
BEEZL foiBtEm
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Notes:

)

®)

)

©)

The calculations were based on the number of Shares as a percentage of the total
number of issued Shares (i.e. 1,358,320, 188 Shares) as at 3| December 2022.

Rising Sun Limited is the beneficial owner of these 108,159,464 Shares, is wholly owned
by Wukong Ltd., 97,297,298 Shares of which were charged in favour of Hangzhou
Zhenniu Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Hangzhou Zhenniu”) (an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company), a non-quadlified lender. Wukong Ltd. is beneficially
wholly owned by Wukong Trust, which was established by Mr. Sun as the settlor. TMF
(Cayman) Ltd. is the trustee of Wukong Trust. Mr. Sun, as the beneficiary of Wukong
Trust, is taken to be interested in those Shares.

Rising Sun Limited entered into a limited partnership agreement (the “Limited
Partnership Agreement”) with Tai Yong Holdings Ltd for the purpose of establishing 51
Xinhu LP, a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership and regulating the activities
and operation of the partnership. Pursuant to the Limited Partnership Agreement, Rising
Sun Limited serves as the general partner and Tai Yong Holdings Ltd serves as the
limited partner. In addition, Rising Sun Limited has the power to exercise all voting rights
on behalf of 51 Xinhu L.P. As 51 Xinhu L.P. is the beneficial owner of the 50,355,000
Shares, and by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed to be interested in the 50,355,000
Shares and the share capital of its associated corporation in which Rising Sun Limited is

or is deemed to be interested.

The Company entered into a voting proxy agreement (the “Voting Proxy Agreement”)
with Rising Sun Limited, 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited (other than the
Company, each, a "Party to the Voting Proxy Agreement”, collectively, the “Parties to
the Voting Proxy Agreement”). Pursuant to the Voting Proxy Agreement, Rising Sun
Limited is entitled to exercise, in its sole discretion, all the voting powers associated with
the 142,708,272 Shares on behalf of the Parties to the Voting Proxy Agreement on all
matters submitted to a vote of Shareholders at any meeting of Shareholders. By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed to be interested in the 142,708,272 Shares and the share
capital of its associated corporation in which Rising Sun Limited is or is deemed to be

interested.

Mr. Li Anxin, the spouse of Ms. Zou Yunli, is the beneficial owner of the 200,000 Shares.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Zou Yunli is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by her

spouse.

Save as disclosed above, as at 3|1 December 2022, no other Director or chief

executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short

position in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any

of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which

were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant

to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions

which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), as

recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or

as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code.

42

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2022 Annual Report

Mz -

(1) R EEF20226 12831 H15EZ1TR% 482 (I
1,358,320, 1 88 B2 17) I B S LEEH & ©

(2) 55 108159464 B B 17 = B ma # & A Rising Sun
LimitedB]Wukong Ltd 2B HER ° 297,297,298/ %
17 BRI FIINIRF 5 BRI ERAE] (THMHHRF 1)
(FXREBFEZENBARE » BIFSEEEZAN) °
Wukong Ltd.FiWukong Trust (I CETEBER T
ANBRI) B £ EHA ° TMF (Cayman) Ltd 2 Wukong
TrustBIZEEN o AL IEAWukong TrustBIZ mm A48
TRABER SR o

(3)  Rising Sun Limited€2Tai Yong Holdings Ltd5TZ B IR&
BlrZ ((BREBHZ) LUt T —BRESEHENE
BEEREEBLES] Xinhu LP. » REEZSBLEL
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF AND OTHER PERSON THE COMPANY

As at 3| December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the persons or
entities, other than the Director or chief executives of the Company, who had
or was deemed to have an interest or a short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which
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RN RESFFHEANERRKE
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(BEEFARARSITHABRIN RARQB KD ~ 48
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BEE336 KR E BN A AR BEE 2 Bt 2 #

would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2

and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

mEOKE  SIRBRE SRR ERAIEXVEE2KE3
A 3
7]

DEZRERARABWEZ EEIHE !

Number of
Shares directly or

indirectly held

Approximate

percentage of

Names Capacity and nature of interests and category('% issued Shares("
BEESEERE HE#HTRS

%18 SR kiESENE BIRR1R BB KRR ZBHE o

Mr. Huang Wei@ Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%

‘mEREEOO NSRRI

Ms. Li Ping® Interest of spouse 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%

FHuto FiBfEn

Zhejiang Xinhu Group Co,, Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
("Zhejiang Xinhu"")®

ANLHTERRNBRAR NSRS PN
(TR LmER 1) @

Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd* Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
("Xinhu Zhongbao”)®

WHRERNBRAR (HMhE ) RREGEE S

Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
("HK Xinhu")®

BRIIRERRAE (TEEMM) @ NSRS PN

Taichang Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 109,217,000 (L) 8.04%

BamER A
Tai Shun Holdings Ltd.® Beneficial owner 101,114,000 (L) 7.44%

BmEEA

SIEARAERAT
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EEGRE
Number of
Shares directly or Approximate
indirectly held percentage of
Names Capacity and nature of interests and category('% issued Shares("
BEiEgMERE LB TR
%18 SR kiEREE BIRR1R BB B ERR 00 ZBHE o
EasternGate SPC® Security interest 210,331,000 (L) 15.48%
fREBEE
TMF (Cayman) Ltd.® Trustee 301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
ZEEA
Woukong Ltd.® Interest in controlled corporation 108,159,464 (L) 7.96%
IEREGRLEE 2
Other 50,355,000 (L) 371%
Hith
Other 142,708,272 (L) 10.51%
Hh
301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
Rising Sun Limited®® Beneficial owner 108,159,464 (L) 7.96%
BuEAA
Other 50,355,000 (L) 3.71%
Hith
Other 142,708,272 (L) 10.51%
Hith
301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
Mr. Wang Yonghua® Interest in controlled corporation 183,874,334 (L) 13.54%
EXEREO RRERNERZ
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 183,874,334 (L) 13.54%

(“Tian Tu Capital”)®

A XREREEERNBRAT

(TRERE ) ©
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Number of
Approximate

indirectly held percentage of

Names Capacity and nature of interests and category('% issued Shares("
BEiEgMERE HE TR
&iE SR REEEE BRI 2B B ga 5100 ZEBE SO
Tiantu Advisory Company Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 128,661,334 (L) 9.47%
REEABR AT O R EGNER 2
Tiantu Investments Limited Beneficial owner 128,661,334 (L) 9.47%
("Tiantu Investments’)©
EEAA
Mr. Shen Guojun® Founder of a discretionary trust who can 188,716,623 (L) 13.89%
influence how the trustee exercises
his discretion
LB ED A ERFE AN TEER BN
EUBISFERR LA
Cantrust (Far East) Limited?” Trustee 188,716,623 (L) 13.89%
ZEEA
Weihan Evergreen Limited” Interest in controlled corporation 188,716,623 (L) 13.89%
NSRS NS
East Jump Management Limited Beneficial owner 188,716,623 (L) 13.89%
(“East Jump")?)
BmER A
The Core Trust Company Limited® Trustee 166,519,739 (L) 12.26%
ERSHARAR® SZHA
TCT (BVI) Limited® Other 166,519,739 (L) 12.26%
HAth
51 Stock Limited® Nominee for another person 72,365,536 (L) 5.33%
(other than a bare trustee)
F—ARARLA KEZFEALRIN)
51 Award Limited® Nominee for another person 94,154,203 (L) 6.93%

(other than a bare trustee)

AR A REZFEARRIN

SHSEEERAS wnEEws 45

—{ 10




[]
[

Report of the Directors
EFEHRT

Number of
Shares directly or Approximate

indirectly held percentage of

Names Capacity and nature of interests and category('% issued Shares("
BEESEERE LB TR

%18 SR kiEREE BIRR1R BB B ERR 00 ZBHE o

51 Credit Card (China) Limited @ Interest in controlled corporation 97,297,298(L) 7.16%

5ER~ (FE) BRATO NSRRI AR A

Hangzhou Zhenniu @ Security interest 97,297,298(L) 7.16%

MRS fReE

51 Credit Card Inc. @ Interest in controlled corporation 97,297,298(L) 7.16%

SIEEEARATO

RREGER 2 ek

Notes:

)

€

)

46

The calculations were based on the number of Shares which each Party is interested in
(whether directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be interested) as a percentage of

the total number of issued Shares (i.e. 1,358, 320,188 Shares) as at 3| December 2022.

Mr. Huang Wei directly holds approximately 53.06% shareholding interest in Zhejiang
Xinhu and holds approximately 57.09% shareholding interest in Xinhu Zhongbao in
total. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Zhejiang Xinhu or Xinhu Zhongbao is deemed to be interested. For details of the
deemed interests of Zhejiang Xinhu or Xinhu Zhongbao, please refer to Note (4) below.

Ms. Li Ping is the spouse of Mr. Huang Wei, and thus is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested under the SFO.

109,217,000 Shares and 101,114,000 Shares are directly held by Taichang Investment
Limited and Tai Shun Holdings Ltd, respectively, and have been pledged in favour of
EasterGate SPC; 50,355,000 Shares are directly held by 51 Xinhu L.P. (wholly owned
by Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. and Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by 51 Xinhu LP); and 66,666,666 Shares are directly held by Guanrui
Investment Limited (“Guanrui Investment”). Each of Taichang Investment Limited, Tai
Shun Holdings Ltd, Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. and Guanrui Investment (collectively, the
“Xinhu Subsidiaries”) is wholly owned by HK Xinhu, which is in turn wholly owned by
Xinhu Zhongbao. Xinhu Zhongbao is deemed to be controlled by Zhejiang Xinhu under
the SFO. Therefore, for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO, each of HK Xinhu, Xinhu
Zhongbao, Zhejiang Xinhu and Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested in the Shares

or deemed interests held by the Xinhu Subsidiaries.
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Same for the interests as disclosed in Notes (2) to (4) in the section headed “INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION" of this Report.

Such 183,874,334 Shares represent 128,661,334 Shares directly held by Tiantu
Investments and 55,213,000 Shares directly held by Tiantu Xingbei Investments Limited
Company (“Tiantu Xingbei”). Tiantu Investments is wholly owned by Tiantu Advisory
Company Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital. Tiantu Xingbei is
indirectly owned by Tian Tu Capital. Mr. Wang Yonghua holds approximately 40.35%
shareholding interest in Tian Tu Capital. Therefore, under the SFO, Tiantu Advisory
Company Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Tiantu Investments,
and each of Tian Tu Capital and Mr. Wang Yonghua is deemed to be interested in the

Shares held by Tiantu Investments and Tiantu Xingbei.

188,716,623 Shares are directly held by East Jump. East Jump is wholly owned by
Weihan Evergreen Limited, which is beneficially wholly owned by the Weihan Evergreen
Trust. Weihan Evergreen Trust is a family trust established by Mr. Shen Guojun as the
settlor, while the beneficiaries of Weihan Evergreen Trust are Mr. Shen Guojun and his
family members. Cantrust (Far East) Limited is the trustee of Weihan Evergreen Trust.
Hence, each of Weihan Evergreen Limited, Cantrust (Far East) Limited and Mr. Shen
Guojun is deemed to be interested in the interests of East Jump for the purpose of Part

XV of the SFO.

Both 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited are wholly owned by TCT (BVI) Limited,
which is in turn wholly owned by The Core Trust Company Limited. The Core Trust
Company Limited is the trustee and each of 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited
is the nominee to administer the RSU Schemes (as defined below). Each of 51 Stock
Limited and 51 Award Limited holds the Shares underlying the RSUs granted by the
Company for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to the RSU Schemes.

Pursuant to the loan agreement dated 14 September 202 | entered into between Mr.
Sun and Hangzhou Zhenniu, (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company), a
non-quadlified lender (the “Loan”). Rising Sun Limited, which is the beneficial owner of
the 108,159,464 Shares, charged 97,297,298 Shares in favour of Hangzhou Zhenniu
as further security for the Loan. Hangzhou Zhenniu is wholly owned by 51 Credit Card
(China) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by 51 Credit Card Inc.. Therefore, under
the SFO, 51 Credit Card Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Hangzhou

Zhenniu, and 51 Credit Card (China) Limited.

(L) — Long position

(©))

(6)

)

)

®)
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Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 3|
December 2022, there was no person (not being a Director or a chief executive
of the Company) who had or was deemed to have an interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT (“RSU”) SCHEMES
Summary

The Company has adopted the 51 Stock Scheme and the 51 Award Scheme
(collectively, the “Schemes”) by a resolution of the Board on 20 November
2017. The Schemes are not subject to the provisions of Chapter |7 of the Listing
Rules as the Schemes do not involve the grant of options by the Company to

subscribe for new Shares.
Purpose

The purpose of the Schemes is to recognize and reward the participants (as
detailed in the paragraph headed “Participants” below) of each of the Schemes
for their contribution to the Group, to attract suitable personnel, and to provide

incentives to them to remain with and further contribute to the Group.
Awards

Each of the awards of RSUs under the 51 Stock Scheme (together with the
awards of RSUs under the 51 Award Scheme, referred to as the “Award(s)")
gives a participant an option, and an Award of RSUs under the 51 Award Scheme
gives a participant an entitlement, upon vesting of the Award(s) to obtain either
Shares (in case of the 51 Stock Scheme only) or an equivalent value in cash
with reference to the market value of the Shares less any tax, fees, levies, stamp
duty and other applicable charges. Awards granted must generally be accepted
within the time period as specified in the notice of grant of Award. Grantee
are not required to pay any premium for the acceptance of award granted to
them. An Award may include, if so specified by the 51 Stock RSU Administration
Committee and the 51 Award RSU Administration Committee (each as the
“RSU Committee™) in their entire discretion, cash and non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip
distributions in respect of those Shares from the date that the Award is granted

to the date that it vests.
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Limit

Unless otherwise duly approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
underlying the 51 Stock Scheme shall not exceed | 18,299,529 Shares and the
total number of Shares underlying the 51 Award Scheme shall not exceed
102,060,261 Shares (excluding the Shares underlying RSUs that have lapsed
or been cancelled in accordance with the Schemes). As the Schemes do not
constitute share schemes for the purpose of Chapter |7 of the Listing Rules, the

|9 individual limit is not applicable.

The exercise price of options granted under the Schemes is the sole
responsibility of the RSU Committee. Factors taken into account include, but
are not limited to, the calculation by reference to the average closing price on a
financial data platform such as Flush* for the 20 trading days prior to the date of

grant.

Grants

As at 3| December 2022, 103,277,248 Shares and 51,191,750 Shares underlying
RSUs had been granted to participants under the 51 Stock Scheme and the
51 Award Scheme, representing approximately 7.60% and 3.77% of the issued
Shares, respectively. As at | January 2022 and 31 December 2022, (a) 3,189,081
and 15,022,281 options and RSUs were available for grant under the 51 Stock
Scheme, respectively, and (b) as no grants had been made under the 5| Award
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022, the number of options and

RSUs available for grant under the 5| Award Scheme remained at 50,868,51 1.
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Set forth below are the movements in options and RSUs granted under the 51

Stock Scheme during the year ended 3| December 2022:

LUREFEZE2022F 12831 BLIEEERRIES | IR 5t

B TFBRERZ IR RN BUNEESHER

Number of shares Number of shares
represented represented by Closing price ~ Weighted average Weighted average
by options or Options and/or  options or RSUs of the Shares closing price closing price
RSUs outstanding Options andlor ~ RSUs forfited/ outstanding immeditely immeditely Fair value of immedately
Name or category Date of grant/ Exercise asat | Janvary — Granted during Exercsed  RSUscanceled  expired during ~ asat 31 December before the beforethe ~ optionsor RSUs ~ before the date
of rantees Nature conditionalgrant~price (HKS)  Vesting date m theyear  duringtheyear  during the year the year m date of grant daeofgrant  at date of grant of vsting
fmg famg
IAIR 128318
AN ERERE/  AEN B
Bk Fhath )] Bk THEL  RRERR ZHER
RRHRA BRERY  BRERS  RBHER FHEH BEs  BMRER R
£t/ fikR EfiREH REH ZRARR  EMREN REEN  AMETH RER  MHETS
FEAGRED) #t& ARRELRE  (Bn) BEAH Ri¥E EREH EMOE RRED Efl ROHE  RiMEE ¥R DARE W@
Directors (Note |)
B2 )
Sun Hateo Option 032018 685 203001 273130 173,130 08
fisz B NBEENA MEENA
Wo Shen Option 08015 065 3082019 540150 - 540150 - -
& B NISEENR NISEENA
Option 1017 065 301201 129620 - 129620 - -
B NITENANA NMIENANE
Thu Janfe Option 1117018 03 1nmn 558150 558150 - 053
RR B NBEIRIA MEIRIA
Option 037018 685 203022 3000000 - 3000000 - 028
i NBEENA MEFNA
RU 192019 078 115203 750000 - (750000) -
REHRAEN 21959518 NBESEIR
RU 111200 NA 11700 966300 - 966300 - -
REHRAENL 00EI5IA TS N0EIRIR
Subtotal 7683350 - - - (750,000) 26933350
gt
Top 5 employees (Note [)
sEER )

Same asdirectors because the other 2 top 5 non diectors employees have their RSU and aption under 51 Award Liited

HEEAR) RIsAFESRRNERRANRBHRAEMRBRERS! Avard LintecBT o
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Number of shares Number of shares
represented represented by Closing price  Weighted average Weighted average
by opions or Options and/or  options or RSUs of the Shares closing price closing price
RSUs outstanding Options andlor ~~ RSUs forfeited/ outstanding immeditely immeditely Fair value of immedately
Name or category Date of grant/ Exercise asat | Janvary  Granted during Exercsed ~ RSUscanceled expired during  asat 31 December before the beforethe ~optionsor RSUs~ before the date
of rantees Nature conditionalgrant~price (HKS)  Vesting date m theyear  duringtheyear  during the year the year m date of grant daeofgrant  at date of grant of vesting
fmg famg
IAIR 128318
A ERERE/  AEN Bl
B i L] R THEL  RRERR ZHEE
SRR BRERY  BRERG  RBHER FHE BEA  BMRER R
ft/ iR EfifEH RBH  RBARR  BOREN BEEh  mmETY BEH HMETY

BEARESED) 8 BRRELRE  (Bn) BEAH ik ] ERf EMAE RRER Efl Rh%E  RANTE Wi RARE W@

Other employees Option 72015 032 17019 2042670 - - - - 2042670 - - - -

Efffes B NSETRIA NIYETRIA

Option 8102015 031 8100019 464030 - - - - 464030 - - - -
B NISEN0AE NI9EN0ASH

R BI018 NA  25/102020 9837280 = = = = 9837260 = = = =
RESIRABL 1016£18258 TER 00EIABE

Option 1950016 03 19/52020 178000 = = = = 78020 = = = =
B NIGESEI9A ANESEIA

Option 2ol 029217000 146420 - - - - (46420 - - - -
B NIETRNA METRNA

Option 112018 031 1974450 = = = = 974450 = = 053
R NBEIRIA MEIRIA

Option 2032018 685 20301 5,150,000 = = = = 550000 = = 028
EhE NISEANA MNEANA

R 192019 0278 150002 1250000 - - - - 1250000 - - - 023
RESIRAEL 101959817 MEAIE

R 11112020 NA 111700 1014825 - - - - 1014825 - - -

REHRAEL 20E1518 TEB NNEIEIE

R 1m NA - 710m = 1500000 = = = 2500000 018 0182 0l 018
XESRAEL 20ENATH TER W0ERATH

Subtotal 10574695 2500000 - - - 26,557,695

it

Toul 1,741,045 2500000 - - (750,000) 53491045

e

Notes: Bat :

[ Awards made to the five highest paid employees are the same as the aggregate granted /. B AL REHINES X 1A EEHE FXFrTnie PESE
to the Directors shown above. YA EERE[E]

2. The vesting period is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise 2. ERE IS H R E Z 1T HFFFYE
period.

3 Prior to | January 2023, the exercise period of the options granted under the 51 Stock 3, TE20234F | H 1 HZ BT > 1RIES | IR 17 5+ 215 FHIFE AR 12
Scheme had been determined by the board of Directors at its absolute discretion, which HITERIREFR S S BRERTE » S ERZH R
shall not exceed ten years from their respective dates of grant subject to the provisions FETALB | O4F » (BE1EFTARIERIAEE o H20234E1 5 |
for early termination thereof. Since | January 2023, such exercise period limit has been HEE » ZiT1EBREIE#EY » Wt AR E#HEEZA
removed and there is no prescribed period during which a grantee may exercise the BT IRIES | B 17 51 27T (E 1S 2 FE IR 1E AT HHR
options granted under the 51 Stock Scheme.

4. For information on the accounting standard and policy adopted for calculating the fair 4, BT E & Z20224F 12531 HIFFEIZFHIZEEIHIAR

value of awards granted during the year ended 3| December 2022, please refer to
Notes 3 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.
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SHEREAMRAR nEEms Sl

5




10

Report of the Directors
EEEHRS

Set forth below are the movements in options and RSUs granted under the 51 LAN&FEZE 20225 12831 HIEEERRIES | £2EN 5t

Award Scheme during the year ended 3| December 2022: 2R THERERSIESIRMOEMNNES ST .
Number of shares Number of shares
represented represented by~ Closingprice  Weighted average Weighted average
by options optionsandlor ~ of the Shares closing price closing price
andlor RSUs Options andlor ~~ Options and/or RSUs immediately immediately Fair value of mmediately
Name or category Date of grant/ Exercise  Vesting date outstandingas ~ Granted during  Exercised during ~ RSUscancelled ~ RSUsexpired ~ outstandingasat  beforethedate  beforethe date ~ options or RSUs ~ before the date
of grantees Nature conditonal grant~ price (HKS) ~ (Note) at | January 2022 the year theyear  durigtheyear  duringtheyear 3| December 2002 of grant ofgrant at date of grant of vesting
g
Ramg 11B3I8
IBIR A
At b3 B B
Bk Fas 2SN 2B SHEH 2Rl HiGE
ZRHRH ERERS  ERERY RipEf BHR SR RipE( R
it/ fitR BERH Efif &N L EL] & BEAN  OMETH  NREEEN  AhETy
BEAREEED KE BRAELRE  (Bn) (R Ri¥E ERfH i RirE(L e Rh%E  BARGE Wi RARE G
Directors
g
Wu Shen RU 116021 041 1760005 100,000 - - - - 100000, - - - -
£ RESROEL 20%AIA NSE6R I
Subtotal 100,000 - - - - 100,000
it
Top 5 employees
H5HER
Option 12014 04 1110018 74810 - - - - 174810 - - - -
EhE NMEIRI NBEIR I
Option 1112015 065 111019 4710 = = = = 610 = = = =
EhE NISEIAIR N9EIAIA
Option 3062015 065 3062019 868,760 - - - - 868760 - - - -
BhE NISE6HNR NIYECENR
Option 3062016 065 3062020 #6520 - - - - 46520 - -
ERE NIgEHNR NNEENR
Option 203018 685 2030022 1500000 - - - - 1500000 - - - 028
ERE NIBEIANA MEANA
RU 11952019 gl 1950023 340000 - - - - 340000 - - - -
RBSROEN 01959A 1 NBEAI
AU 11572019 065 15023 840000 - - - - 840,00 - -
RBARGEN 01959E1 NBEAI
RU llgr2021 041 1162025 100000 - - - - 100000 - - - -
RRARAEN 200%EI 5561
Subtotal 4666860 - - - - 4666860
it
Other employees
AR
Option 112013 044 1o 276141 - - - - 276041 - - - -
EhE NBEIRI NITEIR I
Option 112013 NA 112017 4063 - - - - 44063 - - - -
b NFRIR FER WrEIRIE
Option 1112014 046 17018 306294 - - - - 30624 - - - -
ERE NMEIRI NBEIR I
Option Tnoi4 046 7018 13 = = = - B3I - - - -
ERE NI4EIATA NIBEIATA
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Number of shares Number of shares
represented represented by~ Closingprice  Weighted average Weighted average
by options optionsandlor ~ of the Shares closing price closing price
andlor RSUs Options andlor ~~ Options and/or RSUs immediately immediately Fair value of mmediately
Name or category Date of grant/ Erercise  Vesting date oustandingas  Grantedduring  Exercisedduring ~ RSUscancelld ~ RSUsexpired  oustandingasat  beforethedate  before the date  optionsor RSUs before the date
of grantees Nature conditonal grant ~ price (HKS) ~ (Note) at | January 2022 the year theyear  durigtheyear  duringtheyear 3| December 2002 of grant ofgrant at date of grant of vesting
R
g 128318
IBIR AN
At b3 B Bl
B i BEEH 2Bl b3 2Rl SR
ZRHRH BRERT  ERERD RipEf BiR EEE BipE( EEE
gt/ fitR BEEA EfiftEH L L] K& BEat  MMETY  REGAEN  mOETY
BEAREEED KE ARRELRE  (Bn) (R Bih#E ERf Enfr RiEf e Bh%E  BRKGE Wi RARE Wi
Option 2290014 045 209008 49430 - - - - 49450 - - - -
e NHEANA NIESANA
Option 71122014 128 17120018 1017% = = = - 101,798 - - - -
e NHENRITH NIENFITA
Option 1112015 065 11019 791400 = = = = 9140 = - - -
EhE ikl NIEIRIE
Option 112015 128 111019 4543 - - - - 45436 - - - -
e WIEIRIR NIYEIRIA
Option 842015 NA 642019 1562820 = = = - 1562820 - - - -
e NSEAE  TEE W9E4ER
Option 260500015 128 2650019 126030 = = = - 126030 - - - -
EhE NISESA8A NI9ESAHA
Option 3062015 128 3062019 5218574 - - - - 5218574 - - - -
e NISE6HNA NIYECENA
Option 3062015 065 3062019 711680 = = = - 711680 - - - -
e NISE6HNA NIEENR
Opton 3112015 120 31122009 6908707 = = = - 6908707 - - - -
ERE NISEAYA NYENRYIA
Option 31120015 065 311120209 1817032 - - - - 1817032 - - - -
B NISENAIA NIENEIA
RU L1016 NA - 28/1/2000 1953313 - - - - 1553313 - - - -
FRARGENL N6EIRSE  FEE MwEIALA
RU 10016 NA 2202000 144 = = = - DI44 - - - -
REARGEL N6EAEDE  TER MwEANA
Opton 3062016 065 3062020 535800 = = = = 535800 = = = =
B Ul MEENA
Option 30612016 11§ 30662020 159494 - - - - 159494 - - - -
e NIgE6HNA MEENA
Option 311016 113 3112200 67439 - - - - 674394 - - - -
B NIENHIA ANENE3IA
Option 3112016 15 31112000 164680 = - - - 184680 - - - -
e NIENAIA MENAIA
Option 312016 085 3112200 267900 - - - - 267900 - - - -
e NIENAIA MNENF3IA
Option 3062017 085 3062021 4080 = = = = 49080 = - - -
EhE NIE6ANA NIEANA
Option 3062017 130 306002 1907501 - - - - 9050 - - - -
B NITE6HNA MIEHNA
Option W07 065 28120001 5800 = = = - 55820 - - - -
e NITENABA WMIENFBA
Option 3o 065 3112001 108540 = = = = 108840 - - - -
ERE NITENA3IA MIENAIA
Option 311 241 310 895830 - - - - 895830 - - - -
e NITENA3IA MIENAIA
Option 3o 03 3o 043 - - - - 20433 - - -
e NITENA3IA MIENAIA
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Number of shares Number of shares
represented represented by~ Closingprice  Weighted average Weighted average
by options optionsandlor ~ of the Shares closing price closing price
andlor RSUs Options andlor ~~ Options and/or RSUs immediately immediately Fair value of mmediately
Name or category Date of grant/ Erercise  Vesting date oustandingas  Grantedduring  Exercisedduring ~ RSUscancelld ~ RSUsexpired  oustandingasat  beforethe date  before the date  optionsor RSUs~ before the date
of grantees Nature conditonal grant ~ price (HKS) ~ (Note) at | January 2022 the year theyear  durigtheyear  duringtheyear 3| December 2002 of grant ofgrant at date of grant of vesting
Hmg
Ramg 128318
IBIA Al
At b3 B Bl
B i BaEH &I S L iBE
ZRHRA BRERT  ERERD RipEf BiR EEE BipE( EEE
it/ fitR BEEA Efif &N B4 4] %4 BEat  MMETY  REGAEN  mOETY
BEAREGED KE ARRELRE  (Bn) (hd) fih#E ERf Enfr RiEf e Bh%E  BRKGE Wi RARE Wi
Option 112018 065 11702 14230 = = = = 142300 - - - 053
BhE NIBEIRIA NNEIR I
Option 1111018 1o 568850 = = = = 588850 - - - 033
ERE NIBEIRIA NNEIR I
Option 203018 685 203000 900000 = = = = 500000 = = = 08
EhE NIBEIANA EANA
Option 15712018 13715700 19635 - - - (27909) 168726 - - - 041
BhE NIBETAISA MNETRIA
Option I5/712018 065 157000 450 = = = = 250 = - - 041
ERE NIBETAISH NNETRIA
Opton 15/7018 2411500 %80 = = = = 55820 = - - 041
ERE NIBETAISA AFTAA
RU (57712018 065 15700 53815 - - - (1394) 418! - - - 041
RESROET 2I6E77 15 TR ISA
Option 1157018 635 19202 610000 = = = (42500) 567500 - - - 023
ERE NIBESAIA MEAI
Option 3112018 633112000 75000 = = = (25000) 50000 - - - 0181
ERE NIgEIAYA N0ENRYA
RU 20019 19 0 265000 - - - (165,000) 100000, - - - -
RESRAEN I9E7ADA NBETADA
RU 11952019 065 152023 560000 = = - - 560,00 - - - -
RBARGEN 0195918 NBESEIA
RU 11572019 6l 1503 865,000 = = = (180000) 685,000 - - - -
RRARGEND 0195951 NBEEIE
RSU 11912019 1315003 25000 = = = (275000 150000 = = =
REARAEL 09FAIA BERIA
RU 11500 065 1904 370000 = - - (170000) 200000 - - -
SBARAEN 0EAI NHESR A
RU 116701 041 16023 4220000 = = = - 4220000 - - -
SRHRAEN 20156A I SERIR
Subtotal 094247 - - - (899.363) 40043109
it
Totl 4560933 - - - (899363) 4709969
it

[]
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Notes:

. The vesting period is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise
period.

2. Prior to | January 2023, the exercise period of the options granted under the 51 Award
Scheme had been determined by the board of Directors at its absolute discretion, which
shall not exceed ten years from their respective dates of grant subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof. Since | January 2023, such exercise period limit has been
removed and there is no prescribed period during which a grantee may exercise the

options granted under the 51 Award Scheme.

Participants

Participants of the 51 Stock Scheme include:

0] any member of senior management of the Group; or

(i) any person who, in the sole opinion of the RSU Committee, has
contributed or will contribute to any member of the Group (including
business partners of any member of the Group, such as suppliers,
customers or any persons who provide technical support, consultancy,
advisory or other services to any member of the Group), as may be

specifically identified by the RSU Committee.

Participants of the 5| Award Scheme include:

0) any employee of the Group; or

(i) any person who, in the sole opinion of the RSU Committee, has
contributed or will contribute to any member of the Group (including
business partners of any member of the Group, such as suppliers,
customers or any persons who provide technical support, consultancy,
advisory or other services to any member of the Group), as may be

specifically identified by the RSU Committee.
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Transferability

According to the terms of the Schemes (as amended from time to time), the
participant may transfer the granted Award(s) upon the approval of the Board
or an authorized body or person appointed by the Board in accordance with
the terms of the Schemes. The transferee should be bound by the terms of
the Schemes, notices of grant and other relevant applicable documents and

agreements.
Term

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to
the termination clauses of the Schemes, the Schemes are valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the date of adoption (i.e, 20 November
2017), and have a remaining life of approximately 4.5 years after which no
Awards will be granted, but the provisions of the Schemes shall in all other
respects remain in full force and effect and the Awards granted during the terms
of the Schemes may continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with their

terms of grant.
RSU Trustee

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited, a trustee service
provider and an independent third Party, to administer the granting and vesting

of RSUs granted to the grantees pursuant to the rules of the Schemes.
Rights attached to Awards

The RSUs under the 51 Stock Scheme do not carry any right to vote at
general meetings of the Company. No grantee shall enjoy any of the rights of a
Shareholder by virtue of the grant of an Award pursuant to the 5| Stock Scheme,
unless and until such Shares underlying the Award are actually transferred to the
grantee upon the vesting of the RSUs provided that the grantee, his/her wholly-
owned entity or any such trust arrangement as directed by him/her shall enter
into an agreement in writing with Mr. Sun delegating the voting rights attached
to such Shares by proxy to Mr. Sun or his delegated entity(ies). Unless otherwise
specified by the RSUs Committee in its entire discretion in the notice of grant,
the grantees do not have any rights to any cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non- cash and non-scrip distributions

from any Shares underlying an Award.

56 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2022 Annual Report

AT
BEREH R (EREEY) > CESTRESY

REBEZEFFERRZ R EZTEHN A REBERA THH
/E » BEETEBHRRTIER > RBHREZEZ
FErBIFR ~ BT BN AKEMABRBER X KR i
ZHIR ©

HAMR

SZRPEFERBEZSHENE LERAERERE
®IE > ZESTEERMEER(BN20178 11 B208) #2454
Mo BETE  WAALISENREGRSESD 0 MR
BRAGREEE > BREHAINEXEMBEEMS
BENEERERNRIER > MRZEHNEARAE TR
BN RS LIS IR AU E A MR BT 1T o

ZREIRMDEMZFEA

KABBEZEEThe Core Trust Company Limited (—f&
EERBHEBRELIE=F) NEBREZSE
HOAR BT L T 5 a8 1) 42 A2 HH Y 2 PR MBI AR A7 BB 1L o

4% Bl P B o B HE R

5185 5t 8 N2 IRBIR (5 B AL mI S E AT R AR
BIRRAE LIRTERER - HEEA - H2BEHAN
ERNHEETNEAZS EAZ I RRRLLET IR
& HEABZERARNEERAMNGHRZEZET
BELNHERRER  RIFREEZS EREER
RHINZREROEBUBBEREREZTARA
BRI AR A FRERS | IR 58 &Hﬂﬁl%ﬂﬁ'ﬁ?ﬁﬂx
RAEMER o Boh > BRIERBRERNEMLEZESR
BHBMP2ERNIFREER @?E‘J??@i)\ﬂﬁ#ﬁﬂﬂ
TR = AR B H R ERIRVE MR A R E IR B IE
REWA ~ REH DR, HIFRERIFEY D IKH
HERSRIR ©




Similarly, the RSUs under the 5| Award Scheme do not carry any right to
vote at general meetings of the Company. No grantee shall enjoy any of the
rights of a Shareholder by virtue of the grant of an Award pursuant to the 51
Award Scheme. Unless otherwise specified by the RSU Committee in its entire
discretion in the notice of grant, the grantees do not have any rights to any cash
or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-

cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying an Award.

Rights attached to Shares (in case of the 51 Stock Scheme only)

Any Shares to be transferred to a grantee or his/her wholly-owned entity upon
the vesting of RSUs granted pursuant to the 51 Stock Scheme shall be subject to
all the provisions of the Articles and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the
existing fully paid Shares in issue on the date of transfer, or, if that date falls on a
day when the register of members of the Company is closed, the first day of the
re-opening of the register of members, and accordingly shall entitle the holder of
such Shares to participate in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on

or after the date of transfer.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed "RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS” and "CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" of this Report, at
no time during and at the end of the year was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a Party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other subsidiaries.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain activities with parties regarded as “Related
Parties” under applicable accounting principles. These mainly relate to the
activities in the ordinary course of the Group’s business and were negotiated
on normal commercial terms and on an arm'’s length basis. The related Party
transactions that did not constitute connected transactions under the Listing
Rules were disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The
disclosures required by Rule [4A.71 of the Listing Rules during the year are
provided in the paragraph headed "CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" as

identified below.
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Contractual Arrangements with connected persons

In order to maintain and exercise control over the PRC Operating Entities
(as defined below), the Company has entered into certain contractual
arrangements. The contractual arrangements allow the Company to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits of the PRC Operating
Entities and consolidate their results of operations into the Group’s. For
the purposes of Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules, and in particular the
definition of “connected person”, the PRC Operating Entities | will be
treated as the Company's wholly-owned subsidiaries, and their directors,
chief executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) and their respective associates will be treated as the Company's

“connected persons”.

Hence, the transactions carried out under the Contractual Arrangements
| (as defined below) during the year constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company. As the Company has applied to the
Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from
strict compliance with the announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements | pursuant to Rule [4A.105 of the Listing Rules, the
transactions are only subject to the reporting and annual review
requirements under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules. Further details
of the waiver are set out in the sections headed “Waivers from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules” and “Connected Transactions — B.
Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions” of the prospectus (the

"Prospectus”) of the Company dated 29 June 2018.

Further details of the contractual arrangements are set out in the section
headed “CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS" of this Report.
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Financial Assistance to a Connected Subsidiary

On 28 April 2022, Hangzhou Zhenniu (the “Lender’”) (an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) and ZRYI/NEEAABAE T A RAE]
Shenzhen Xiaolanben Network Technology Ltd.*, a company established
in the PRC and an indirect 73.86%-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
"Borrower”), entered into the loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which Lender provided the Borrower the Loan in the principal
amount of RMB8,000,000 at an interest rate of 5.8% per annum for a term

of three years.

The reason for the provision of the said loan to the Borrower was due
to the Borrower's business being in its early development stage, such that
product development, acquisition of market share and business operation

would require financial support from its shareholders.

As the Borrower is an indirect 73.86%-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and is owned as to approximately 12.50% by Shenzhen Tiantu Xingshen
Tianshi Venture Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (“Tiantu
Xingshen"), a limited liability partnership controlled by its general partner,
AYIKEEERELEEIERABRAB Shenzhen Tiantu Xingshuo
Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (“Tiantu Xingshuo”). Tiantu
Xingshuo is ultimately controlled by Mr. Wang Yonghua, a substantial
Shareholder, who is indirectly interested in an aggregate of approximately
13.54% shareholding of the Company. As such, the Borrower is regarded
as a connected subsidiary of the Company and a connected person of the

Company under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) for
the Loan exceed 0.1% and are less than 5%, the Loan Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting and
announcement requirements only and are exempt from the circular and
the independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter [4A

of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Loan Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
28 April 2022. Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 31 January 2022 and 30 March 2022 relating to the proposed
loan facility of RMB50,000,000 to the Borrower, which was subsequently
terminated on 30 March 2022.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Board had reviewed the major issues arising from the implementation and
performance of the contractual arrangements of the year ended 3| December
2022, and had discussed the matters relating to compliance and regulatory

enquiries from governmental authorities.
Overview

The PRC Operating Entities (defined as below) of the Group are required
to hold the Value-added Telecommunication Service Operating Permit (the
“ICP Licence”) to operate the mobile applications and the provision of online

information services.

On || December 2001, the State Council of the PRC promulgated the
Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-funded Telecommunications
Enterprise (the “FITE Regulations™), which were amended on |10 September
2008, 6 February 2016 and 29 March 2022, respectively. According to the FITE
Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the
equity interests in a company providing value-added telecom services (“VATS”),
including ICP services. The latest FITE Regulations have removed the qualification
requirement for foreign investors investing in VATS business in China. However,
there is uncertainty regarding the interpretation and implementation of the FITE
Regulations. For the year ended 3| December 2022, no applicable PRC laws,
regulations or rules have provided any guidance or interpretation on the proof of

the qualification requirement.
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Structured Contract |

Zhenniu Information is an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the

Company.

Enniu Network was jointly held by domestic enterprises such as Pingxiang Jiniu
Asset Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)* CE4S40 4+ & EEIE
BB X (BRAE)), Xinhu Zhongbao and Shenzhen Tiantu Xingbang
Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)* GRIIKEEFBILERE (AR
%%)). Enniu Network has obtained the ICP Licence.

Zhenniu Information entered into: (I) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement | with Enniu Network in November 2017, then amended and
renewed the same in December 2017; and further entered into: (2) the
Exclusive Option Agreement [; (3) the Share Pledge Agreement |; and (4) the
Powers of Attorney | and supporting documents (collectively referred to as
the “Structured Contract |") with Enniu Network and domestic enterprises
such as Pingxiang Jiniu Asset Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
CEMaFEEBESB T (BREE)), Xinhu Zhongbao and Shenzhen
Tiantu Xingbang Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)* (ZRIIIK B FEFE
"ERE (BREF)) (the “Nominee Shareholders 1) to enable the Group
to obtain the power and ability to control the business of Enniu Network and

acquire economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements |").
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Exclusive Option Agreement |

Enniu Network and the Nominee Shareholders |, entered into the
exclusive option agreement | (the “Exclusive Option Agreement |") with
Zhenniu Information in December 2017, pursuant to which the Nominee
Shareholders | agreed to grant to Zhenniu Information (or the Company
or any subsidiary of the Company (the “Designee”), an irrevocable and
exclusive option to acquire or purchase from the Nominee Shareholders
| and/or Enniu Network all or any part of their equity interests in and/
or assets of Enniu Network at a nominal price, unless the relevant
government authorities or the PRC laws request that another amount
be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase price shall be
the lowest amount under such request. In compliance with the current
regulations and requirements of the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders
I and/or Enniu Network shall return any amount of purchase price they
have received to Zhenniu Information. At Zhenniu Information’s request,
the Nominee Shareholders | and/or Enniu Network will promptly and
unconditionally transfer their respective equity interests in and/or assets of
Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information (or the Designee) after Zhenniu

Information exercises its purchase right.

In order to prevent the flow of the assets and value of Enniu Network and
its subsidiaries (the “PRC Operating Entities |", together with the PRC
Operating Entities 2 (defined as below), collectively, the “PRC Operating
Entities”) to the Nominee Shareholders |, during the term of the
Exclusive Option Agreement |, Enniu Network shall not, and shall procure
its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any
of its assets without the prior written consent of Zhenniu Information.
In addition, Enniu Network shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries
not to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without the prior
written consent of Zhenniu Information. In the event that the Nominee
Shareholders | receive any distribution from Enniu Network and/or its
subsidiaries and subject to the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders |
must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to Zhenniu Information
(or the Designee). If Zhenniu Information exercises its purchase right,
all or any part of the equity interests in and/or assets of Enniu Network
acquired would be transferred to Zhenniu Information and the benefits of
equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable, would flow to the Company

and the Shareholders.

The Exclusive Option Agreement | is for an initial term of ten years and is
automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu Information confirms

a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement |

Enniu Network and its subsidiaries entered into the exclusive business
cooperation agreement | (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement |”) with Zhenniu Information in December 2017, pursuant
to which Enniu Network agreed to engage Zhenniu Information and
its designated persons as the exclusive provider to the PRC Operating
Entities | of business support, technical and consulting services, including
technical services, network support, business consultation, intellectual
property licensing, equipment, leasing, marketing consultancy, system
integration, product research and development and system maintenance,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, the service fees,
subject to Zhenniu Information’s adjustment, are equal to all of the net
profit of the PRC Operating Entities |. Zhenniu Information may adjust
the service fees at its sole discretion, after consideration of certain factors,
including but not limited to the deduction of necessary costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to the respective fiscal
year, and may also include accumulated losses of the PRC Operating
Entities | from previous financial periods, which will be wired to the
designated account of Zhenniu Information upon issuance of payment
notification by Zhenniu Information. Zhenniu Information enjoys all the
economic benefits derived from every business of the PRC Operating
Entities | and bears Enniu Network's business risks. If Enniu Network
runs into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, Zhenniu

Information will provide financial support to Enniu Network.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement | is for an initial term
of ten years and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu

Information confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Share Pledge Agreement |

Enniu Network and the Nominee Shareholders | and Zhenniu
Information entered into the share pledge agreement | (the “Share
Pledge Agreement |”) in December 2017. Under the Share Pledge
Agreement |, the Nominee Shareholders | pledged all of their respective
equity interests in Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information as collateral
security for any or all of their payments due to Zhenniu Information and
to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement |, the Exclusive Option Agreement | and the
Powers of Attorney | (as defined below). The Share Pledge Agreement
I will not terminate until (i) all obligations of Enniu Network and the
Nominee Shareholders | are satisfied in full; (i) Zhenniu Information
exercises its exclusive option to purchase the entire equity interests
of the Nominee Shareholders | in Enniu Network and/or the entire
assets of Enniu Network pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option
Agreement | when it is permitted to do so under the applicable PRC
laws and regulations; (i) Zhenniu Information exercises its unilateral and
unconditional right of termination; or (iv) the agreement is required to
be terminated in accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations. In
addition, under the Exclusive Option Agreement I, none of the Nominee
Shareholders | may transfer or permit the encumbrance of any of their
equity interests in and assets of Enniu Network (including any equity
interests in and assets of the subsidiaries of Enniu Network) without
Zhenniu Information’s prior written consent. The Share Pledge Agreement
I will be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholders | contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements | are
fulfilled or terminated in accordance with the requirement of the relevant

applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

Powers of Attorney |

An irrevocable power of attorney | (the “"Powers of Attorney |")
was entered into between the Nominee Shareholders |, Zhenniu
Information and Enniu Network in December 2017, whereby the
Nominee Shareholders | appointed Zhenniu Information or, according to
the instruction of Zhenniu Information, a director of its offshore holding
company or a liquidator or a successor who are acting the function of
those directors as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf
on all matters concerning Enniu Network and to exercise all of its rights as

a Nominee Shareholders | of Enniu Network.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no other new contractual arrangement
entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and the PRC
Operating Entities | and/or the Nominee Shareholders | for the year ended 31
December 2022. There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
| and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the year ended
3| December 2022.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement | which involves
the payment of a service fee by Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information, and
the nominal purchase consideration to be paid by Zhenniu Information to
the Nominee Shareholders | under the Exclusive Option Agreement |, the

Contractual Arrangements | do not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract |, taken as a whole, permit the results and financial
operations of Enniu Network to be consolidated into the Group, as if it were
the Company's subsidiary resulting in all economic benefits of its business flowing
to the Company. Through the appointment of senior management of Enniu
Network, the Company believes that Zhenniu Information is able to effectively
supervise, manage and operate the business operations, expansion plans,
financial policies and assets of Enniu Network, and at the same time, ensure due

implementation of the Structured Contract |.

The Structured Contract | enables the Company to exercise control over and
receives economic benefits generated from the business operation of Enniu
Network. The validity and legality of the Structured Contract | have been
confirmed by the PRC legal advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair
and reasonable for Zhenniu Information to be entitled to all the economic
benefits generated from Enniu Network. The Structured Contract | also permits
Zhenniu Information to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interests
in Enniu Network, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group's lack of equity ownership in Enniu Network, the
Group is able to control the business and financial position of Enniu Network
in substance through the Structured Contract |. As a result of the Contractual
Arrangements |, Enniu Network is accounted for as the Company’s subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results being consolidated into the

Group's consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and net loss for the year ended 3| December 2022 and net
deficit of Enniu Network as at 31 December 2022, pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements |, amounted to approximately RMB41.6 million, approximately

RMB83.7 million and approximately RMB2,476.0 million, respectively.

The total asset of Enniu Network that is subject to the Contractual Arrangements
| amounted to approximately RMB2,718,002,320 for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Structured Contract 2

Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co., Ltd.*

(MMBEFRRBERAE)

(*Hangzhou Jiahao”) was jointly held by Mr. Weng Chang and Mr. Guan Jun.

Hangzhou Jiahao has obtained the ICP Licence.

Zhenniu Information entered into: (I) the Exclusive Business Cooperation

Agreement 2 with Hangzhou Jiahao in August 2019, and further entered into:

(2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 2; (3) the Share Pledge Agreement 2; and

(4) the Powers of Attorney 2 and supporting documents (collectively referred

to as the “Structured Contract 2"') with Hangzhou Jiahao, Mr. Weng Chang and

Mr. Guan Jun (the “Nominee Shareholders 2") to enable the Group to obtain

the power and ability to control the business of Hangzhou Jiahao and acquire

economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements 2").

(M

66

Exclusive Option Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2, entered into the
exclusive option agreement 2 (the “Exclusive Option Agreement 2") with
Zhenniu Information in August 2021, pursuant to which the Nominee
Shareholders 2 agreed to grant to Zhenniu Information (or the Designee),
an irrevocable and exclusive option to acquire or purchase from the
Nominee Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao all or any part of their
equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao at a nominal price,
unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws request that
another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase
price shall be the lowest amount under such request. In compliance with
the current regulations and requirements of the PRC laws, the Nominee
Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao shall return any amount of
purchase price they have received to Zhenniu Information. At Zhenniu
Information’s request, the Nominee Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou
Jiahao will promptly and unconditionally transfer their respective equity
interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu Information (or

the Designee) after Zhenniu Information exercising its purchase right.
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In order to prevent the flow of the assets and value of Hangzhou Jiahao
and its subsidiaries (the “PRC Operating Entities 2"") to the Nominee
Shareholders 2, during the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement 2,
Hangzhou Jiahao shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, sell,
transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any of its assets without the
prior written consent of Zhenniu Information. In addition, Hangzhou Jiahao
shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, make any distributions
to its shareholder(s) without the prior written consent of Zhenniu
Information. In the event that the Nominee Shareholders 2 receive any
distribution from Hangzhou Jiahao and/or its subsidiaries and subject to
the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders 2 must immediately pay or
transfer such distribution to Zhenniu Information (or the Designee). If
Zhenniu Information exercises its purchase right, all or any part of the
equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao acquired would be
transferred to Zhenniu Information and the benefits of equity ownership
and/or assets, as applicable, would flow to the Company and the

Shareholders.

The Exclusive Option Agreement 2 is for an initial term of ten years and is
automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu Information confirms

a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and its subsidiaries entered into the exclusive business
cooperation agreement 2 (the "Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement 2") with Zhenniu Information in August 2019, pursuant to
which Hangzhou Jiahao agreed to engage Zhenniu Information and its
designated persons as the exclusive provider to the PRC Operating
Entities 2 of business support, technical and consulting services, including
technical services, network support, business consultation, intellectual
property licensing, equipment, leasing, marketing consultancy, system
integration, product research and development and system maintenance,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, the service fees,
subject to Zhenniu Information’s adjustment, are equal to all of the net
profit of the PRC Operating Entities 2. Zhenniu Information may adjust
the service fees at its sole discretion, after consideration of certain factors,
including but not limited to the deduction of necessary costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to the respective fiscal
year, and may also include accumulated losses of the PRC Operating
Entities 2 from previous financial periods, which will be wired to the
designated account of Zhenniu Information upon issuance of payment
notification by Zhenniu Information. Zhenniu Information enjoys all the
economic benefits derived from every business of the PRC Operating
Entities 2 and bears Hangzhou Jiahao's business risks. If Hangzhou Jiahao
runs into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, Zhenniu

Information will provide financial support to Hangzhou Jiahao.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 is for an initial term
of ten years and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu

Information confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Share Pledge Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2 and Zhenniu
Information entered into the share pledge agreement 2 (the “Share
Pledge Agreement 2") in August 202|. Under the Share Pledge
Agreement 2, the Nominee Shareholders 2 pledged all of their respective
equity interests in Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu Information as collateral
security for any or all of their payments due to Zhenniu Information and
to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 2, the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and the
Powers of Attorney 2 (as defined below). The Share Pledge Agreement
2 will not terminate until (i) all obligations of Hangzhou Jiahao and the
Nominee Shareholders 2 are satisfied in full; (i) Zhenniu Information
exercises its exclusive option to purchase the entire equity interests
of the Nominee Shareholders 2 in Hangzhou Jiahao and/or the entire
assets of Hangzhou Jiahao pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2 when it is permitted to do so under the applicable PRC
laws and regulations; (i) Zhenniu Information exercises its unilateral and
unconditional right of termination; or (iv) the agreement is required to
be terminated in accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations. In
addition, under the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, none of the Nominee
Shareholders 2 may transfer or permit the encumbrance of any of their
equity interests in and assets of Hangzhou Jiahao (including any equity
interests in and assets of the subsidiaries of Hangzhou Jiahao) without
Zhenniu Information’s prior written consent. The Share Pledge Agreement
2 will be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholders 2 contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements 2 are
fulfilled or terminated in accordance with the requirement of the relevant

applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

Powers of Attorney 2

An irrevocable power of attorney 2 (the “Powers of Attorney 2') was
entered into between the Nominee Shareholders 2, Zhenniu Information
and Hangzhou Jiahao in August 2021, whereby the Nominee Shareholders
2 appointed Zhenniu Information or, according to the instruction of
Zhenniu Information, a director of its offshore holding company or a
liquidator or a successor who are acting the function of those directors
as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters
concerning Hangzhou Jiahao and to exercise all of its rights as a Nominee

Shareholders 2 of Hangzhou Jiahao.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no other new contractual arrangement
entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and the
PRC Operating Entities 2 and/or the Nominee Shareholders 2 for the
year ended 3| December 2022. There was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements 2 and/or the circumstances under which they

were adopted for the year ended 3| December 2022.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 which involves
the payment of a service fee by Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu Information,
and the nominal purchase consideration to be paid by Zhenniu
Information to the Nominee Shareholders 2 under the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2, the Contractual Arrangements 2 do not involve payment of

any consideration.

The Structured Contract 2, taken as a whole, permit the results and
financial operations of Hangzhou Jiahao to be consolidated into the
Group, as if it were the Company's subsidiary resulting in all economic
benefits of its business flowing to the Company. Through the appointment
of senior management of Hangzhou Jiahao, the Company believes that
Zhenniu Information is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate
the business operations, expansion plans, financial policies and assets of
Hangzhou Jiahao, and at the same time, ensure due implementation of the
Structured Contract 2.

The Structured Contract 2 enables the Company to exercise control over
and receives economic benefits generated from the business operation
of Hangzhou Jiahao. The validity and legality of the Structured Contract
2 have been confirmed by the PRC legal advisor. The Company is of the
view that it is fair and reasonable for Zhenniu Information to be entitled
to all the economic benefits generated from Hangzhou Jiahao. The
Structured Contract 2 also permits Zhenniu Information to exclusively
acquire all or part of the equity interests in Hangzhou Jiahao, to the
extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding
the Group's lack of equity ownership in Hangzhou Jiahao, the Group is
able to control the business and financial position of Hangzhou Jiahao
in substance through the Structured Contract 2. As a result of the
Contractual Arrangements 2, Hangzhou Jiahao is accounted for as the
Company's subsidiary, and its financial position and operating results being

consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and net loss for the year ended 3| December 2022 and
net deficit of Hangzhou Jiahao as at 31 December 2022, pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangements 2, amounted to approximately RMB934,000,
approximately RMB2,000 and approximately RMB2,8 18,000.

The total asset of Hangzhou Jiaohao that is subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 2 amounted to approximately RMB544,354,879 for the
year ended 3| December 2022.
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Reasons for adopting the Contractual Arrangements

As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed to engage
in the Internet business in which Enniu Network, Hangzhou Jiahao and each of
their subsidiaries, are engaged, the contractual arrangements are adopted by the
Group. The 51 Credit Card Manager which is developed and owned by Enniu
Network acts as the major channel through which the Group approaches its
users and conducts business. Enniu Network presents information to specific
users by connecting the 51 Credit Card Manager to its cooperating Internet
platforms, thereby providing credit card management service and other related
service to potential users. Hangzhou Jiahao, through its subsidiary, Shenzhen
CRYINEA@ERMBIRAR) |

developed and operated a mobile application named Little Blue Book, and

Xiaolanben Network Technology Ltd.*

provides commercial information searching services to users by Little Blue Book.

Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements are crucial to the Group.

The Company will keep exploring various opportunities in building up its ICP
services operations for the purposes of being qualified as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest of each of Enniu Network and Hangzhou Jiahao,

respectively, if and when the foreign investment restrictions are lifted.

Risk factors related to Contractual Arrangements and actions to be taken

Certain risks related to Contractual Arrangements, including:

if the PRC government deems that the Contractual Arrangements in
relation to the PRC Operating Entities (including the PRC Operating
Entities | and the PRC Operating Entities 2) do not comply with the PRC
regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or if
these regulations or the interpretation of existing regulations change in the
future, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish

our interests in those operations;

2. if the imposition of any of these penalties or requirements to restructure
our corporate structure by the PRC government cause us to lose the
rights to direct the activities of the PRC Operating Entities or our right
to receive their economic benefits, we would no longer be able to
consolidate the financial results of the PRC Operating Entities in our

consolidated financial statements;
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3. we could face material and adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax
authorities determine that our Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Operating Entities were not made on an arm'’s length basis and adjust our
income and expenses for the PRC tax purposes by requiring a transfer

pricing adjustment;

4. the nominee shareholders of the PRC Operating Entities may have
potential conflicts of interest with us, which may materially and adversely

affect our business and financial position; and

5. if any of the PRC Operating Entities become subject to winding up or
liquidation proceedings, we may lose the ability to use and enjoy certain

important assets held by the PRC Operating Entities.

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective operation
of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and our

compliance with the contractual arrangements, including:

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government
authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and

discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the

contractual arrangements at least once a year; and

3. the Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional
advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the contractual arrangements, review the legal compliance of Enniu
Network, Hangzhou Jiahao and the PRC Operating Entities to deal with

specific issues or matters arising from the contractual arrangements.

72 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2022 Annual Report

3. HRBERBHEAEERMETREEER M
NENZHIIFRAFEETTL > WBBEKR
HIEE ERERTERERNABR WA
Kfsz > QIHFIFTSEEBRE R TN BER ;

4. HEZBEEENAEARRAIERAKMEFEE
EHEER > BRETHRMANEBRMBERK
MELEBRTNEE ; K

5. MHEATHREEERRETFENEERER
FZMPEEEERAAREEREMANTRHEE
REANETEEEE -

=
=

AEE TR TR > BREAEENSHNZHBR
BEBMETRETENZH > 815 ¢

I BRRETAENZIFERETHBENEABER
BN ENSEESARNEERERES
TR (HSE);

2. EFERELSSFER-—RSNZHNEERE
TRERER; &

3. AREREFIEEEBBNEMEEER (4
VE) > BHEFEERGNLIHNER - FR
BE@EE MMNBEFRTHREEERREGH
ZHEENFHIMERNEFENERGRER




Annual review by the independent non-executive Directors and the auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual

Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@)  the transactions carried out for the year ended 31 December 2022 had
been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the

Contractual Arrangements;

(b)  no dividends or other distributions had been made by the PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of its equity interests which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and

()  any new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group and the PRC Operating Entities for the year ended
31 December 2022 are fair and reasonable, or advantageous to the
Shareholders, so far as the Group is concerned and in the interest of the

Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 had received the approval of the Board, had been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements, and that no dividends or other distributions had been declared by
the PRC Operating Entities to the holders of its equity interests which were not

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

The Directors confirmed that during the year, they did not have any interest in
a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, that would

require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total issued Shares was at all
times held by the public during the year and up to the date of this Report. The
Company has maintained a sufficient public float in compliance with Rule 8.08 of

the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION FOR HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Company's securities.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed Report on corporate governance is set out on pages 75 to 96 of this

Report.

AUDITOR

Following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the
Company on 9 December 2022, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited (“Zhonghui
Anda") was appointed as auditors of the Company by the Board with the
recommendation from the Audit Committee to fill in the vacancy on same
day. Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors of the

Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Zhonghui Anda as the auditor of the Company for
the subsequent year is to be proposed at the annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM").

By order of the Board
51 Credit Card Inc.
Sun Haitao

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

31 March 2023

ks The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective Chinese

name(s) and is/are for identification only.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognizes that a good corporate culture is necessary to support
and complement its corporate governance efforts and corporate image, and
has gradually developed a corporate culture emphasising on lawful, ethical and
responsible business conduct over the years, which has been reflected in the
overall operations and management of the Group, in order to facilitate the long-
term sustainability of the Group. In order to promote open communication in
the workplace and high ethical standards among staff and management of the
Group, the Group has established anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies,
to provide guidance on identifying relevant breaches or improper behaviour,
reporting procedures and consequences of violations of such policies. For further
details on the Group's anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies, please see

pages 142 to 143 of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate governance
in order to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance corporate
value and accountability. In addition, the Group is also committed to continuously

improving its corporate governance practices.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had applied and complied
with all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix |4 to the Listing Rules with exceptions set out as

follows:

CODE PROVISION C.2.1

Code provision C2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the

same individual.

Currently, Mr. Sun takes up the roles of both chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, which is deviated from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code which stipulates that the roles of chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Board considers that Mr. Sun possesses the essential
leadership skills to manage the Board and extensive knowledge in the business
of the Group. In the opinion of the Directors, through supervision by the Board
and the independent non-executive Directors, together with effective control
of the Company'’s internal check and balance mechanism, the same individual
performing the roles of chairman and the Chief Executive Officer can achieve
the goal of improving the Company's efficiency in decision making, execution
and effectively capturing business opportunities. The Board will review the

effectiveness of this arrangement from time to time.
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CODE PROVISION C.5.8

Code provision C.5.8 of the CG Code stipulates that an agenda and
accompanying board papers should be sent, in full, to all directors. These should
be sent in a timely manner and at least 3 days before the intended date of a

board or board committee meeting (or other agreed period).

The members of the Board or Board committees of the Company were
informed by the company secretary of the Company by email, by WeChat or
by phone on the updated information from time to time. Although the meeting
papers could not be sent to the directors at least three days before intended
date of meeting, the Board or Board committees of the Company nonetheless
received sufficient information to discuss the matters on proposed agenda of

such meetings in a timely manner.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

As at the date of this Report, the Board is made up of eight Directors including
two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The biographical details of the Directors are set
out under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Report. During the year ended 3| December 2022 and up
to the date of this Report, the Board consisted of the following:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 7 January 2022)

Mr. Zhu Jianfei (Vice-President) (resigned on 14 April 2022)

Ms. Wu Shan (Vice-President) (appointed on 7 January 2022)

Mr. Zheng Haiguo (resigned on 7 January 2022)
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli

Mr. Yu Jin (resigned on 14 April 2022)

Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui (appointed on 4 April 2022)
Ms. Gao Li (appointed on 14 April 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ti (resigned on 14 April 2022)
Mr. Ye Xiang

Mr. Xu Xuchu

Mr. Shou Jian (appointed on |3 May 2022)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board with
one independent non-executive Director possessing the appropriate professional
accounting or relevant financial management expertise as required under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules. However, during the year ended 31 December 2022,
following the resignation of Mr. Wong Ti as an independent non-executive
Director on 14 April 2022, the number of independent non-executive Directors
fell below the requirements of (i) Rule 3.10(l) of the Listing Rules that the
Board must include at least three independent non-executive directors; and (ii)
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules which requires the number of independent non-
executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board. Subsequent to
the appointment of Mr. Shou Jian as an independent non-executive Director
on |13 May 2022, the Company has re-complied with the requirements of Rule
3.10(1) and Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this Report, to the best knowledge of the Board, save as
disclosed in this Report, there was no financial, business or family relationship
among members of the Board or the chief executives of the Company.

The Company had received from each of the independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that all of them are independent.

The Board has implemented various mechanisms to ensure that independent
views are available to the Board, including: (1) having three independent non-
executive Directors (“INEDs") representing at least one-third of the Board;
(2) ensuring that the Chairman at least annually holds meetings with the INEDs
without the presence of other Directors; (3) making independent professional
advice available to Directors upon reasonable request under the terms of
reference of each of Committees of the Company; (4) requirement for each
INED to provide written confirmation annually as to the factors affecting their
independence provided under the Listing Rules; (5) in considering prospective
INEDs candidates, the Nomination Committee assesses independence of the
candidate(s) with reference to the relevant guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules and other factors, including but not limited to his/her character, integrity,
cross-directorships and significant links with other Directors, time commitment,
professional qualifications and relevant work experience; (6) the Nomination
Committee shall review the structure, size and composition of the Board
regularly in relation to the Company's Board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) and make proposals accordingly.

The Company will conduct a regular review on the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms.

EEERERS

FFHITEE

PWEELL

T A (02022548 148 BHE)
B+ (R20224FE4 8 14 B ES(E)
BFILE (R2022F48 4B EFH(E)

BIUIFAITEE

SERRSCAE (1R20224E48 1 4B BHE)
®IBH S E
S@5E (R2022F58 13 EEE)

HE2002F 1283IBLIEEE » KRBBE=%BILIEH
TES MEFEWMEABZR=MH2Z—> mEHP—
ZRUNTEEEAEBENEESHHNBRAPEE
BEE > FELHRAEIIVERE - 224 » REE
002F 12831 HIEEE » )RR AER2022F48 14
HBEEABIUIJERTESHBEE  BXIFERTEZHNA
HUER () (EHRAD E3. 10N ES TN BEE
ZDOZZBUFFRTESRTE ; UG EHRE)
BIIAKEARBUIEFRTESE A ABNEBE MEES
E=HD2Z—MWRTE - H20202F58 13BEFERLEE
AEIUIERNTESE  ARBEEMET LHRAUE
300(E R EE3. I OARAYIRE o

RARSH  REFSAAN > BRERERERE
Sy EFERMBBAFRABDIETHRASMLEY
B~ EBRREKRRIE o

ARBEWRESBIIFNTESRE LHRAE3.13
HRHANFEBI RN > TRRRFTEFHAS

I e

EETOERSERS > URRESSENESRBET
BER 8 (WEEZ4ABUIERTES (&I
BITEE ) HEFZHEETL=92—; QFRFRE
BEVESFABUFRTESETEEMEEMES
HE; QREBEAABDZSLZESNHREE > TEFR
HEBEERFRREHBUISERER ; O)EXSLBIIF
POESSERESEMRT > KRB LLTRAURENE
ZHBUMHNEZRZ , OEEEBEEBIUIFNTES
EEAR  REZEGHRE EHRBFRENERME
AR AR EREANBILNY » BFEERRERE
Mg s BEMESHEERETCHAADNESR
BUBEAHE RFRERA - EEER R ITIEL
B ORLEZEEEREARANETENES T
BR(TEEgMESTtbEE)) EHBTESgNE
8~ R AER > WIRHABERES o

EREREMBRNZEFHFNRTERREBNIE

SHEREAMRAT wnEEEes /7

5




[]
[

Corporate Governance Report
EEERERS

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Directors participate in appropriate continuous professional trainings to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. The Company Secretary circulated timely
updates and reading materials to all Directors relating to the Listing Rules, the
SFO, and relevant statutory and regulatory guidelines on obligations and duties
of a director of a listed company. During the year ended 3| December 2022,
the Company Secretary had also arranged an induction training for the newly
appointed Directors. All Directors have complied with code provision C.|.4 of
the CG Code in relation to the training of Directors. According to the records
provided by the Directors and maintained by the Company, the training received
by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2022 is summarised as
follows:

ERFIIRGEEEER

EFE2HBENFTESEE > UIABIEMFEE
AR BRRETESEEENRIESMENS
NMTHESRSFEHER - RONEERKAMEES
BARMEMEEEER > IBAR LEHHRE 85
FEAERGIU RS R E AR EEEHE RS T2
SEEMEEE AR o HFE20224F 1283 B LIEEE » AT
MENRANMEBEZESTET 7 ABEI c XABMA
EEEETERMESEIIZEEEATRSTRIEE
C.l4HE - RIBEFRERANBEEGFTWRER > EFH
F2002F 1283 | HIEFERBEZAE IR T

Legal and regulatory Corporate
Name of Directors Directors’ duties  updates Business updates  governance
EEAE EEBE ERREEENR EBEH TEER
Executive Directors
BWITES
Mr. Sun Haitao Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
mEERE
Mr. Zhu Jianfei(” Yes B Yes B Yes 5 Yes B
REIFREEO
Ms. Wu Shan® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
Sz to
Mr. Zheng Haiguo® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
MRS E SO
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Ms. Zou Yunli Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
DEBUL
Mr. Yu Jin® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
Fite s
Ms. Gao Li® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
BRI LT®
Ms. Jiang Chloe CuiCui® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
BB L+
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIERITES
Mr. Wong Ti( Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
ERRSRED
Mr. Ye Xiang Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
Bk E
Mr. Xu Xuchu Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
RIBR) A
Mr. Shou Jian® Yes B Yes B Yes 5 Yes B
BRELe
Notes: Mzt

(1) Resigned on |4 April 2022.

(2) Appointed on 7 January 2022.

3) Resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director on 7 January 2022.
“) Appointed on |4 April 2022.

(5) Appointed on |3 May 2022.
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Board and Committees Meetings

For the year ended 3| December 2022, the Company held four Board meetings
in total. At least fourteen days' advance notice is given for all regular Board
meetings to give all Directors an opportunity to attend and to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The Directors have access to the management
for enquiries and to obtain further information, and when required, seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Minutes of meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
all Directors had been provided with monthly updates by the Company to
ensure they are informed of the Group’s performance, financial position and
significant business developments and to facilitate them to discharge their duties

as Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the attendance records of Directors at

Board and committees meetings are set out as follows:
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HERE BRHESEHE

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee General

Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors B8 BREEYg RBEEE NEEE
EERE g% g% g5 g5 BRERAE
Executive Directors
BiTESR
Mr. Sun Haitao 4/4 - 2/2 2/2 I/1
BEERE
Mr. Zhu Jianfei" 2/2 - - - -
RBIFRSTLED
Ms. Wu Shan® 4/4 - - - I/1
L=§tixequuit)
Mr. Zheng Haiguo® - - - - -
BELLE
Non-executive Directors
ERITES
Ms. Zou Yunli 3/4 4/4 - - o/1
BEREU L
Mr. Yu Jin® 212 - - - -
THEFLED
Ms. Gao Li® 2/2 - - - I/1
EHZ L
Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui® 2120 - - - 0/1
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/N - AN H
TEELGHRS
Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend
HERY AEHESEHE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee General

Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors 55 BEEY REEEY FZES
EEAE g3 g3 g3 g2 REXE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIUFRITES
Mr. Wong Ti( 2/2 I/1 - - -
ERFEED
Mr. Ye Xiang 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2 [/1
BARE
Mr. Xu Xuchu® 3/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 [/1
RIBRRES
Mr. Shou Jian® 1/2 - - - I/1
BREEO
Notes: Mist
(1) Resigned on 14 April 2022. (1) FE20224F45 |4HFHE °
(2)  Appointed on 7 January 2022. (2)  FR2022£F 1 H7HEZIT ©

(3)  Resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director on 7 January 2022. (3)  FR2022%F | H7HBFETEARE RAITESE ©

(4)  Appointed on |4 April 2022. (4)  FR20224F45 |4 HEZA(T ©
(5)  Appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on |4 April 2022. (5)  FR2022F48 1A BZEFRERESEEES °
(6)  Appointed on |3 May 2022. (6)  FP2022£E5F I3HEZR(E ©

(7)  One of the meetings was attended by the representative of Ms. fiang Chloe Cuicui, (7)) B —RBZHBEEHE LT ZRAXLHE  SBH
proper authorization letter of proxy has been provided to the Board before meeting in BERRBEZEIZRPRIEXHER BHIEREE

accordance with the provisions of the Articles. = o
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O 80 51 CREDIT CARDINC. 2022 Annual Report




Corporate Governance Report

Responsibility of the Board and Delegation of Management Function

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the Group,
including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term strategies and
appointment and supervision of senior management to ensure that the operation
of the Group is conducted in accordance with the objectives of the Group.

Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the management.

Appointment and Election of Directors

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the Company
for a term of three years and will automatic extension for another three years
at the end of every three years. The term entered for Ms. Zou Yunli as non-
executive Director is three years and will automatic extension for another
three years at the end of every three years. The terms of Ms. Gao Li and Ms.
Jiang Chloe Cuicui as non-executive Directors are one year and will automatic
extension for another year at the end of every year. In addition, all independent
non-executive Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year. In accordance with the Articles, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at the
annual general meeting. Any new Directors appointed by the Board either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board are subject to re-election by
the Shareholders at the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment. At each annual general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of
the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The
retiring Directors, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election. There
is no cumulative voting in the Director elections. The election of each candidate
is done through a separate resolution. Details with respect to the candidates
standing for election as the Directors are set out in the AGM circular to the

Shareholders.

The Board, with support of the Nomination Committee, is responsible for
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment of Directors and

assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. The Company has made specific
enquiries with all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the Model Code for the year ended 3| December 2022.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal
actions taken against its Directors and officers. The insurance coverage will
be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the Directors and officers are

adequately protected against potential legal liabilities.
BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include (but not limited to)
supervising the annual auditing work, assessing the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness of the audited financial statements and submitting the assessment
to the Board for consideration; proposing the engagement or change of external
auditor and supervising their performance; reviewing and evaluating the financial
supervising system and internal audit system of the Company; discussing the
risk management and internal control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective risk management and
internal control systems; and reviewing the financial information of the Company

and its disclosure.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, of whom Mr. Wong Ti
(independent non-executive Director) was the chairman (up until 14 April
2022), and other members are Ms. Zou Yunli (non-executive Director), Mr. Ye
Xiang (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent
non-executive Director) (since |4 April 2022). Mr. Ye Xiang has been appointed
as the chairman of the Audit Committee since 14 April 2022. Mr. Wong Ti
and Mr. Ye Xiang (independent non-executive Directors) have the professional
qualification, and appropriate accounting or relevant financial management

expertise.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022, the Audit Committee held four
meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the Audit Committee are
set out on pages 79 to 80 of this Report. Summaries of works completed by the

audit Committee during the year ended 3| December 2022 are as follows:

- reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements, annual results
announcement and the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022;

- reviewed the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements,
interim results announcement and the 2022 interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2022;

= reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management and internal
control systems, and the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the

Group;

- discussed the inside information about the new business and the dispute

as mentioned in the announcement dated 4 November 2022;

= made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment and change

of auditor of the Company; and

— discussed the audit plan of the year of 2022 with the auditor before the

commencement of audit work.

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration in respect of the audit

and non-audit services rendered by the auditor of the Company are as follows:

Type of services
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1

#)
RMB’000
ARETT

Audit services
BEITARTE
Non-audit services
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2,380
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Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In
preparing such financial statements, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently. The statement of the auditor of
the Company about its Reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report”
of this Report.

Remuneration Committee

The main responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include (but not
limited to) reviewing and examining the remuneration policies and proposals
of Directors and senior management; reviewing and assessing the performance
of Directors and senior management in discharging their responsibilities
and conducting annual performance evaluation; approving the terms of the
executive Directors’ service contracts; making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and senior management; reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter |7 of the Listing Rules; and considering
the remunerations paid by comparable companies, time commitment and

responsibilities and employment conditions for other positions in the Group.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, of whom Mr.
Ye Xiang (independent non-executive Director) is the chairman, and other
members are Mr. Sun Haitao (chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
executive Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent non-executive Director).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee held
two meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the Remuneration
Committee are set out on pages 79 to 80 of this Report. Summaries of works

completed by the Remuneration Committee during 2022 are as follows:
= reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy, structure and packages of all Directors and senior management;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package adjustments of individual executive Directors, non-executive

Director, and independent non-executive Directors; and

= considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages for Mr. Sun Haitao as a Chief Executive Officer,
Ms. Wu Shan as a executive Director, Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui and Ms.
Gao Li as non-executive Directors and Mr. Shou Jian as independent non-
executive Director.
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Nomination Committee

The main responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include (but not limited
to) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience of the members) of the Board at least once a year and making
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board in accordance with the
Company's corporate strategy; reviewing the requirements and procedures
for the appointment of Directors and senior management and providing
suggestions to the Board; identifying qualified candidates for Directors and
senior management and reviewing and making suggestions on the qualification
of the candidates for Directors and senior management; and evaluating the

independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, of whom Mr. Sun
Haitao (chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and executive Director) is
the chairman, and other members are Mr. Ye Xiang (independent non-executive

Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent non-executive Director).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee held
two meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the Nomination
Committee are set out on pages 79 to 80 of this Report. Summaries of works

completed by the nomination committee during 2022 are as follows:

— reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and

the Board Diversity Policy;

= reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for directorship during

the year;

= assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

= made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the

re-election of Directors; and

= considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
appointments of Mr. Sun Haitao as a Chief Executive Officer, Ms. Wu
Shan as a executive Director, Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui and Ms. Gao Li as
non-executive Directors and Mr. Shou Jian as independent non-executive

Director.
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Nomination Policy
The Group has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”).
Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member selection
process. The Nomination Policy is aimed to ensure the Board maintains
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. The Nomination Committee utilizes
various methods for identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and professional search firms. In addition,
the Nomination Committee will consider director candidates properly submitted
by the Shareholders. All director candidates are evaluated by the Nomination
Committee based upon the director qualifications, including but not limited
to the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity; skills that are
complementary to those of the existing Board, etc. The Nomination Committee
has been delegated to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for

the selection and appointment of new Directors.
Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy to achieve diversity at Board

level.
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Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

Selection of candidates for members of the Board will be based on a number
of measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service, and will take into full consideration of the Company’s
business scale and specific requirements from time to time. Currently, members
of the Board have different business and professional backgrounds, and among
all eight members of the Board, half are female. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for supervising and reviewing the implementation of this policy, as

appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy this year

and was satisfied that the diversity of the Board was optimal.

For the details of the current gender ratio in the workforce, including senior
management of the Group, please see page |22 of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report in this report. Given the current composition of the
workforce, the Board is of the view that gender diversity is achieved and shall
focus primarily on maintaining the gender balance. The Board will periodically
monitor the gender composition of the workforce and set targets if and as

needed based on the Group's business needs and development plans.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible for the

corporate governance duties. Such duties include but are not limited to:

- developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on

corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board;

= reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

= reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance

manual (if any) applicable to the employees and the Directors; and

— reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the

disclosure in the corporate governance Report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed and performed the abovementioned

corporate governance functions.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yu Hon (“Mr. Lam”) is the Chief Financial Officer and the Company
Secretary. Mr. Lam is an employee of the Group and is familiar with the affairs of
the Group. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable law, rules and
regulations are followed. For the year ended 3| December 2022, Mr. Lam took
no less than |5 hours of relevant professional training as required by the Listing

Rules.
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Effective risk management and internal control systems are crucial for achieving
the strategic goals of the Company. With the risk management and internal
control systems, the Company can ensure its law-compliant operation, which

keeps its operational risk within tolerable limits.

The Board is responsible for the comprehensive assessment of the key risks
exposed to the Company, identifying the risk level that the Company expects
and can absorb for achieving its strategic goals, determining risk strategies,
ensuring the establishment of internal control system and its effective
implementation, and monitoring the operational risk and performance indicators

in a timely manner.

The senior management is responsible for the implementation of the risk
management plans and risk strategies approved by the Board, organizing and
coordinating the implementation and daily operation of internal control system.
The senior management is also responsible for identifying and assessing the

material business risk exposed to the Company and taking measures accordingly.

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board to check the overall
risk profiles of the Company, conducting risk assessment and risk management,
inspecting internal control, overseeing the effective implementation of internal
control and the self-evaluation of internal control, and reviewing and monitoring

the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit.
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The internal control department of the Company is responsible for monitoring
the risk management and internal control systems, independently auditing the
effectiveness and completeness of the risk management and internal control
systems and ensuring the compliance of internal control. Also, the internal control
department is responsible for assessing risks independently, identifying material
risks and making suggestion for improvement, carrying out subsequent audit on
issues identified, and regularly Reporting the auditing results and follow- ups to

the Audit Committee.

The Company has established a comprehensive risk management system to
effectively identify, assess, mitigate and monitor various risks, which enables
the Company to identify and manage its risks through continuous supervision
and auditing in a proactive and structured way. The Company has adopted the
following dynamic risk management procedures to cope with the ever-changing

risk profiles:

— all business units and functions will, from the bottom up, analyze, confirm,

manage and monitor the risks arising from the operation systematically;

— the senior management will be responsible for the overall organization,
coordination and planning of the operational risk management of the
Company, and conduct real-time monitoring on the risk management
work and internal control of all business units and functional departments,
for which the internal control department will collect and coordinate risks

and confirm and audit risk control;

= the internal control department will conduct post-inspection, audit and
monitoring on the risk management work, conduct inspection on the
Company’s internal control system for defects, audit the compliance,
reasonableness and risk controllability of the principal business processes
of the Company, audit the economic responsibility of the personnel in
charge of operation, audit the effectiveness of enterprise information
system, and Report relevant results to the Audit Committee semi-annually;

and

- the Audit Committee will, from the bottom up, promote the
implementation of strategies for coping with material risks by the

management.
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Risk management and internal control system on credit assessment

The Group upholds strong risk management and internal control in the area of
credit assessment on its borrowers. Such measures are critical for the Group's

credit facilitation and co-branded credit card businesses.

Credit assessment measures are implemented throughout the credit life cycle
and can be divided into three phases: product design, pre-lending assessment and

post-lending management.

Product design: The Group'’s products are carefully designed to minimize the
risk of borrower default. During product design, the Group carries out intensive
researches on the product’s target clientele, borrowing purpose, data integrity
and the market's risks and opportunities. The aim is to design a product that can
meet the desired needs of its intended users while also allowing for more tailored

risk control.

Pre-lending assessment: The Group performs stringent assessment on loan
applicants. We introduced multi-dimensional data sources into the intelligent
big data risk control model established by our own intellectual property rights
to conduct in-depth analysis and sophisticated testing to effectively distinguish
customers and measure their index scores, so as to further improve the risk

management ability.

Post-lending management: The ongoing borrower relationship management is
of paramount importance to the Group. Prior to each repayment deadline, the
Group sends early warnings to borrowers with potential repayment problems on
to promote prompt payment. Should a default event happen, the Group would
carry out the standard collection procedure on the overdue debt to minimize
credit loss, which would include necessary legal proceedings. On the other hand,
the Group also provides quality customer services to borrowers with good
repayment history thereby enhancing their stickiness to the Group’s products and

the overall quality of the Group's customer pool.

The Group will continue to modify and improve its credit assessment process in

accordance with its business development and latest regulatory updates.
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MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A summary of the major risks and uncertainties faced by the Company is set
out below. With the changes of the business scale and external environment,

the risk profile of the Company may subject to changes. The following risks and

uncertainties are not exhaustive.

Corporate Governance Report
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The major risks faced by the Company currently include:

Economic and market risks

Any significant or prolonged slowdown in the Chinese or global economy
may have an adverse impact on the Company's business, financial position
and operation results. Facing an ever-changing market and due to the
limited operating history, the Company is subject to fierce competition in
the Industry. If the Company does not compete effectively, its operation
results could be harmed. If the services provided by the Company are
insufficiently attractive to customers or fail to satisfy the demands of users,
applicants or cooperative institutions, the Company's business, financial

position and operation results will be affected.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company always pays close attention
to market and Industry trends, actively promotes communication with
industrial peers and regularly conducts analysis on competing products.
At the same time, the Company places emphasis on the demands
and experiences of users, constantly promotes the innovation and
development of products and technologies, expands into new areas
and makes the strategies of the Company more in line with the market
and environment demand. In addition, the Company will continue to
strengthen the cooperation with excellent business partners to achieve

mutual benefits and joint development.

FRBAENHENE2RMERE :

R Re it LB

PRHIEKEERENFECRIETHELQT
HES  MBERRNKREEXEERTHEE -
EHNEEENTSRM EBERNEESE > &K
ABHEEBTERNIINGRS - EEARBEER
MRF o FRBINEEREPERER - B4 0
BIFfRHRRBHERRSIATRE » TG
BE - FBEARGERBIER > xRN E
B MBRIREERERRIEE -

ABBESTENEAR  ARBRZETIRED
SRATEEE > BREERITERR > REH
ETR@ON - BAF > ZABERALTREK
Bk TEEDERERMNANER > 1R
MHEE > EARBBBREMNTEHERIRE
BEXK - Fih > KRB EFEMARESES
BHNSF BREMNHE > HEERE -

SHSEEERAS wnEEws 9|

5




[]
[

Corporate Governance Report

AN &30 £
TEERRS
2. Government policies and regulations risks

92

The PRC government has been improving laws and regulations on Internet
finance industry and referral services. With the gradual implementation
of regulatory policies and rules of self-regulation, if the Company is
unable to ensure that its existing practices are in compliance with the
laws, regulations and government policies relating to the Industry, the

Company'’s business will be adversely affected.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company has set up a professional
and strong in-house team to ensure operation compliance in all aspects
such as communication with regulatory authorities, law interpretation
and internal system construction. The Company maintains close contact
with regulators to update the regulatory trends in real time and pay
close attention to the new laws and regulations in the Industry, so as to
conduct self-inspection immediately, comply with regulatory requirements
comprehensively and actively responds to regulations, thus improving its

compliance management.

Credit risk

The Company relies on the proprietary credit assessment model in
assessing the creditworthiness of the borrowers and the risks associated
with loans. If the proprietary credit assessment model of the Company is
flawed, or if the Company otherwise fails or is perceived to fail to manage
the default risks of loans facilitated through its platform, the reputation
and market share of the Company would be adversely affected, which
would impact the business and operation results of the Company. If the
Company is unable to maintain relatively low delinquency rates for loans
facilitated, or its ability to collect delinquent loans is impaired, the business,
financial position and results of operation of the Company might be

adversely affected.
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In order to reduce these risks, the Company has continued to improve
its credit risk management system. Based on the strengths of the
Company's mobile Internet platform, the Company has continued to
develop and focus on the quality credit customers; based on big data and
artificial intelligence technology, the Company has continued to expand
its risk management data and explore and improve its variables of risk
management; through accumulated experiences and outstanding practices
of its peers, the Company has kept optimizing its risk management model
and risk management policy; through enhancing its own after- credit
management team and applying artificial intelligence technology, the

Company has continuously enhanced its asset recovery ability.

Information system and security risks

The business and internal systems of the Company rely on highly technical
software and application. Undetected errors or significant disruption
in the IT system of the Company could restrain us from offering our
products and services, thereby reducing the attractiveness of our products
and services and resulting in a loss of users. In addition, if the Company
breached the requirements of national Internet security, or if our platform
is subject to attacks that result in unauthorised intrusion into our users’
personal information, the Company’s services may be perceived as
insecure and unreliable, users may cur tail or stop using related services

and the Company’s business and operating results may be harmed.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company has set up an independent
and professional team dedicated to technology operation and
maintenance and information security construction. The Company
has well-established systems and control measures for technology
development, online management and information security management
and the above systems and measures have been implemented strictly.
Effective emergence plans have been made and emergence drill and
data backup are carried out regularly. In addition, the Company has
established a user management system to strengthen the access authority
management of important business systems, and conducts internal audit

and training and education on staff awareness regularly.
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EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

With the assistance of the Audit Committee, the Board continues to monitor
the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The relevant
procedures involve reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control and dealing with material internal control issues include (but not limited
to) meeting and communication with the management team, internal control
department, legal personnel and external auditor, and reviewing relevant work

Reports and key performance indicators.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems. The
risk management and internal control systems can provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, and are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in the process of attaining business
objectives. During the year ended 3| December 2022, the internal audit team
of the Group conducted internal audit on the principal businesses of the Group
independently. The Board and Audit Committee reviewed and monitored the

Group's internal audit function and considered it effective.

The Board had conducted annual review of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 3| December 2022 and was of the view that
the financial reporting system, the risk management and internal control systems

for the year ended 31 December 2022 were adequate and effective.

During the annual review for the year ended 3| December 2022, the Board also
assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, employee qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial Reporting functions, the result with which the Board was satisfied. The

Board was not aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses.

As for the procedure for handling and publication of inside information as well as
its internal control, the Company was aware of its responsibility under the SFO
and has adopted relevant internal policies covering the definition and scope of
inside information, guidelines on all insiders including Directors and accountability
for breaches etc. to ensure that the handling and publication of inside information

were in compliance with the SFO.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the written requisition of any one or more members (including a
member which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within twenty one days from
the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further twenty one days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
may convene general meeting physically at only one location and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board

shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT THEIR
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication and
reasonable disclosure of information to its Shareholders. The Company delivers
interim and annual Reports and publication of the interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosure of information on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two way communications with the
Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders are encouraged to put
their enquiries about the Group through the Company's email at if@u5 |.com or
by mail to the address of the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Office 2401 A of 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong

Kong. All enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.

The Company has in place the shareholders’ communication policy which sets
out the policies in relation to communication with the Shareholders. Such policy
which is published on the website of the Company shall be reviewed by the

Board on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s shareholder communication policy
during the year ended 3| December 2022 and is satisfied with its current

implementation and effectiveness.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or propose a resolution for
consideration at general meetings may to convene an extraordinary
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the section
headed "PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING" above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

To conform to the amended requirements of the Listing Rules, which became
effective on | January 2022, including but not limited to the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards as set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, certain
amendments to the memorandum of association of the Company and Articles
have been made. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated | June 2022, 23 June 2022, circular dated 6 June 2022 and the Article dated
23 June 2022 and |9 July 2022. The Articles are available on the websites of the

Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.u51.com).
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ABOUT THIS ESG REPORT

This environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”) Report (the
"ESG Report”) is prepared by the Company in compliance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, which
discloses in a transparent and open manner the ESG initiatives, plans,
performance and progress of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”, “we" or "us”) for the year ended 3| December 2022 (the
“Reporting Period” or “2022"), and demonstrate its commitment to
sustainable development to increase the confidence and understanding of
the Group among various stakeholders. The Group will regularly publish
ESG Reports every year for all parties to consult at any time, and continue

to improve the transparency and responsibility of information disclosure.

Scope of Report

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial technology
services and Saa$S services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").
In May 2022, the Group has established the campsite brand chain named
51 CAMP, providing self-catering delicate camping services for different
enterprises and individuals. The scope of report is determined by the
Group based on the principle of materiality, considering the corresponding
importance of the entity to the Group’s business and operations and its
impact on sustainable development®. The reporting scope of this ESG
Report covers the Group's main office premises of its principal businesses
during the Reporting Period. The Group's offices in Guangzhou, Shenzhen,
Shanghai and Beijing were leased out in March, April, July and August
2022 respectively. Moreover, our offices in Hong Kong, Nanjing and the
aforesaid surrendered offices were mainly worked from home during the
Reporting Period. Therefore, the Group believes that the environmental
impact of the above-mentioned offices is relatively small, and has not
included the environmental information of these offices into the scope of

report.

Unless otherwise stated, the Group obtains ESG-related key performance
indicators (“KPIs"”) through operational control mechanisms. After
the data collection system becomes more mature and the sustainable
development work is firmly established, the Group will continue to expand

the scope of disclosure in the future.
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b Since 51 CAMP has just launched its business in 2022, and its revenue only
accounts for approximately 2.8% of the Group, the Group has not disclosed the
environmental information of this business in this ESG Report, but will consider its
operating conditions and its impact on the business in the future. The degree of

environmental impact determines whether to include it in the scope of report.

Reporting Principle

This ESG Report provides an overview of our ESG-related performance
in a condensed format. The information in the report comes from the
Group's official documents and statistical data, as well as the integration
and summary of monitoring, management and operating data provided by

subsidiaries in accordance with the Group’s relevant systems.

The Group prepares the ESG Report based on three reporting principles,

namely materiality, quantitative and consistency.

Materiality: The Group’s ESG management approach is designed with
a focus on the key areas which are considered to be significant to the

Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has identified major issues
through materiality assessment, and made the confirmed major issues
the focus of ESG Report preparation. The importance of the issues has
been reviewed and confirmed by the board of directors (the “Board”)
and relevant personnel. For further details, please refer to the chapter of

"Stakeholders' Engagement and Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide and discloses KPIs in a quantitative manner. Information
on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation
references used for KPIs and sources of key conversion factors are

appropriately identified.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the ESG Report has been prepared
in the same way as the previous year for comparison purposes. If there
are any changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation methods, which
may affect the comparison with previous reports, the Group will explain

the corresponding data.
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BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANY

We were established in 2012 and have created a comprehensive
ecosystem built upon a widely-used credit card management platform —
51 Credit Card Manager App, which is developed by us, allowing users
to enjoy smart management service. Leveraging the highly-valuable user
base and the personal credit data accumulated from the credit card
management platform, we kept expanding the ecosystem boundary. In
September 2019, we launched a commercial information searching tool,
Little Blue Book, with an aim to provide users with valuable commercial
information. In the second half of 2020, we repositioned Little Blue Book
as a “smart sales intelligence platform” to help enterprises quickly identify

and accurately reach their customers, thereby improving sales efficiency.

Awards gained in the past year

Enniu Network was awarded the honorary qualification of Zhejiang

Enterprise Research Institute at Provincial Level in 2020;

2. Zhenniu Information was awarded the honorary qualification
of Hangzhou Enterprise High New Technology Research and
Development Center in 2020; and

3. Zhenniu Information was awarded the honorary qualification
of Zhejiang Provincial High New Technology Research and
Development Center in 2020.

In May 2022, we established the camp brand chain named 51 CAMP,
with the aim to develop the “2H" urban camping circle centered on peri-
urban campsites and complemented by remote campsites, and provide
self-catering delicate camping services. 51 CAMP values the idea of being
passionate, taking a trip to mountains and seas, and getting in touch with
nature. At the same time, it promotes self-catering delicate camping and
has established the camping-leader-led campsite activity mode, which
combine picnic, music, sports, adventure and various outdoor activities,

introducing a brand-new lifestyle to get close to nature to city dwellers.

In the future, adhering to the vision of "“Better Credit, Better Life”, the
Company will stay true to its faith and stride ahead.
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OUR ESG PHILOSOPHY AND GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Group acknowledges the significance of effective ESG initiatives
at the operational level. We endeavor to provide long-term benefits
to all stakeholders by way of responsible operation, which take not
only the economic factors but also social and environmental factors
into consideration during operation, so as to maintain a sustainable
development of the Group. To achieve this goal, the Group has
formulated its ESG governance framework to ensure that ESG governance
is consistent with its sustainable development strategy, and integrate ESG
management into the Group’s business operations and decision-making

processes.

The Board assumes overall responsibility for the Group'’s ESG issues. In
order to better manage the Group's ESG performance, related issues and
potential risks, the Board holds annual meetings to collectively discuss ESG
issues, evaluate and determine the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities,
review the importance of ESG issues, and assess our performance and
progress in relation to our ESG objectives. At the same time, the Board is
also responsible for formulating ESG policies, strategies, prioritization and
management of important ESG-related matters, allocating resources and
approving ESG work results to ensure that relevant risk management and
internal control systems are properly and effectively operated, and reflect

the Group’s core value.

The regulatory framework and functions of the Company on ESG issues

are as follows:
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Regulatory Contents
EERNE

Board
EEg

Audit Committee
BIZEEg

Internal Control Department

RIEERFT

Senior Management

SR EEE

Business Units and
Functions Department

& AR PIAI R AE BB P

being responsible for the comprehensive assessment of the key ESG risk exposures of the Group
(for instance major ESG issues relating to the Group, including product responsibility, the under-
standing of sustainable needs of the society, etc.).

BEEEMEAEEFEENRRESGAR MEMSE  THRTENRFERES AL
EMIERAMNEBESGERE) ©

identifying the risk level that the Group expects and can absorb for achieving its strategic goals,
determining risk strategies, including ESG risks.

EEAEERBEIREE B IRPATEHAM S50 A ERY E SR K T R FEE EfE RS - EIFEESGR

2
ao O
2

reviewing and approving disclosures in this ESG Report.

EHAESGHRENIIREE K o

being responsible for assisting the Board to check the overall risk profiles (including ESG risks
profiles) of the Group.

M EFEREAERBRENREMMNRT - BIEESGRRAMAI

inspecting internal control, reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit.

BENBPEE > WiRE RERAERA B

promoting the implementation of strategies for coping with material risks (including ESG risks) by
the management.

EEEREEZEEARBNBERE » BEESCHERRR -

being responsible for assessing risks independently, identifying material risks and making suggestion
for improvement, including the risk assessment and suggestions for improvement for ESG.

ETBUMERTE - S EARBRIIR RS > BIEESGH R R BUERE -

implementing the risk management plans and risk strategies approved by the executive director,
being responsible for the overall organization, coordination and planning of the operational risk
management of the Group, including the operational risk management for ESG.

%it TEFSHENRREEEMNERRE  BAERLERBEETFETRE - @
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holding an annual meeting to report to the Board its findings, decisions and recommendations.

BERTERMNEFTERIABER - RERES °

analyzing, confirming, managing and monitoring the risks (including ESG risks) arising from the

operation systematically.

HEGBETNERERETRRECHNDN » 3 - EEMEE > SEKEBREFRMESG
RREE -

collecting and analyzing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the Group's ESG performance,
following up and reviewing the progress of the Group’s ESG-related goals, ensuring compliance with
ESG-related laws and regulations, and preparing ESG Reports.
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The Group has established written guidelines for the ESG framework and
would provide training and strive to invest resources for improvements
in the pursuit of sustainable development. With the Group's guidelines,
effective policies and relevant training, we could integrate the ESG concept
into all aspects of our operation from top to bottom and thus effectively
enhance the ESG awareness of the employees, enabling each member of
the Group to take part in our sustainable development. This ensures that

our ESG framework could fully cover the key aspects of our business.

Driven by strong and effective ESG risk management, the Group is
devoted to continuously improving the performance in these key areas
through the ESG framework, so as to create sustainable values in the long-
term development. During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed
that it had established appropriate and effective management policies
and monitoring systems for ESG matters and that the disclosures met the

requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

Stakeholders

As a responsible enterprise, the Group not only actively develops its
business and improves its profitability, but also attaches great importance
to communication with stakeholders and their feedback on the Group’s
business and ESG matters, in order to actively balance the interests of all
parties, and promote sustainable corporate development. Therefore, we
strive to adopt constructive communication with stakeholders (including
shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, regulators and the public)
to adopt their opinions and protect their rights and interests to determine
the long-term development of the Group direction and maintain a close

relationship with them.

Set out below are the stakeholder groups, their expectations and the

common communication channels with the Group:

Stakeholders Expectations

IRIE - HERERHRS
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Communication channels

Fin& = BERE
Government and regulatory 0 Compliant in operation 0 Public information such as financial reports,
authorities ERPBEER announcements, circulars, etc.
BT R B S iiE . Compliant with the laws and regulations BIFEHRE ~ NS~ BRELABER
BPEREER . Direct communication by email and phone
. Internal inspection BEEBABTIMNESRETER
AEBIRE . Interview with government officials
. Workplace occupational health and safety HENES®HE
TIRGBFEER2E
Users 0 Protection of users’ interests . Risk warming documents
)= AP RE BB
. Capital and transaction safety of the . Collection of complaints and feedbacks
platform KA R BB R U EE
TEEERXZEZE . Public information such as financial reports,
. User experience of the platform announcements, circulars, etc.
TaRAER MBRE - A5 BREARER
o Fair transaction and reasonable charges Maintaining good communication with
NERZREEHE customers
. Protection of users’ information and the HERRFRTIER

timeliness and authenticity of information

BRERERE  EEKFENEEE

o Preferential policies for marketing
BN EEEE

0 Fair valuation standard
ATHERE

Satisfaction survey
MEERE
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Stakeholders Expectations Communication channels
Fih& HIEE BERE
Employees . Training and career development potential Employee activities
8T AR S R 2= BTEF)
° Wages and benefits Employee bulletin board
TEEHM BTMHER
. Working environment Periodic employee memorandum
TIFIRIE BT ERRETE
. Health and safety Collecting employee’s views through direct
feRRML e communication

Shareholders and investors

RGBS
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Career development and opportunities

R RS

Return on investment

B (EIE

Information disclosure and transparency
ERRENZERE

Protection of shareholder’s interests
fREER R

Timely and accurate disclosure of relevant
information

R R AERE S R AR RA 5 B
Improving corporate governance
REARERKT

Compliant with the laws and regulations
BTRRER

Anti-corruption

RIEEE

EEBAKEETIER

Employee trainings, seminars and briefings
BT~ s B/

Cultural activities such as team building

B B s B AED

Public information such as financial reports,
announcements, circulars, etc.

MRS ~ NG~ BREQHER
Road show/teleconference/meeting with
investors/shareholders

BREE REREITIRE BEE
&/ g%

Inquiry by phone/email

Bt /BT BHES

On-site visit by investors
KREERSHM

Information disclosure on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company
BT PR R AN Bl 4L 5 B R
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Communication channels

Local communities, non-governmental ¢

organizations, potential customers

and the public .
EitE « FFEUFAES « BERR

AR 0
Media .
s

Employment opportunities
MERE

Ecological environment
FREIRIR

Community development
HE#ERE

Devotion to public welfare
HRAMERHIE
Charitable donation
HEEE

Reduction of pollutant discharge
ARz 9
Reduction of wastes

L BEY)

Information transparency
BEEERE
Good media relations

RIFBILRERSRA (A

Charitable activities

EEE

Community investment and services
HERBERT

Stakeholders’” engagement
Fh&ESH

Environmental protection activities

RIREE

Information disclosure on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company
BT R AR N B ML 5 B R

Public information such as financial reports,
announcements, circulars, etc.

MHRE - AENBRELFRER
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IRIG - HHEREBERS

Materiality assessment

In order to better understand stakeholders' views and expectations of the
Group'’s ESG performance, we adopt a systematic approach in conducting
our annual materiality assessment exercise. The Group identifies and
confirms a list of material ESG issues with reference to its business
development strategy and industry practices. Questionnaires would then
be compiled based on the list and relevant stakeholders would be invited
to rate each ESG issue based on its impact on the Group's sustainability
and the extent to which it may affect the assessment and decision making
of such stakeholders. We analyze the result of the materiality assessment
and compile a materiality matrix. The materiality matrix and identified
material issues are reviewed and confirmed by the Board and are disclosed
in the ESG Report. The materiality matrix of the Group for the Reporting

Period is as follows:

Materiality Matrix

ERMER

g

Emissions Control

R

Waste Management

BB Anti-Corruption

RIBIERR

r Standards

HRRENFEIZE

Energy and Resource Usage

Level of Influence of Stakeholders’ Assessments And Decisions

Personal Information Protection

AAESRE

Supply Chain Management
HremEE

BB

REAMTBFNEHEAERZESGRENER
REE > RPIRBERRNG EETEREER
MHETE  AEESEHEFERRBRIT
FIEG) > B MFERDERESGEEBTE - BRAE
BRUBESHEE » UWARBEFNERBERESG
RENAEE T FEERNZEUREZFN
ETERARARNEEREETIR -  RABRE
EMTLEHNERETONLRRESMIERE -
EENERKE#HINERZEGKEHESTE
BRRES ) WINAESGREFHIIRER o IS
B AEENEEMERDT

Product Responsibility

EmEE

Quality Guarantee
HERE

Health and Safety
fEEEEa L

s BERMEIRER L
Ho Employment
& , , &
H#E Environment and Natural Resources Climate Change
= TR

Development and Training

Community Investment EEVSEl
HEREE
High
Low Significance on the Sustainable Development of the Group =

& WAEEASERRENESRE
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& KESG#RE Significant ESG issues

IRIG « LB REBRS

SEZME
High importance

mEZE
Mid importance
BED LS REEZ 2
Emissions control Health and safety
BEYER FEEER
Waste management Anti-corruption
RIRE HrEsER
Climate change Supply chain management
BT AR =
Labor standards Employement
LRI E R E A
Energy and resource usage
RIENKAER
Environment and natural resource
R N IE|
Development and training
HREE

Community investment

The Group is committed to reviewing the issues from time to time in
order to achieve continuous improvement and sustainable development.
The Group continuously improves its ESG performance to meet the
expectations of stakeholders and address the risks faced by the Group.
During the Reporting Period, ESG work and KPIs (as defined in the ESG
Reporting Guide) that we believe are relevant and significant to the

Group’s operations are introduced in the following four subject areas.

Our Service

BRI BR TS

Our Community

s AlpL0kad

LERE

Quality guarantee

EmEE
Product responsibility

AAEBRE

Personal information protection

FEERNIBEREFRE > DRIEHE
MERENFIFEER - ZEETENEHEESG
BRI > L EFHENRERERAEEFR
EHROER - REHAAN > HARHRLEER
E(EERIL B BB B AT HRMESGTEMRRRE
BIER (EHRESGHREES) » AUTHEEE
RBEB PR -

Our Environment

BPHRE

Our Employee
BMWET

SHZEEERAS wnEEws 107
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

We are principally engaged in the operation of online credit card
management platform. In view of our online nature, the operation has
minimal direct impact on the environment. Nevertheless, we acknowledge
the importance of environmental protection and have adopted certain
measures which are regularly implemented in our business operations to

manage emissions and wastes.

Future Objectives

In response to the national goals of carbon peaking by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2060, all employees of the Group have been pursuing the
spirit of energy conservation and environmental protection. Although the
Group’s business has maintained low levels of greenhouse gas (“GHG")
emissions, waste disposal, energy consumption and water consumption,
it still wishes to follow national targets and is committed to promoting
a sustainable business model. Therefore, we will continue to closely
monitor policy developments, industry developments, and formulate and
implement carbon reduction and environmental measures. The Group has
set a number of environmental targets based on its development direction
and strategic direction, and closely monitors and regularly reviews

the progress of the targets. The Group plans to achieve the following

objectives:
Aspects Objectives
BE Eli

B~ HFINIRER

FANEREB IS ESR LERFEET
8 ERNWMNELEBLE > FAEEED
HIRBENERETZEIFEL - BEWILL - HFR
HEIRIBREMNEE M - WERE T —LEHE0
BLEEMERMNBEEFBERERRT
LUEEBFRANEEY) o

REER

AEBEETETAEREK2030FREE -
2060 FE AP EIE > —BEFTHERRN
B BEAERENENTRAERE (TRAER
BOIEKE BEEVEEE - ERHEURAE
KEBEFE—BHMHEREKFT  BEDAFER
BEEIRWEIZ > W ABTAFEENEER
no Bt RFIEEEZNERBERNES
TENERE > UHE] REMBRIBRER o &
ERRBEHZERE S AMEBE A HI LS ERE
B 0B EERECHETEENERE
WMo AREEGEBRUTEE :

Progress

HE

Waste gas emissions Due to our business nature, the Group has not

set quantifiable targets

BER BN BEREBME > 2EAERENECER

GHG emissions Taking 2021 as the base year, the target GHG
emission intensity (tonnes CO,e/employee) in
the next three years will be equal to or lower
than that of the base year
BLO2VIEREESF > BRRIFHRE
REFREBEM_atRkEs B81)HA
BREFRTHFE
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Due to our business nature, The Group has not yet set
a quantifiable target, but in order to raise employees’
awareness of emission reduction, relevant reminders will be
posted in the office.

BEREBNE > 2EBNEGETSEER > BERR
SEINRFES  FEMRAETHERNE LB HR
R o

The Group’s GHG emission intensity in 2022 will decrease by
about 69.89% compared with the base year of 2021, and it is
expected to achieve the goal of maintaining or reducing the
GHG emission intensity in the next three years.
AEE0DFHAERESHNEER202 I FEEET
FE%969.89% » BEEMERKIFR FARMEER
RHRZENER -
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Objectives
BiR

IRIE - HERERHRS

Progress
R

Hazardous waste

EEBEEY

Non-hazardous

waste

Energy consumption

BEIRIHFE

Water use

management

KB

Due to our business nature, the Group has not

set quantifiable targets

BEREBNE > 2EEEFERE(EER

Taking 2022 as the base year, the target
non-hazardous waste intensity (kg/
employee) in the next three years will be
equal to or lower than the base year
DRONEREESF > BRERRIENES
BEEMEE(AF/BI)REEFRTR
E:3058

Taking 2021 as the base year, the target
total energy consumption intensity (MWh/
employee) in the next three years will be

equal to or lower than that of the base year

BRI FEREESE > BERRIFHER
MEBTECKRE BL)RAEEFRT
SRR

Taking 2021 as the base year, the target
water consumption intensity (tonnes/
employee) in the next 5 years will be the

same or lower than the base year

LRO2NFEABEESE » BIERESENAK
EREM,/ EI)EEEETYRE

Due to our business nature, The Group has not yet set
a quantifiable target, but in order to raise employees’
awareness of waste reduction, relevant reminders will be
posted in the office.

BEREHEE > 2EENEFITRIEEER BRI
SETHREER  ZEMAETHERNE EARRE

7R ©

Since relevant information has been disclosed since
2022, the Group has set relevant targets in 2022.

AR BUE B2022 F 4R EE » AEEBEN2022F%
EARER -

The Group’ s total energy consumption intensity in
2022 decreased by approximately 69.03% compared
with the base year of 2021. It is expected to achieve
the goal of maintaining or reducing the total energy
consumption intensity in the next three years.
FEE0202FHRERBEETER202I FEEFTE
#969.03% » AEZEMERIKIFER T EAERBFE
EXEMNBR -

The water consumption intensity of the Group in 2022
decreased by about 76.48% compared with the base
year of 2021. It is expected to achieve the goal of
maintaining or reducing the water consumption intensity
in the next five years.
AEE0DFNAKETER202 | FEEFTRELY
76.48% > BREEMERKSFERFTHRERAKEEZE
HER -
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Aspect Al: Emissions

Emissions Control

The Group is aware of the potential negative environmental impacts
during its operations, and has formulated a series of environmental
protection measures to cultivate and strengthen employees’ awareness
of environmental protection in their daily work processes. The Group is
also willing to undertake social responsibilities, ensure good environmental
management, and adhere to its pursuit of sustainable development. We
have formulated relevant policies, and are committed to improving our
environmental management in our daily business processes through
a series of measures, and strictly abide by the current applicable
environmental protection laws and regulations, aiming to minimize
the pollution and environmental damage caused by our daily business
operations. The Group will regularly review its policies and procedures,
and incorporate the principles of environmental protection into its daily

work procedures.

As a competitive comprehensive financial services company, we are
committed to fulfilling our environmental protection responsibilities and
ensuring that the Group complies with laws and regulations related to
environmental protection. During the Reporting Period, the Group is
not aware of any material breaches of laws and regulations relating to
air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that have materially affected the

Group, including but not limited to the following regulations:

. Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic
of China

. Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People's

Republic of China
. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and

Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste

0 Law on Noise Pollution Prevention and Control of the People’s
Republic of China
. Energy Conservation Law of the People's Republic of China
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Air Emissions

Due to the nature of the Group's business, it does not make significant use
of motor vehicles or fuels in its daily operations and therefore the Group is
not involved in significant air emissions. However, the status of the Group's
air emissions and its significance to the Group will be closely monitored for

further disclosure in due course.

GHG emissions

Due to the nature of the Group's business, it does not make significant use
of motor vehicles or fuels in its daily operations and therefore the Group
is not involved in significant direct GHG emissions (Scope |). The Group's
main source of GHG emissions is energy indirect GHG emissions from
purchased electricity (Scope 2). In line with the development of the overall
national GHG reduction strategy to achieve the sustainable development
goal of energy saving and carbon reduction, the Group has formulated
relevant policies to manage and actively reduce GHG emissions by
reducing energy usage at source, thereby enhancing the Group’s ESG
performance. The Group has actively adopted the following emission

reduction measures for the above emission sources:

. Posting notices and posters with green information in prominent
places in the office to promote best practices in environmental
management and raise awareness of environmental protection
among employees;

0 Signing an agreement with a greening service company to regularly
maintain and replace the greenery placed in designated areas of the
office to raise awareness of greening and landscaping; and

0 Actively adopting environmental protection and energy
saving measures, which are described in the section “Energy

Consumption” in A2 level.

IRIE - HERERHRS

BRI

ERAEEZEHEE  HRAEEERLR
EAREEAAEIAL » BIEARERIT RS K
EREREN > E@RYIAERERFN
NEEER AN A EENERZ L NEBRE
TEIRER ©

A E AT

BERAEBZEHUEE  HRABEERIL R
BEAREFEAAEIAL > REAREET RS K
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FEZRER  AEECHTEBBRETE
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BERBEHN > RMEAREBBESCGRIEE - &
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Compared to 2021, the Group's GHG emission intensity (tonnes CO,e/

employee) decreased by approximately 69.89% during the Reporting

Period. This was mainly due to the increase in the frequency of

employees working from home due to the pandemic, which resulted in a

significant reduction in power consumption. The Group's GHG emission

performance is summarized as follows:

B0 EML ) AEBERREHANRERE
HREE(M-_athEE8 8T) TRTH
69.89%  EFXFEEZHNBIERG  BMTET
BRBANEE » WHETmAERLDEBIHEE -
ANEME YR E REEFMRBHMAMIT

Indicators' Unit 2022 2021
B B 20224 20214
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG emissions
EHE ——sERMEE R ERIEHIK
*  Purchased electricity tonnes CO,e 261.45 562.87
© SMNEED A EE
Total GHG emissions? tonnes CO,e 261.45 562.87
BERBHRAS WS EREE
Total GHG emissions intensity? tonnes CO,e/number of main office 261.45 281.44
BERBHREE ME_HECHRES TERASUE

tonnes CO,e/employee 0.56 |.86

Remarks:

(1)

(2)

(3)

M| tikEs 8T

GHG emissions information is presented in terms of tonnes CO,e, with

reference to the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol: Corporate Accounting and Reporting

Standards” published by the World Resources Institute and the World Business

Council for Sustainable Development, as well as the 2019 Emission Reduction

Project Baseline Emission Factors of China’s Regional Power Grids published by

the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group has a total of | principal office premise

(as of 31 December 202 1: 2). This data is also used to calculate other intensity

data.

As of 31 December 2022, and 3| December 2021, the total number of

employees of the Group are 469 and 303, respectively. This data is also used to

calculate other intensity data.
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Sewage discharge

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, there is no industrial sewage
generated during its operations but only general domestic sewage. Since
the Group’s sewage will be discharged into the urban sewage pipe
network, the Group's water consumption amount is also regarded as
sewage discharge amount. Water consumption data and corresponding
water-saving measures will be described in the “Water Use Management”

section of A2 level.

Waste Management

Hazardous Waste

Due to the nature of the Group'’s business, no hazardous waste was
generated during the Reporting Period, and therefore no relevant target
has been formulated. Nevertheless, the Group has formulated relevant
policies for the management and disposal of hazardous waste. If any
generations of hazardous waste are identified, the Group must hire a

qualified recycler to recycle and dispose of the hazardous waste.

Non-hazardous Waste

The main non-hazardous waste generated by the Group in the course of
its daily operations is paper. Due to the nature of the Group’s business,
the waste generated is harmless in nature and minimal in quantity.
Nevertheless, in order to reduce the environmental impact of wastes, the
Group has established policies to manage waste disposal. Also, for office

paper, we have implemented the following measures:

. Increased use of electronic files to establish an electronic workflow;

. Reduce excessive printing by going paperless as much as possible,
maximizing the use of electronic devices for internal meetings and

internal communications; and

. Reuse printed paper under the circumstances where personal data

confidentiality requirements are met.

IRIE - HERERHRS

J5IKBEIL

BERAEBZEBNE HEEBBERILEE
EEMIFESK > RE—REETK HRE
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Through the above measures, employees’ awareness of waste reduction
has been raised. The Group's non-hazardous waste disposal performance

is summarized as follows:

Report

B a0 B THREDERYHNEHS U
’Re - AEENESERYRERRHALUT :

Indicators* Unit 2022
iy B 20224
Total amount of non-hazardous waste
*  Paper Kg 109.15
. MR YNy
Total non-hazardous waste intensity Kg/number of main office 109.15
BEEEVEETRE N/ EBWAGFREE
Kg/employees 0.23
N ]
Remark: Mtst -

(4) Due to the optimization of the data collection system, non-hazardous waste-
related data was disclosed for the first time in 2022, so comparative data cannot

be provided in the ESG Report.

Aspect A2: Use of Energy and Resources

Energy and Resource Usage

With the aim of actively promoting the effective use of resources, the
Group regularly analyzes and monitors the potential impact of business
operations on the environment. The Group has formulated relevant
policies to promote green office and operating environment, minimizes
the impact of the Group’s operations on the environment, and improves
environmental sustainability. The Group manages the use of resources
such as water and electricity, and focuses on the management of major

energy-consuming equipment to fully and effectively utilize energy.
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Energy Consumption

Due to the nature of the Group's business, it does not make significant
use of motor vehicles or fuels in its daily operations and therefore the
Group is not involved in significant direct energy consumption. During
the Reporting Period, electricity was the main source of energy we
used, which was used for general lighting in the office, power supply for
machine rooms and office equipment, such as air conditioners, projectors,
computers and printers. In order to uphold the Group’s commitment
to energy saving and consumption reduction, it has formulated relevant
policies to promote a system of green office culture so as to achieve the
objectives of electricity conservation and efficient use of electricity, and the

relevant specific measures are as follows:

. Utilizing lighting equipment with lower energy consumption, such as
LED light bulbs;

. Investigating electricity facilities regularly to ensure safety and

operating efficiency; and

. Encouraging employees to turn off their computers when they
go out for a long time, and put their computers in a standby or

hibernation state when they go out for lunch.

The Group will review the effectiveness of the above measures from
time to time and make adjustments according to the operating conditions
in order to achieve the goal of improving the efficiency of resource
utilization. Through these energy conservation measures, employees'’

awareness of energy conservation has been enhanced.

IRIE - HERERHRS

BEJFHFE

ERAEEZEHEE  HRAEEERLR
EAREEAAEIAL » BIEARERIT RS K
EANEZEEREFE - RBREHE > BHERK
PIERNEEER > BRMAZE—RIEA -
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Compared to 2021, the Group'’s total energy consumption intensity B202| FEARLE  REBER R SHANEIREFRE
(MWh/employee) decreased by approximately 69.03% during the ERE KRR BT) T T#469.03% 5%
Reporting Period, which was mainly due to the increase in the frequency EERHRNEERG N7 ETIERHAMNE
of employees working from home owing to the pandemic, which resulted o AR EIHE o KEEMBER
in a significant reduction in electricity consumption. The summary of the SHAERIFHEIZAN T ¢

Group's energy consumption is as follows:

Indicators Unit 2022 2021
by B 20224 2021

Indirect energy consumption

FHERETRIHFE
*  Purchased electricity MWh 330.08 685.00
c SMNBES JEEEF
Total energy consumption MWh 330.08 685.00
RERMERES KELEF
Total energy consumption intensity MWh/number of main office 330.08 342.50
RERREERE KEE, TEMRGIBE

MWh/employee 0.70 2.26

KRBT
Water Use Management FKEE
The Group's water consumption is mainly for general domestic use in NEBEWBKIEEH NG —RETHK
office areas and for office facilities such as toilets and pantries. Due to AR EFEAERKESERAETHR o ERNAE
the geographical location of the Group'’s operations, it has not identified EEENMIBAS > BEEKREUERKE IR
any problems in accessing suitable water sources. To demonstrate its HEBRFOEE  AETEHIFEEENK
commitment to sustainable development, the Group has implemented the 2 KEBECEM MY IEME Y BB :
following water conservation measures:
. Using water-saving appliances as far as possible for water facilities; . /KGR ESHAEKESRE ;
. Turning off the faucet in time after using water to prevent water . KB E LRI /KEERE » B LEE /KA

running long, popping, dripping and leaking; and WMB B RERER, K
. If abnormal conditions are found, relevant departments should be . IR AE RN > FEAEIEAAERE P
notified in time to prevent waste of water resources. BRIE > LUBFIEREBKER o

[]
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Compared to 2021, the Group's water consumption intensity (tonnes/
employee) decreased by approximately 76.48% during the Reporting
Period. This was mainly due to the increase in the frequency of employees
working from home owing to the pandemic, which resulted in a significant
reduction in water consumption. The Group's water use performance is

summarized as follows:

IRIE - HERERHRS

B102 | FEABLL » AEERBEHARKERE
(M, BET) FMETH7648% > EXTBEHNE
1BRA% > W T EIERRMANIER » W Emm
RIER D AKE o AEBRAKREMMIT -

Indicators Unit 2022 2021
517 B 20224 20214
Water consumption tonnes 1,656.00 4,547.00
k& L1
Water consumption intensity tonnes/number of main office 1,656.00 2,273.50
RkEEE MR, EEWNBIAEE

tonnes/employee 3.53 15.01

M B8

Use of Packaging Materials

Due to the nature of the Group's business, it did not have physical
products for sale during the Reporting Period and thus the Group's

business does not involve the use of packaging materials.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

Given that the Group is principally engaged in the operation of online
credit card management platform, apart from the use of resources
described above, the Group's operation does not consume other natural
resources, nor does it have any significant impact on the environment.
As a result, the Group has very limited direct impact on the natural
environment. However, as a responsible and quality enterprise, the Group
is committed to environmental protection and has adopted a series of
effective measures to reduce the negative impact on the environment and
resources. In addition to strictly complying with environmental regulations
and international standards, we also integrate the concept of environment
and natural resource protection into internal management and daily

operations, and strive to achieve our sustainable development goals.

BEMEIEH

ERARE EHEE > HRREHEILE
BYERENE > AEAEELHE RS ROE
AHRIER o

ABE  RIERRAER

HRAEENIEXBLPEEERLERF
EETER > BRTLANERS  HEERAT
THEREBRENEMER  hRAHIRIRE
RAERERTE - AL > AEEHBAIRKEHN
ERFEFEAR AWM FREEENRY
¥ REMRHNIRERE > THRWT —%
FIBEMMERRRVDHBRERENERNEER
2T BRERETREAMERLERED
HATFBIRIE R R AL RRENT S BA A
BERAEEEITHED > ANERRMATF
BERERNBER -
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Enhancing Environmental Protection Awareness

The Group believes that in addition to requiring employees to strictly
implement the environmental protection measures formulated by
the Group, it is also necessary to actively enhance the environmental
protection awareness of employees in order to more effectively reduce
the potential impact of the Group on the environment. Therefore,
the Group reviews internal measures from time to time, distributes
environmental protection guidelines and reminders to employees, and
shares relevant environmental protection information such as the concept
of green offices. The Group will also consider participating in more feasible
and appropriate activities to help employees increase their awareness of

the environment and natural resources.
Aspect A4: Climate Change

The global community is increasingly concerned about issues related to
climate change and the Group understands the importance of identifying
and mitigating the significant impacts of climate change. Therefore, the
Group has conducted a climate change assessment with reference to
the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD”) in order to identify the Group's climate change
related risks and as such develop corresponding countermeasures to
manage climate change related risks and opportunities. The Group is
committed to implementing measures to adapt to or mitigate the impact

of climate change on the Group's business.

With reference to the risk classification of TCFD, the climate related risks
identified by the Group and the corresponding management measures are

as follows:
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Physical Risks

The Group's business relies heavily on the operation of servers and the
input of staff. As the frequency and severity of extreme weather events,
such as extreme cold or heat, storms, rainstorms and typhoons increase,
there may be an increased risk of power shortages, disruptions in the
supply chain and damage to the Group's assets, which could interrupt
the Group's office operations and result in reduced revenue, while the
cost of repairing or restoring damaged assets may also increase. These
events can also disrupt the work of our employees and may even result
in personal injury. As a countermeasure, we have policies in place to keep
our employees safe on duty and to keep our servers in a secure indoor
environment with regular maintenance to minimize the impact of extreme

weather events on the Group.

Transition Risks

To achieve sustainable development, the Chinese government has set
carbon reduction targets, striving to achieve “carbon peak” by 2030 and
“carbon neutrality” by 2060, and we expect that the laws and regulations
related to climate change will become more stringent. In addition, the
Stock Exchange also requires listed companies to enhance their climate-
related disclosures in their ESG reports, which may result in increased
compliance costs. Failure to meet the climate change compliance
requirements may expose the Group to claims and litigation risks and
may result in a decline in corporate reputation. The Group will regularly
monitor existing and emerging trends, policies and regulations related
to climate change to avoid reputational risk due to delayed response. In
addition, in order to reduce the Group's environmental impact and to
comply with the requirements of the Stock Exchange, the Group has set
targets related to emissions and resource consumption. The Group will
continue to evaluate the effectiveness of the Group's actions to address

climate change and enhance its ability to respond to climate related issues.
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6. OUR EMPLOYEE N BMNET

Aspect Bl: Employment

Employment Practices

Our workforce is the most important asset to our operation, which is also
the cornerstone on which we could build up our sustainable development.
As such, it is of our top priority to ensure that all employees could have a

fair, harmonious, comfortable and safe working environment.

We respect and protect the rights of employees. The employees
of the Group enjoy the protection under laws and the rights under
the regulations of the Group, which allows the employees to have
equal opportunities in employment, redesignations, salary adjustment,
promotion and training despite of their race, nationality and gender. The
Group never tolerates any discriminatory acts in the working environment.
During the Reporting Period, the Group had strictly complied with all
relevant employment laws and regulations that have a significant impact on

the Group, including but not limited to:

. Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China
. Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China
. Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China
. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of

Disabled Persons
. Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of China
. Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57
. The Minimum Wage Ordinance, Cap. 608
. Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 480

We have established a series of human resource policies (including but
not limited to Employee Manual), which comprised the key systems and
procedures relating to employee management such as code of conduct,
remuneration management system, working hours, holiday management,
disciplinary measures, attendance and promotion, recruitment and
dismissal management, internal redesignations, information safety, equal
opportunities and other employee benefits, etc., and rules and regulations
relating to occupational health, and has explicitly communicated such
guidelines to all employees. The Group is committed to protecting the
legal interests of employees and keeps on improving employee benefits to

enhance the employee loyalty.
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Talent recruitment and promotion

We have the ability to attract, retain and motivate high-caliber talents. We
attract and maintain a stable team of core employees through providing
a comfortable working environment, competitive salary and provision of
training and personal development opportunities according to the position

and development potential of the employees.

Through implementing the recruitment and promotion policies, we
ensure that decisions on recruitment, remuneration and promotion are
made based on the personal capacity of the employees, while taking his/
her working experience, qualifications attained and professional skills into

consideration.

We strive to ensure that employees are reasonably remunerated and
properly motivated. The remuneration management is conducted
based on the position ranking system, which enables the position-
based ranking and rank-based salary. Our remuneration system mainly
comprises several aspects: determining remuneration at the time of
hiring, adjusting remuneration at the time of promotion/demotion and
conducting performance-based remuneration adjustment, etc. In order
to broaden the career development for the employees in the Company,
the Company adopts a centralized mode of “double ladder” development
route, namely professional rank route (route P) and managerial rank route
(route M). Rank promotion is made after taking various factors such as
work performance, professional skills, experience and behavior, etc. into
consideration. According to the comprehensive assessment scheme,
rank promotion assessment is made to each employee annually. Such
assessment activities aim to motivate employees to achieve their career

objectives and reach their full potential, thus resulting a win-win situation.

Our service quality relies on the quality of employees which in turn needs
ongoing update of their professional knowledge and skills. The employees’
training and development are discussed in the section headed “Aspect B3:

Development and Training”.

Working hours

The Group adopts a flexi-time practice while staying in compliance with
the standard 8-hour working system. Our employees may, in accordance
with the relevant regulations, enjoy statutory holidays, annual leave,
marriage leave, sick leave, bereavement leave, maternity and parental
leave, and leave in lieu, thus, the rights of employees to take rest and

holiday are strictly ensured.
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As of 31 December 2022
HZ=2002F12A31H

As of 31 December 2021
HE2021F12A318
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Benefits

In addition to the employee benefits stipulated by law, we also provide
employees with additional welfare to improve the protection of

employees and maintain their physical and mental health.

In terms of employee protection, the Group uniformly purchases
group commercial supplementary medical insurance, traffic accident
and accidental injury insurance for its employees. When an employee
unfortunately suffers from a disease or work-related accident, the Group
will provide support for salary loss and medical expenses for employees.
The Group also ensures that our employees undergo annual physical

examinations.

As for the physical and mental health of our employees, the Group offers
meal benefits and overtime payment. We also have an annual employee

trip while organizing recreational activities regularly.

Our workforce

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 469 employees, all
of whom were full-time employees (as of 31 December 2021: 303, all of
whom were full-time employees). Set out below is the information of our

employees by gender, age group, rank and employment type:

By Gender &1 5l 73 38

55.45%

¢ Male 1%
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By Age Group IR F R4 B 28

As of 31 December 2022
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A total of 363 (2021: 156) employees departed during the Reporting REEHA AL F363% (2021 : 156%) BT
RER - B T 4B REE EE R 3594.04% (2021 £F

56.00%) > BERE B THZ145) « FEAERFMED

Period, representing a total employee turnover rate® of 94.04% (2021:

56.00%). The number and percentage of departed employees by gender,

age group and geography are as follows: BEHABRBDLENT !
2022 2021
20224 202145
Number of Percentage Number of Percentage
departed of departed departed of departed

employees  employees®(%) employees  employees®(%)

STRE S TREM B TR B TR
Indicators etz A¥L BEbe(%) A B kbe(%)
Classification by gender BETHRSEE
Male B4 218 105.31 95 65.00
Female gogid 145 81.01 61 46.00
Classification by age group RETFEH4HRIDEE
<25 <25 43 86.00 16 80.00
25-29 25-29 148 112.12 58 54.00
30-39 30-39 155 88.83 77 56.00
40-49 40-49 13 61.90 5 36.00
>50 >50 4 47.06 - -
Classification by geography 1&ih(& 4348
PRC R 361 94.38 154 51.30
Hong Kong &8 2 57.14 2 67.00
Remarks: Wt
(5):  The total employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the total number of (5) ! BETHBBIXESHFEHNERBES T A

workers who departed during the reporting period by the average number of

employees at the beginning and end of the year.

BRI FHI R FRBIE T PN B E -

(6):  The turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the number of employees (6) . BHHEBBILEEZREHANZ T ERBEE T
AR LUF Y R F AR % 7 ER T B FIEN B 5t

of employees in that category at the beginning and end of the year. Eo

who departed in that category during the reporting period by the average number

[]
[ 124
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

We are committed to providing employees with a comfortable and safe
working environment, maintaining and improving the employee welfare.
During the Reporting Period, the Group had complied with all relevant
laws and regulations regarding health and safety of its employees, including

but not limited to:

. Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Production Safety

. Fire Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Law of the People's Republic of China on Response to Emergencies

. Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Chapter 509

IRIR - HERERBHRS
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Workplace safety

We have established the Circular on Relevant Regulations on Work
Environment Management and the Safe Office Environment Management
System in view of safety first and prevention of risk, and arranged a
person to be in charge of safety management at each of workplaces to
implement the system. The person who takes the main responsibility will
be the person who is responsible for production safety, as well as set up

an emergency response team.

As for workplace safety, we engaged third-party professional institution
to test and measure the environmental pollutants, which confirmed that
during the Reporting Period, the methanal, benzene and total volatile
organic compounds (TVOC) in the samples tested at each of our
workplaces comply with the requirements of GB50325-2010 regarding

Class Il civil building indicators.

Set out below are certain day-to-day measures taken by the Group

relating to workplace safety:

0) Each department head provides regular safety education to the
department staff for the purpose of a satisfactory safety practice at

offices;

(i) The exit to passageway is kept unobstructed, unoccupied or
unblocked, parking or piling up of junk items on the fire escapes are

forbidden and safety warnings are posted at various areas;

(i) Security personnel patrol the workplaces every day to avoid any

unauthorized entries;
(iv)  Regular inspection and maintenance are arranged for the

workplaces, building structures, fire control equipment and facilities

to avoid any potential safety hazards therein;
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In adhering to regulations and rules on electrical safety, the
electronic appliances are used without overloads and there is
no unauthorized wiring and connection of electric wires, so
as to ensure personal safety when using electronic appliances.
Electronic facilities are to be inspected after work, and the
electronic equipment, portable power banks and other flammable
and explosive hazardous objects are required to be turned off at

everyone's workplaces in a timely manner;

Strict control is exercised over smoking to prohibit smoking in the

undesignated smoking areas at the workplaces;

Purchase ergonomic chairs for the employees, which could protect

their spine and lumbar; and

Massage chairs and fitness equipment are placed in the recreational

areas for the employees.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has been committed to

supporting the health management measures of the Chinese Center for

Disease Control and Prevention and strictly complied with the epidemic

prevention measures of parks where the Group’s offices are located.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the Law of

the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Treatment of Infections

Diseases, and in response to the national call and with the aim to give full

support to the collective prevention and control, the Company has taken

a series of prevention measures:

()

(ii)

(iv)

v

Supervision and management team for epidemic prevention and
control work was set up with clear division of responsibility and

accountability;

Body temperature of employees was checked and recorded twice

a day;

Employees are scheduled with different time slots for meals;

Workplaces were ventilated at least twice a day in the morning and

afternoon and was disinfected every two days;

Visitors in-and-out registration and temperature measurement

were performed on a daily basis;

(vii)

(viii)
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(vi)  Protective and disinfection supplies were ensured sufficient and the
list of lacked items were reported to the person in charge for a

timely supplement, so as to ensure sufficient supplies;

(vii)  Employees were required to wear masks. Disposable masks were
centrally disposed of in the designated trash bins, and repetitive

protective supplies were centrally disinfected;

(viii)  Group activities and meetings were temporarily cancelled and
business trips and other events were reduced or cancelled as far
as possible. Employees were not arranged to travel to severely
affected epidemic areas. Voice, video and other conference
call meetings were advocated to reduce the multiplayer on-site

meetings; and

(ix) Health education on prevention and treatment of infectious
diseases was carried out through Enterprise WeChat, video,
announcements, intranet and other multiple ways and channels,
epidemic prevention and hygiene was promoted, and the epidemic
information was simultaneously disclosed with the government,

allowing each employee to understand epidemic prevention clearly.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded | employee work-
related injury (2021: Nil), and lost 4.5 working days due to this work-
related injury (2021: Nil). During the past three years (including the

Reporting Period), the Group had no serious work-related casualties.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

We believe that the ongoing update of employees’ vocational knowledge
and skills is critical to the business development of the Group. To this
end, the Group has provided the employees with systematic training and
professional development to ensure that the employees could receive
training appropriate to their respective circumstances, so as to meet the

needs for continuous professional training by their respective vocations.

The Group always sticks to diversified business layout to provide
employees with the enriching and challenging work. We have built a
comprehensive training system and a dual-track development mechanism

for guiding the employees to discover more possibilities.
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The Group's training mainly includes corporate culture and
professionalism, business knowledge, information security, and legal and
regulatory knowledge update for new employees. During the Reporting
Period, the Group had |01 trained employees (2021: 58), of which 53
were male employees and 48 were female employees (2021: 39 male
employees and |9 female employees), and the total training hours by
category were 99.00 hours and 95.50 hours (2021: 550.00 hours and
272.00 hours), respectively; 8 were management and 93 were junior
employees (2021: 3 management, 6 mid-level and 49 junior employees)
and the total number of hours trained by category were 64.00 hours and
130.50 hours, respectively (2021: 20.00, 52.00 and 750.00 respectively);
the percentage of employees trained’ is approximately 26.17% (2021:
26.48%); the average number of hours trained per employee® is
approximately 0.50 hours (2021: 3.75 hours). The breakdown of training
by employee gender and employee type is shown in the following table:

Breakdown of Trained
Employees® (%)

IRIE - HERERHRS

NERNEIRNARETESE X bER X
16~ 25M#  EELE  RARZERAAE
MEMABE TIEN - RIREHERE > ~EBEH
BI101%ZHIET (20215 @ 58%) » Heh @53
HABMET » 4855 AL MBT Q0214 : 394
AHBEUMEBTRIVRALZMET) > MRNBES
S EF B Bl 299.00/)\BF 2 95.50/ B (2021 £E
550.00/)\BF % 272.00/\B5) ; SR ABIEE > 93
LANRET Q02 1F  3LEEE 62T ES
TUR49BTHBET) » MEDIEEZRED
Bl %5 64.00/)VBF K2 130.50/VBF (2021 £ © DRI A
20.00/)VEF » 52.00/)\EF K2 750.00/\BF) 5 3 &
TEDEE#%526.17% (2021 5 © 26.48%) ; B4
BT PR &4 20.50/V6F (2021 £ & 3.75
INEE) o BT MR REELERDEBIEIER
WTrEF -
Percentage of Trained  Employees’ Average Training

Employees'® (%) Hours'" (hours)

BT R
ZH 8 T RRAR° (%) ZIMETEDLE (%) BEE (/NEF)
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Indicators 517 20224 2021 20224 2021 20224 20214
Employees by gender 28 T 1454548
Male S 52.48 67.24 25.60 23.00 0.48 14.10
Female 7 47.52 32.76 26.82 14.00 0.53 14.30
Employees by BETEEHER
employment type VAR ]
Management BIEE 7.92 5.17 114.29 100.00 9.14 6.70
Mid-level employees HEET = 10.34 = 24.00 - 8.70
Junior employees YHET 92.08 84.49 27.11 18.00 0.38 15.30
Remarks: MtaE -

(7): The percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the total number
of employees trained during the reporting period by the average number of

employees at the beginning and end of the year.

(8):  The average number of training hours per employee is calculated by dividing the
total number of training hours of employees during the reporting period by the

average number of employees at the beginning and end of the year.

(9): The breakdown of employees trained by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees trained by the category in the reporting period by the total

number of employees trained in the reporting period.

) BHESEHHERRESNETESIAY
LU R EE AR E T AN WA E o

(8): BREIFHRIGHEKFEHNETHEE
BT BRI FE R e FRBIE T FIIAN T o
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(10):  The percentage of employees trained by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees trained by that category during the reporting period by the
average number of employees in that category at the beginning and end of the

year.

(I'l): The average number of training hours for employees by category is calculated by
dividing the number of training hours for that category during the reporting period
by the average number of employees for that category at the beginning and end

of the year.

Aspect B4: Labor Standards

The Group places much importance on and strictly complies with all
applicable national laws and local regulations in the places of operation,
and prohibits any unethical business practices. The Group has put in place
stringent recruitment procedures which require all candidates to provide,
prior to being hired, their identity documents such as identity card for
checking by the administration and human resources departments, so as
to avoid the recruitment of any child labor and other illegal labor. We
prohibit any forms of forced labor to ensure the employees could work on
a voluntary and lawful basis. VWWhen any violations are found, the Group will
conduct an investigation immediately, and make appropriate punishments
or dismiss the relevant employees according to the investigation results. If
necessary, the Group will report the violation to the local law enforcement
agency, and further improve the labor mechanism for the violation. During
the Reporting Period, no major violations of laws and regulations related
to the prevention of child labor and forced labor were found, nor were
there any discrimination incidents involving race, religion, age, disability, etc.
(2021: Nil).
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The work schedule of the employee represents the reasonable work
arrangement in the context of the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, which ensures they could have sufficient rest and a proper work—
life balance and provide excellent service. The Group may arrange over
time work as the circumstance demands, and provide compensation in
accordance with the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China and
other relevant labor laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, all
employees of the Group were at the age of |8 or over and were properly
employed and had complied with the relevant laws and regulations relating

to preventing child and forced labour, including but not limited to:

. Regulations on Labor Security Supervision

. Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor

. Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57

The Group strives to take preventive measures at the source, and is
confident that the above-mentioned illegal employment will not occur
in the future. The Group will regularly investigate the employment of
child labor and forced labor, and formulate relevant steps as necessary to

eliminate all possibilities of violations.

OUR SERVICE

With our credit card management platform serving as the foundation
and entry point, we develop and operate a dynamic and self-reinforcing
ecosystem addressing a spectrum of users’ financial needs. We enable our
users to apply for credit cards that suit their profile through our credit card
technology services, which in turn help them to build their credit record
and achieve better credit management. For credit users, such as users who
consider taking extra credits to satisfy their ongoing financial needs, they

may obtain appropriate online loans through our online platform.

We have developed in-depth cooperation with several financial
institutions in the areas of data application, credit analytics and risk
profiling. Leveraging the highly valuable traffic on our platform, our data
analytics capabilities and robust risk management capabilities, our platform
keeps attracting third-party business partners such as banks and external

online consumer finance platforms, etc.
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Leveraging on our Little Blue Book, corporate users can quickly identify
and accurately reach their customers, thus shortening their sales cycle and
improving sales efficiency. Individual users can also conduct convenient
search for the relevant information on registration, business dynamics and
financing activities of the domestic companies in the PRC to meet their

needs for such information in their daily life and work.

We constantly expand our new businesses. In May 2022, we established
the camp brand chain named "5 CAMP", with the aim to develop
the “2H" urban camping circle centered on peri-urban campsites and
complemented by remote campsites, and provide self-catering delicate
camping services. With mainly two types services, namely To C and To B,

it provides a variety of camping services for different types of customers.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Our business and internal systems rely on highly technical software and
processes. Failures in our information system could prevent us from
offering services. Therefore, ensuring the stable operation and continuous
development of our information system is of vital importance to our
sustainable development. The services provided by the Group’s suppliers
mainly include information technology services, consulting services,
professional services, SMS services and administrative services. In order
to avoid the decline in the overall performance and the increase in the
breakdowns of the information system caused by imperfect outsourcing
service safeguard systems, we have established the Management Measures
on Technology Service Outsourcing which stipulates the procedures
for selecting service providers for outsourcing information system
technologies to ensure that the suppliers are up to standard. Under the
policy, quotations from more than one supplier are required to be sought
for comparisons to ensure the fairness of supplier vetting. The Group
strives to adhere to the policy of engaging responsible outsourcers that
minimize the total emission of GHG, waste generated and resources
consumed. Before including a supplier into our list, we make a series of
examination with the qualifications, scale, performance, creditworthiness,
management regularity, environmental protection and other main aspects
being evaluated to ensure they could provide reliable and trustworthy
products or services in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC (such as anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist laws and

regulations).
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We also adopt a dynamic management approach in the process of
service provision by suppliers, and conduct daily performance evaluation
and regular assessment of outsourced personnel in order to ensure that
the quality of products and services that the Group purchases are up to
standard. Suppliers who are not up to standard for a prolonged period
of time will be disqualified. Suppliers are selected in accordance with
the relevant management measures of the Group on the principle of
openness, impartialness and faimess and by way of appropriate methods
such as bidding, etc. We carefully consider the environmental and social

risks of the suppliers to select the best ones.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had 85 suppliers (2021: 138), all

of which come from China.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Since the regulation on the Intemet finance Industry has been tightened
due to the impact of national policies, we have closely tracked policy
changes, raised the criteria of partners’ admission and proactively reduced
our business volume. In view of such new developments, we also
continuously enhance our technological and risk management capability,
so as to ensure the products and services we provided could meet the

demands of various stakeholders.

In addition, we are subject to strict regulation by Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology, local financial services offices and National
Internet Finance Association of China. During the Reporting Period, we
devoted a large amount of time and resources to ensure strict compliance
with laws, regulations, rules and policies relating to the industry regulation.
Details of these laws and regulations are set out in the following
paragraphs. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not discover any
major violations of laws and regulations related to product and service
quality, and due to the nature of the Group's business, it is not involved
in any circumstances that would require the recall of products sold or
shipped for health and safety reasons. The circumstances under which the
product was shipped are also inapplicable to disclosures regarding product

return procedures.
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Apart from the annual audit for annual report, we also have specific
audits on the key aspects such as clients’ fund management, information
disclosure and operational compliance, etc., for the purpose of risk control

and compliance with regulatory requirements.

During the reporting period, the Group strictly complied with relevant
laws and regulations on health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy
issues and remedies for our products and services provided, including but

not limited to:

. Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China

. Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Regulation for the Implementation of the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China

. Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Data Security Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Interim Measures for the Administration of Internet Advertising

. Self-Regulatory Convention on Marketing and Publicity Activities of
Internet Financial Practitioners (Trial)

. Regulations on the Administration of Public Account Information
Services for Internet Users

. Regulations on the Scope of Personal Information Required for
Common Types of Mobile Internet Applications

. Guiding Opinions of General Office of the State Council on
Strengthening the Protection of Rights and Interests of Financial
Consumers

0 Network Security Audit Regulations and its supporting regulations

. Several Provisions on Regulating the Market Order of Internet
Information Services

. Decision of the Standing Committee of the National People’s
Congress on Strengthening the Protection of Internet Information

. Regulations on the Protection of Personal Information of

Telecommunications and Internet Users
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. Information Security Technology and Personal Information Security
Specification

. Interpretation of the Supreme People’s Court and the Supreme
People's Procuratorate on Several Issues concerning the
Application of Law in the Handling of Criminal Cases of Infringing
on Citizens' Personal Information

. The Provisions of the Supreme People’s Court on Several Issues
concerning the Application of Law in the Trial of Civil Cases
Relating to Processing of Personal Information by Using the Facial
Recognition Technology

. Cap. 528 Copyright Ordinance

. Cap. 486 Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

. Cap. 362 Trade Descriptions Ordinance

Quality Assurance

We believe that high-quality products and services help companies build
a good reputation. Therefore, we are committed to ensuring that we
maintain high service standards and product quality with internal controls.
We maintain constant communication with our customers to ensure that
we understand and meet their needs and expectations, and to understand
their satisfaction so that we can continuously improve the quality of our
services. The Group strives to enhance its brand reputation by ensuring
the quality of its products and services. To reduce product liability risk, the
Group has established a “Product Quality Assurance Process” to ensure

strict compliance with internal quality standards for its products.

Complaint Handling

The Group is committed to providing customers with competitive
products and services through standardized service quality, professional
service process and humanized service management. We take all
complaints and suggestions seriously and regard them as an important
part of the continuous improvement of our service quality. We have
established a comprehensive customer service complaint system in
accordance with the "Customer Service Complaint Handling System”
to receive all customer complaints and suggestions from public opinion,
regulatory bodies, and media organizations. The Group has a special
department responsible for collecting this information, assigning
appropriate personnel to actively handle and follow up the complaints, and
we fully cooperate with any investigations by regulatory agencies to ensure

that our services can be improved.
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During the reporting period, we handled approximately 571 (2021: 380)

complaints about loan repayment issues made through external websites,

government departments, etc. The response rate for these complaints

was 100% (2021: 100%) and the response time was within 24 hours of

receipt of the complaint for the first call back. During the Reporting Period,

the external complaint resolution rate was approximately 96.6% (2021:
97.4%).

Marketing and promotional activities management

Due to the nature of our business, we only conduct limited marketing

and promotional activities. Nevertheless, we have formulated the Control

System for Marketing and Promotional Activities to strengthen our

product responsibility and ensure that our marketing and promotional

content can accurately reflect the quality of our products and service

content. The detailed guidelines are as follows:

0

(i)

(iii)

Business department shall only conduct marketing and promotional
activities in relation to business which is legally permitted to
operate, and shall ensure the content of such marketing and
promotion complied with the scope and content of the business

which is legally permitted to operate;

Prior to conducting any marketing and promotional activities, the
business department shall evaluate the relationship between such
activities and the potential contractual obligations, work out proper
plans and well address the engagement between such activities and
the related work, so as to protect the legal interests of Internet

finance consumers;

Marketing and promotional activities shall be conducted by
the business department in a moderate manner, the data and
information quoted should be true and accurate, and false or
misleading contents shall not be allowed when conducting

promotional activities; and
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(iv) In case of any marketing and promotional activity in cooperation
with a third-party, contract shall be entered into in accordance
with laws to specify the responsibilities of both parties in respect of
design, production, advertising and other related work. In addition,
we shall urge and supervise the third-party to fulfill its contractual
obligations, and ensure an effective implementation of the control

system for marketing and promotional activities.

Protection of intellectual property rights

In recent years, the nation has attached great importance to intellectual
property protection and supported enterprises to maintain their own
legal interests. In addition to our own efforts, we also made active
utilization of the relevant national policies and regulations to protect the
intellectual property of our brands, thus to continually improve our brand

competitiveness which in turn promised better services for users.

Trademarks are important intangible assets of the Group. For enhancing
trademark management, we have established the Management System for
Trademarks, and the Intellectual Property Management Policy to regulate
the naming, application and use of trademarks, and protect the trademark
proprietary rights of the Group and third-parties. The trademarks would
be centrally managed by the legal department after the application
of registration thereof, which would serve as the basis for the use of
trademarks. Without written authorization of the Group, no third-party is
permitted to use such trademarks on any similar products of the Group
or within the scope of such registration. With regard to the third-parties
authorized by the Group to use our registered trademarks, the relevant
business departments and the legal department would exercise necessary

supervision and regularly review their use of such trademarks.

In addition to the duties on trademark supervision performed by the
legal department, our employees will also notify, through the relevant
communication channels and mechanisms, to the legal department
any infringement on the Group’s trademarks by any third-parties. The
infringement, once verified through investigation, would be submitted
to the decision-making department, the legal department may decide
whether to report the infringement to the administration agencies for
Industry and commerce or initiate a lawsuit with the People's Court,
for the purpose to stop and crack down such trademark infringement

behavior.
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Protection of personal information

In order to improve the awareness of information security prevention
of employees and protect corporate information security, the Group
formulated 51 Credit Card Information Security General Policy and
Information Security Management System in accordance with the national
laws and regulations and its security management requirements. The
system follows the principles of “information security is everyone's
responsibility” and “who uses who is responsible”. All employees
should comply with the said systems, actively learn information security
knowledge, improve security prevention awareness and operational skills,
and jointly protect and maintain the Company's information security to

ensure the normal operation of the Company's various businesses.

Our credit management tool, 51 Credit Card Manager App, is the
cornerstone for the development of our financial services ecosystem.
We provide customers with our credit management service by obtaining
the credit card statements of our users primarily from the users’ email
accounts based on the users” authorization or from the users’” import. The
day-to-day operation of the credit card management platform involves
processing and storing a large amount of personal information of users,
which includes not only the basic personal information (including mobile
phone number or account information of social media) provided to us
at user registration, but also the credit card transaction records from
different banks, consumption history records for different occasions, and
repayment data through users’ life cycles. Our brand reputation is critical
to our business and competitiveness. Therefore, it is a critical task for us to
ensure the security of personal information on our platforms and comply
with the relevant laws and regulations relating to Internet security and

privacy protection.
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In order to keep alert for attacks from external or internal sources, we

have implemented the Information Security Management System, setting

out a series of the following measures to protect privacy and information

security, which are detailed as below:

)

(iii)

Encryption and privacy protection. Our platform employs
sophisticated Internet technology to effect multiple authentication
and encryption for data such as all the account information and
capital information, which shall not be disclosed without the
consent of our customers and the authorizations by relevant laws

and regulations;

Security technology support. We apply multi-layer firewall to
monitor the data security and our intrusion detection system would
make real-time feedback to prevent any intrusion and hence ensure

the information security;

Internal confidential measures. At the time of employment, the
human resource department have arranged the signing of formal
labor contract and confidentiality agreement with all employees.
The confidentiality agreement clearly provides for, among others,
the content subject to confidentiality and the validity term of the

agreement, etc,;

External access monitoring. When a third-party stays in the Group
for business purpose, the relevant department of the Company
shall be responsible for the management of such third-party and
arrange due registration with the administrative department.
Such third-party shall also sign a confidentiality agreement with
the Group to inform the third-party of the prohibited behavior.
We have strict regulations on the activities, limits of authority,
use of resources of such third-party at the Group. Without prior
approval, no confidential information shall be disclosed to any
person. It is strictly prohibited to copy, spread or disclose, without
our authorization, any confidential information such as customer'’s

identity and transaction records; and
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(v)  lrregular safety risk assessments. We hire external consultants from
time to time to conduct professional assessments on the potential
risks of network and personal information security, and make timely

rectifications.

In addition, we plan to enhance our technology and risk management
infrastructure, in particular for big data analysis and artificial intelligence
technology with the focus on anti-fraud, deep learning in image analysis,
behavior analysis, relationship mapping, automatic user interaction and
intelligent user operation. Specifically, investment in artificial intelligence

and big data will enable us, among others, to:

() Further develop facial recognition and voice recognition system to

minimize the risks of fraud;

(i) Increase the level of automation and precision of our interactive
Help Center that serves as a starting point for any question our

users may have; and

(i) Optimize our risk pricing capabilities in data processing and analysis.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Group believes that a clean corporate culture is the key to its
continued success. Therefore, we attach great importance to the
development of anti-corruption and anti-corruption systems and are
determined to eliminate any corrupt practices. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any material breach of laws and
regulations relating to the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, nor were there any concluded corruption proceedings

against the Group or its employees (202 1: Nil).

The Group strictly prohibits bribery and any form of corrupt practices. We
have procedures in place and strictly comply with the relevant laws and

regulations, including but not limited to the following:

. The Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China

. The Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People's Republic of China
. The Interim Provisions on Probation of Commercial Bribery

. The Company Law of the People's Republic of China

. The Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
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In order to regulate the smooth development of various anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorist financing of the Company, to clarify the
focus and division of responsibilities of anti-money laundering and anti—
terrorist financing, and to strengthen the supervision and management
requirements, the Company has developed the Management System
on Anti-corruption and Anti-terrorist Financing to monitor and report
any suspected money laundering activities in compliance with the
requirements of the Anti-money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Interim Measures for the Administration of the Business
Activities of Online Lending Information Intermediary Institutions and the
Measures for the Administration of Combating Money Laundering and
Financing of Terrorism by Providers of Internet Financial Services (Trial).

The anti-money laundering procedures include:

() The Finance Department took the lead in anti-money laundering
and anti-terrorist financing management, was responsible for
the process, design and implementation of customers’ identity
verification, established a monitoring and reporting system for anti-
money laundering and anti-terrorist financing, and issued relevant

reports for large-value transactions and suspicious transactions;

(i) Performing comprehensive analysis and assessment on the money-

laundering risks of loan applicants;

(i) The technology research and development center was responsible

for maintaining customer data and transaction records;

(iv)  The internal control department was responsible for the
supervision, inspection and publicity of the Company’s internal anti-

money laundering and anti-terrorist financing; and

(v)  The human resources department was responsible for organizing

anti-money laundering training.
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We have established the Anti-corruption Administration Rules which
define corruption behavior, and set rewards to encourage reporting and
provide reporting channels. We would take severe disciplinary action

against any staff conducting corruption.

The Group organizes anti-corruption training for all directors, including
introduction to anti-corruption laws and regulations and the roles and
responsibilities of directors, as well as updated reading and learning of
the Anti-Corruption Management System to raise awareness of directors
and staff on corruption, conflict of interest and integrity issues. During
the Reporting Period, 8 directors and 180 employees of the Group
received anti-corruption training for a total of approximately 8 hours and
160 hours respectively. Each Director has a responsibility to protect the
reputation of the Group and to build a good reputation by being honest
and trustworthy in their dealings with customers, business partners and

each other.
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Whistleblowing Mechanism

The Group is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
with an emphasis on accountability and a high degree of openness,
integrity and transparency so that the Group's stakeholders have trust and
confidence in the Group to take care of their needs and fulfill its social
responsibilities. To this end, the Group has established a Whistleblowing
Policy and a corresponding reporting mechanism to provide reporting
channels and guidelines for reporting possible misconduct, so that
employees and others who deal with the Group (such as customers and
suppliers) can raise any matter that may be improper about the Group,
both covertly and anonymously, and it is assured that the whistleblower
is under protection of the Group from any unfair disciplinary action or
harm. The Group prohibits retaliation and reserves the right to take
appropriate action against any person (employee or other interested
party) who harms, initiates or threatens to initiate retaliation against a
whistleblower. Employees who initiate or threaten retaliation will be
subject to disciplinary action, which may include immediate dismissal.
The Whistleblower may report any supporting evidence of suspected
misconduct, either orally or in writing, to the relevant department or to
the Group’s senior management. The management will then investigate
any suspected illegal activity. Any employee who willfully or irresponsibly

makes false or malicious allegations will be subject to disciplinary action.

OUR COMMUNITY

Aspect B8: Community Investment

We endeavour to shoulder more social responsibility by active
participation in public welfare activities, so as to give positive feedback to
the users and society for their caring and supports. Meanwhile, we also
wish increasing number of enterprises and users would be influenced by
our efforts to care about children in remote rural area, promoting healthy

and happy life for them.

At the same time, we have developed a system to encourage and support
our staff to volunteer after work, in the hope that by allowing them to
participate in community contributions, we can cultivate a sense of caring

and social responsibility among them.

N

’

IRIE - HERERHRS

IR

FEERNEFRENEEES > WA
REENAHR - BERBRE  BAEENE
PEHAERREERED » WREMPIAE
ERBTHEAEEET - Bt > AEBEFIFT(R
W) URABERRRES - LREREER
BMRBAIEFENTETRNES  EES
RHEMBXEREERE (WER RHER) B
e R U sE a7 VR B EA R SER R A
NAEFHE > WAERARERE K@t
REFRE > EXRTRFLEREDHBES - &&
ERUERETS  LREEEHEE - HEIAHE
HRBEFRRANEMA (B ISEMF) AR
) RECEBTEREN - FEAMBERENE
ITRRECREED > HPr] e RE LR E -
BRATUOBESEBEXEEBESBAIREE
BESREEERETEAIRTIETRIZFN
BE - EEEERREHETEIRIPETRE
TRE - EAEERLRENFEEEMIFL
ERUBEIEERRICRED °

HMWHE
BS/EME : HERH

BMRNEEEESHEEME > BERELT
EBURIEAR R ENRTEE - R
RMUAEBEESNTENROES %A
BREILERE  BRFMAOREERE

TREE o

BRI > RAIGET TG E - B RXF
EINIHEERSETIRT > HEEEEE
ETRG2HEMESR > BEETITHNAESH
Dkt & aER -

SHSEEERAS wnEEws 143

5




[]
[

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE s HHERERHRS

144

Set out below are some of our contributions and programmes in respect

of community investment during the Reporting Period:

In April 2022, the Group donated approximately RMB 2,000 in materials
and RMB 3,000 to Hangzhou Xiaoshan Auntie Qian Animal Rescue
Station to help stray animals in need. At the same time, the Group and
its employees have long been concerned about the learning problems
of underprivileged children and have therefore provided them with
appropriate assistance for their basic schooling through donations of
school fees. In July 2022, the Group donated approximately RMB6,000 to
the Zhejiang Dream-Come-True fund to provide annual tuition fees for

poor students in Sichuan and Gansu.

In 2022, 51 CAMP actively participated in rural revitalization activities and
supported various public welfare projects in the districts and counties
where the camps are located. For example, Fuyang Huyuan Camp
donated RMB10,000 to the Education Foundation of Hangzhou Fuyang
District People’s Government, as well as RMB2,000 to support the
construction of temples in the village; Lin'an Linglong Camp purchased
RMB5,000 of rice for the elderly in Qianshan Village of Linglong Town,

where it is located, on the occasion of the Chung Yeung Festival.
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TR o
ZHONGHUI

To the Shareholders of 5| Credit Card Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 51 Credit Card Inc.
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages |58 to 323, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 3|1 December 2022, and the consolidated statement
comprehensive loss, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 3| December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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As disclosed in Note 35 to the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, Beijing Shouhui Kaizhou Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shouhui
Kaizhou"), who, through its subsidiaries (collectively, the “SK Group”),
holds a valid payment business license (the “Payment License”), was
acquired by the Group from the former shareholder of Shouhui Kaizhuo

in December 2017.

In or around early August 2022, Mr. Yang Fan, the former controlling
shareholder of Shouhui Kaizhuo, had restricted the management of SK
Group from contacting the staff of the Group, and the Group had since
3 August 2022 (the “Date of Deconsolidation™) been unable to carry out
workplace communication with SK Group and also unable to access all
the books and records of SK Group. The Group considered that since the
Date of Deconsolidation, the Group is unable to (i) control the operation
and finance of SK Group; (i) obtain the books and records of SK Group;
(iii) obtain report from the management of SK Group on business matters;

and (iv) direct the future development of SK Group.

In light of the above circumstances, the Group considered it had lost
control over SK Group and had excluded the consolidated financial
position of SK Group as at and after the Date of Deconsolidation and the
results and cash flows of SK Group since the Date of Deconsolidation
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year

ended 3| December 2022 (the “Deconsolidation”).

The Group has been taking protective measures such as (i) taking legal
action against SK Group for the repayment of loans of an aggregate of
RMB101,425,800 to the Group; (ii) obtaining an order from the court
to freeze the bank accounts of operating companies of SK Group; and
(iif)y commencing legal proceedings against the relevant individuals and
entities (collectively, the “Legal Proceedings”). Due to the uncertainty
of the outcome of the Legal Proceedings, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the

Deconsolidation of SK Group was appropriate.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Cont'd)

Due to the insufficient supporting documents and relevant explanations
on the accounting books and records in respect of SK Group and its
operations, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to whether (i) the Deconsolidation of SK Group
on the Date of Deconsolidation and the loss on Deconsolidation of
approximately RMB30,956,000; (ii) the income and expenses for the
years ended 3| December 2022 and 2021; (iii) the assets and liabilities as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021; and (iv) the segment information and
other related disclosure notes in relation to the Group, as included in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group, have been accurately
recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial

statements:

(a)  Income and expenses
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(a) WAKFHZ

For the years ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2022 2021

20224 202148

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARETT AREBF T

Payment service fee SR E 152,945 78,560
Origination and servicing expenses WEIE R AR TS R =2 (128,431) (68,778)
General and administrative expenses — M RITHAZ (12,719) 24411)
Sales and marketing expenses HE REHMAS (1,000) (148)
Impairment loss on payment license (T hR BRI (B R 1R - (148,903)

Fair value loss on financial liabilities BARBEGFABaNEMEE

at fair value through profit or loss NAEEEBE (5,061) (704)
Profit/(loss) before tax brfRpnEA, (B548) 5,734 (164,384)
Income tax credit PRIk % 77,550 37,226
Profit/(loss) for the year REE @A (E518) 83,284 (127.158)
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(b)

©

(d

148

RESREE(E

Assets and liabilities (b) BEREE
As at 31 December
RI2A3IBLEFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
Cash and cash equivalents BENIEESEEY = 14,346
Restricted cash S IR&IIHE - 36,666
Trade receivables B 5 R WRIE - 601
Prepayments and other receivables a1 R H it IE = 4,806
Property and equipment, net MER&REFE - 2,031
Intangible assets S E - 310,200
Trade payables E Z EARIE - (11,920)
Other payables H At (I FRIE - (38,253)
Payables for equity investments e B R RIE - (214,825)
Financial liabilities at fair value through KETRDZE AN EBEST AERE
profit or loss on unissued shares R = - (8,074)
Deferred tax liabilities BELERIEEE - (77,500)
Commitments and contingent liabilities in relation to SK Group and its (c) HEREFRAEZLEFHIEAEREAE
operations =i
No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves as to HMREREEHES » BRMPAEHNERE
the existence and completeness of the disclosures of commitments BEERREERR2022FE K202 E 12
and contingent liabilities in relation to SK Group and its operations B3 B AR AEBREFEEL
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. WE o
Related party transactions and disclosures in relation to SK Group and (d) HERERRAEEEERRIER X5
its operations W EE

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves as
to the existence, accuracy and completeness of the disclosures of
the related party transactions for the year ended 3| December
2022 and 2021 and balances as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 in
relation to SK Group and its operations as required by International

Accounting Standard 24 (Revised) “Related Party Disclosures”.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Cont'd)

Any adjustments to the figures described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group'’s consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3| December
2022 and 2021 and the related disclosure thereof in the consolidated

financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Intemational Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code’”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in

our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)
Refer to notes 5 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had recognized revenue
of credit facilitation and service fee of approximately RMBI 14 million. As at
31 December 2022, the amount of QAF payable amounted to approximately
RMB22 million.

The total proceeds from borrowers generally includes the services fees for
facilitating loan origination and for providing ongoing monthly services, and
contribution to the QAF payable, which provides a protection mechanism to

investors of the loans.

Of the total proceeds from borrowers, the portion meeting the definition of
a financial guarantee is first allocated to the QAF payable at fair value, and the
remaining amount is then allocated to credit facilitation and service fee. The initial
recognition of QAF payable is based on the determination of the estimated loss

rate of the financial guarantee.

We identified the recognition of revenue and QAF payable as a key audit matter
taking into consideration of i) the recognition of revenue and QAF payable
relies on the Group's self-developed IT systems which process a large volume
of revenue transactions and transfer the operational data for financial reporting
process; ii) the magnitude of the credit facilitation and service fee and QAF
payable recognized; and iii) the significant judgements applied by management in

the recognition of revenue and QAF payable.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Our audit procedures included, among others:

. Obtaining an understanding of the management'’s assessment process of

recognition of revenue and QAF payable;

. Inspecting supporting documents to evaluate the key controls in respect
of recognition of revenue and QAF payable, including the management's
review and approval process over the determination of estimated loss rate

of the financial guarantee;

. Testing the general control environment and automated controls of the
information technology system and interface between the operating and

financial systems;

. Testing on a sample basis on revenue transactions by checking the cash
receipts/payments, reviewing the underlying contracts, identifying the key
terms and attributes from the contracts, obtaining the underlying data
from the system used in the transaction processes, and recalculating the

revenue amount;

. Obtaining management's calculation of the estimated loss rate and testing,

on a sample basis, the major underlying data; and

. Testing the mathematical accuracy of the estimated loss rate.

We consider that the Group's recognition of revenue and QAF payable is

supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)
Refer to notes 4.1.2, 12, 24, 25 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 3| December 2022, the Group's gross loans to customers and contract
assets amounted to approximately RMB460 million and approximately RMB638
million, and a loss allowance of approximately RMB280 million and approximately
RMB603 million was recognized, respectively; the exposure of quality assurance
fund receivable (“QAF receivable”) amounting to approximately RMB52 million
and the loss allowance of QAF receivable and QAF payable amounting to

approximately RMB36 million and RMB22 million respectively was recognized.

The Group assesses whether the credit risk of loans to customers, contract
assets, QAF receivable and payable have increased significantly since their
initial recognition, and apply an impairment model to calculate their ECL. In
assessing the ECL, management use the risk parameter modelling approach
that incorporates various parameters, including the portfolio segmentation,
parameters estimation, criteria for determining whether or not there is a
significant increase in credit risk (“SICR"), or credit-impaired and economic

indicators for forward-looking scenarios.

We identified the measurement of ECL as a key audit matter due to i) the
magnitude of the loss allowance for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF
receivable and payable; and i) complex calculation models, significant judgement

and assumptions used by management in determining the ECL.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Our audit procedures included, among others:

. Obtaining an understanding of the management'’s assessment process of

measurement of ECL;

. Understanding, evaluating and testing the internal controls related to
ECL for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF receivable and payable,
primarily including the review and approval of portfolio segmentation,
parameters estimation, criteria for determining whether or not there is
a SICR, or credit-impaired and economic indicators for forward-looking

scenarios;

. Reviewing the modelling methodologies for ECL measurement, and
assessing the reasonableness, based on our industry knowledge with
reference to the industry benchmarks, of the portfolio segmentation and

key parameters estimation;

o Examining the calculation for model measurement on a sample basis,
to test whether or not the measurement models reflect the modelling

methodologies documented by the management;

. Selecting sample of loans, to assess the appropriateness of management'’s

identification of SICR, defaults and credit-impaired loans;

. Reviewing the management's model analysis of their selection of economic
indicators, economic scenarios and weightings employed, assessing the
reasonableness of the prediction of economic indicators and reviewing
sensitivity analysis of economic indicators performed by management for

forward-looking measurements; and

O Examining major data inputs to the ECL models on selected samples,
including historical data and data at the measurement date, to assess their

accuracy and completeness.

We consider that the Group’s measurement of ECL is supported by the available

evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. As
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about Deconsolidation of subsidiaries.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information is

materially misstated with respect to these matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

BREMMEBEZ G MBHRRARKENEE

RANERASEREG M BRRERBME 27
TEHRNIMEFRERME R B ASRRERL > W3 R #
BRMERNOZHBEARE - RFIEEET ((FREE)
BRERMNER » BFIEZ I EEMAR o HALE
REABRENABTREETMNEERNAEAEMALE
B - GEFRERSKTHRE » BFERERR(H
RESERD) ETHER  EE —ERHRREEE
R AR AESE IR o SERRMRAL P RIEREF S EAERM AL - H(E
AHBERESERRBERA TR ECRERERSH
BEERARAFHBIEERERF - BIRAR AE KRR o

ERBEFRESAERETEZNERET > RAERE

$YEF > RIEFEERELE - R

« HARETEERNERGFRERMER GG FHR
REEEAERRANER - KT RRAITEZ
BFEUEHZERAR  URESRANBEERN
BEEE > FRAMAERNER - HRNEREEH
YRR G BRER - ERRIIE
BABPEZENIER » EIEREZIBARFME
HHNEBEAHERRERR S AREZERAER

[ EGNERAN = Gl

« THRESZEBNAREE > URFBEENSE
ZAERF o ELIFEEY BSEERIEENA
MIEBERER -

« FAESFRRAGSERNGEERFER G
fEEtAARRAIRER MY IR ©

2022 FEEHRE 155



Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate treats of

safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05988
Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

Year ended 3| December

BE12A3IHILEEE

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MIsE ARETT AREFT
Credit facilitation and service fee SERSMREE 5 113,799 23741 |
Payment service fee Y RS E 152,945 78,560
Credit card technology service fee ERERYREE 27,739 39,902
Saa$ service fee SaaSHRFS & 50,011 32,716
Other revenue H s 6 50,145 51,509
Total revenue W as4agE 395,739 440,098
Origination and servicing expenses IR R ARFSRE 2 8 (332,724) (265,232)
General and administrative expenses — A ETEREY 8 (95,418) (101,110)
Research and development expenses e 8 (28,811) (50,188)
Sales and marketing expenses THE R EHMS 8 (31,569) (53,429)
Expected credit gain/(loss), net FERA(S AUk E S (385%) 328 12 84,986 (15,398)
Other losses, net Hithisa,%%8 |3 (32,938) (154,042)
Total operating expenses B 4 (436,474) (639,399)
Operating loss KSR (40,735) (199,301)
Share of net loss of associates accounted DIEE AT EARME = AT
for using equity method 518788 20 (11,923) (2.121)
Fair value loss of financial liabilities at fair value BARBESTABGHNEREE
through profit or loss NAREBEEE (3,350) (1,961)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries B AT IE4FZE ABENETE 35 (30,956) =
Finance expenses, net B R 35 14 (7,431) (7,525)
Loss before income tax PREREFRAIESIE (94,395) (210,908)
Income tax expenses FriSfiRx 15 (3,234) (49,793)
Loss for the year FEEE (97,629) (260,701)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTRIBE(LFEERIE .
— Owners of the Company /NI TN (82,697) (233,687)
— Non-controlling interests — JEIERG (14,932) (27,014)
(97,629) 260,701
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

Year ended 3| December

BE12A3IHLEEE

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR%ET T AREETFTT
Other comprehensive loss Hih 2 HEEE
Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss FEEN S EEEmAIEE
Change in fair value attributable to change in the  ZA RABEST ABEHN
credit risk of other financial liability designated at HthsraEEHERME
fair value through profit or loss BEEHMNA RN EEES (1,286) (1,777)
Currency translation differences BisimE = 3,443 3,425
Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax FE R EEE4E%E > {IPRIRIE (95,472) (259,053)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: UTRIEEGEEEEEAE%E ©
— Owners of the Company —ARREHEBA (81,853) (235,243)
— Non-controlling interests — IR R (13,619) (23,810)
(95,472) (259,053)
Loss per share attributable to owners of TATEE ANELESRER
the Company
— basic and diluted —EXxR#E
(expressed in RMB per share): (BRRIUNREZIT) :
Loss for the year — basic FRNEE—EHA& 16 (0.07) (0.19)
Loss for the year — diluted FREE—#E l6 (0.07) (0.19)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive loss should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2022
112022412831

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

FfEE AR%T T ARMETFTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property and equipment, net L EINE R D] |7 102,464 104,732
Right-of-use assets FREEE |18 13,887 5,392
Intangible assets W B E 19 40,717 349,140
Investments accounted for using equity method FHEETZEAENKEE 20 31,660 44161
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss HARBETAEBENESHEE 21 69,291 83,780
Deferred income tax assets IRIEFREIRNE E 22 5,386 8,632
Prepayments and other receivables fa(HIE R  H i ER IR 23 1,073 292
Total non-current assets JERE BT EEE 264,478 596,129
Current assets TRENE E
Quality assurance fund receivable EWESHFRES 24 16,443 28,797
Contract assets BHEE 25 34,875 86,519
Trade receivables B2 =g 26 18,968 19,163
Prepayments and other receivables SERNEREY A=l e 23 116,375 131,573
Loans to customers, net AR EHRRE 27 179,725 158,498
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss HARBESTAEENESHEE 21 = 295
Restricted cash S IR&IIR e 28(b) 128,827 225,092
Cash and cash equivalents PERIREZEEY 28(a) 376,813 313,148
Total current assets REIEEAE 872,026 963,085
Total assets BHEHRE 1,136,504 1,559,214
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 3| December 2022
12022& 128318

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

MIzE ARETT AREFT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmkaE
Equity R
Share capital B% s 29 90 90
Reserves 15 30 712,347 765,157
Non-controlling interests JEFE PG R T (1,215) (6,501)
Total equity S4B %E 711,222 758,746
Liabilities aE
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Bank and other borrowings BT REMER 32 13,170 20,540
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 6,589 1,051
Deferred income tax liabilities IRIEFREIREE 22 = 77550
Total non-current liabilities e AaEMERE 19,759 99 141
Current liabilities B B=RE
Quality assurance fund payable EREEREE 24 21,713 59,681
Payable to platform customers FEEESE B HIT 75,389 79467
Contract liabilities = oh=NE 25 16,347 16,481
Bank and other borrowings BT EEMER 32 166,687 171,943
Lease liabilities HE&E 18 6,600 3,551
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMEN IR 33 66,056 318,169
Income tax payable FE(S PR1SHR - 927
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss #Z'A ABEFF AT A E 34 52,731 51,108
Total current liabilities mENEELELE 405,523 701,327
Total liabilities BEenE 425,282 800,468
Total equity and liabilities S RaEEzE 1,136,504 [,559214

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction — _E#E#AR & B AR ST 2 FE L2 B [T i a3 — BT 8 o
with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 158 to 323 were approved by 25 58 E323EHT#I 2 & & MBI KL 2023F3831 H

the Board of Directors on 3| March 2023 and were signed on its behalf. EEEgiE > WHTMIAREE
Sun Haitao Wu Shan
migs S
Director Director
55 55
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARER R
Shares
held for
employee Non-
Share Share incentive Accumulated controling
capital premium schemes Reserves [osses Sub-total interests Total
H{FER
SEItE
ks RiEE Bi(n e  RHER Mt SEEkERD )
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AEBTT  ARETR ARETRn ARBTR ARETR ARETRn ARBTR ARETR
(Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 30)
(W) (9 (ER9)  (W30)
Asat | January 2021 202141818 90 6136837 (1) 45843)  (5.121460) 969,613 11973 981,586
Comprehensive loss 2EHR
Loss for the year ERER = = - - (233,687) (233,4687) Q7014) (260,701)
Change in fair value attributable to RAREENAERN
change in the credit nisk of financial SREREEARN
liabilty at fair value through profitorloss ~ EMLEBMALEE
(Note 30) £ (5530) - - - (1,777) - (1,777) - (1,777)
Currency translation differences (Note 30)  EHHAZZE (Hi5430) - = = ] = 2 3204 3425
Total comprehensive loss PEBEEE - = = (1,556) (233,687) (235243) (23810) (259,053)
Transactions with owners as HERFEEUR
their capacity as owners FEENSMER
Y]
Share incentives exercised and vested BIEREBRAKE
(Notes 29 and 30) (RiE295230) = 15,962 (15403) - 560 - 560
Share incentives awarded under share RAREIEETRE
incentive plan (Note 30) M1 528 (PiF330) - - = 30317 - 30317 533 35,653
Total transactions with owners as BEGMAENE
their capacity as owners FAZENSHET
KR BER - 15962 14914 - 30877 53% 36213
Asat 31 December 2021 #2021 512R8318 90 6152799 (10) (32485 (5.3%5.147) 765,47 (6501) 758,746
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG PN
Shares
held for
employee Non-
Share Share incentive Accumulated controlling
capital premium schemes Reserves losses Sub-total interests Total
H{FER
BEtEl
Ry ROEE il i RoBH it R st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR ARETR ARRTR ARETR ARETR ARKTRT ARETR
(Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 30)
(W) (Meke) (&) (W30
As at | January 2022 R’unEIBIR 90 6,152,799 (10) (32485)  (5,355,147) 765,247 (6,501) 758746
Comprehensive loss 2EGR
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (82,697) (82,697) (14932) (97,629)
Change in fair value attributable to RAREENAERN
change in the creditrisk of financial SREREEARN
liabilty at fair value through profitorloss ~ EMLEBMALEE
(Note 30) 28 (Hz530) - - - (1,286) - (1,28¢) = (1,286)
Currency translation differences (Note 30) SRS EEA (f3£30) - = - 2,130 - 2,130 1313 3443
Total comprehensive loss 2EEEAE - - - 844 (82697) (81,853) (13619 (95472)
Transactions with owners as HEZREENE
their capacity as owners FEENSMER
1%
Share incentives exercised and vested EfTERGBRNIEE
(Notes 29 and 30) (R295230) - 6,530 - (6,530) - - - -
Share incentives awarded under share RIFEE G EIE TR
incentive plan (Note 30) R0 528 (FiF330) - - - 29,04 - 29043 4766 33,809
Deemed acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36) B fElEE—FIIBAT
(HzE36) - - - - - - 9:860 9.860
Capital contributions by non-controling WBAREERERN
interest of subsidianies =t = = = = = = 4279 4279
Total transactions with owners as BERMEENL
their capacity as owners FEENSHESRT
MR REE - 6,530 - 22513 - 29,043 18,905 47948
As at 31 December 2022 BonEnA3IA 90 6,159,329 (10) (9,128)  (5437.844) 712437 (1,215) 71122
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction — _F #liA= & 7 75 5 B < JFE B BB T B M 5 — T8 o
with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

Year ended 3| December

HZENA3IBLEE

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
FiEE AT T ARETFT

Operating activities REEE)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations RESELE (B IRS 127,295 21411)
Income tax paid [=ANIFIEEE (915) (1481)
Net cash generated from/(used) in operating ESEEEL (FRA)IREREE

activities 38 126,380 (22,892)
Investing activities KREES
Investments in associate accounted for using fEREmEARD

the equity method REERTNEE (34,000) (17,000)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36) Y B — IR B A B (FsE36) 5016 =
Repayments from/(loans to) related parties REER R REEE S (B 8,785 (41,648)
Proceeds from disposal of a debt host security HEEHESERIE = 4,594
Investments in wealth management products RIER E RN E - (55.298)
Proceeds from disposals of wealth management HE IR EmPTERUE

products - 55,000
Purchases of property and equipment BEMERSE (18,415) (1.813)
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE (4,705) (464)
Disposal of property and equipment HEMERRZE 6,318 |34
Net cash used in investing activities REEHFFARESREE (37,001) (56,495)
Financing activities BB RS
Proceeds from restricted share units vested and BB RAEENZ RS IR

settled B{IPTSIA - 253
Cash received from capital contribution of WIEIERG IS R A B BNV IR &

non-controlling shareholders 4,279 =
Proceeds from borrowings R ] 5,000 90,000
Repayment of borrowings Bz (26,738) (104,298)
Principal elements of lease payments HMENRNEERD (6,139) (4,196)
Net cash used in financing activities REEEFTRIRE 3 (23,598) (18,241)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RERIREEEY

and cash equivalents @, CRil) F 48 65,781 (99.536)
Effect of exchange rate changes EREHHNZE (2.116) (1,908)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FYIRERBEESEEY) 313,148 412,684
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRFBEMREEFEY 376,813 313,148

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

51 Credit Card Inc. (the “Company) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 2| September 2017 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is at Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket
Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY |- 103, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since |3 July
2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of financial technology services and Saa$S services in the People's

Republic of China (“China’, or the “PRC").

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB'000) except when otherwise

indicated.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRSs and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”),
International Accouting Standards, (“lAS”), and Interpretations. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation

of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements of the
Group in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumption and estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgement and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated

financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 below.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group incurred
a continuous net loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately RMB82,697,000. In addition, the Group's business
results and liquidity position have been and will likely continue to be

adversely impacted by the following factors:

(1) the ongoing outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") pandemic which put considerable downward
pressure on the economy in the PRC, and caused the
decline of the willingness for personal consumptions and the

demands for personal consumer credit; and

(2)  anincrease in credit risk associated with the personal credit
market as a result of the current market conditions, leading
the Group to adopt a more prudent strategy towards its
credit facilitation business and focusing on customers with

better credit quality.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

In view of the above circumstances, management has given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient funds to fulfill its financial obligations and
continue as a going concern. Management has prepared cash flow
projections of the Group covering a period of not less than twelve

months from 3| December 2022.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have reviewed the
Group's cash flow projections and are of the opinion that, taking
into account the Group'’s available funds and forecast cash flow
from ongoing businesses, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations
and commitments for the twelve months from year end of these
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the Directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial

statements on a going concern basis.

2.1.1" Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting

Standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised IFRSs that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on | January
2022. The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs did
not result in significant changes to the Group's accounting
policies, presentation of the Group's financial statements and

amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new IFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The application of these
new IFRSs is not expected to have material impact on the

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect

those returns through its power over the entity.

The Group has the power over an entity when the Group
has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns. When assessing control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by the other parties, to determine whether it
has control. A potential voting rights is considered only if
the holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from

the date that control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company's share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related

accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with

the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss as an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between the non-controlling

shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognized directly in equity and

attributed to the owners of the Company.

2 EXg

(@)

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Agreements

Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co., Ltd.
("Zhenniu Information™) entered into a series of contractual
agreements (collectively, “structured entities agreements'’’)
with Hangzhou Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Enniu
Network) and the direct equity owners of Enniu Network,
and Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Limited (“Hangzhou
Jiahao") and the direct equity owners of Hangzhou Jiahao,
who are affiliated with the Company. Through these

contractual agreements, Zhenniu Information is able to:

. Exercise effective control over Enniu Network,
Hangzhou Jiahao and their subsidiaries (collectively,

“the structured entities”);

. Receive substantially all of the economic benefits and
residual returmns, and absorb substantially all the risks
of expected losses as if it were the sole shareholder;

and

. Have an exclusive option to purchase all of the equity

interest in the structured entities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)
Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Agreements

(Cont'd)

The Group evaluated the relationships and contractual
arrangements among Zhenniu Information, the structured
entities and their direct equity owners and concluded that
Zhenniu Information is the primary beneficiary in the variable
interest arrangement. As a result, the results of operations,
assets and liabilities of the structured entities have been

included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the structured entities agreements, the Group
has the power to direct activities of the structured entities
and can have assets transferred out of the structured entities
under its control. Therefore, the Group considers that
there is no asset in any of the structured entities that can
be used only to settle obligations of the structured entities,
except for registered capital and PRC statutory reserves. As
the structured entities are incorporated as limited liability
companies under the PRC Company Law, lenders of the
structured entities do not have recourse to the general
credit of the Group for any of the liabilities of the structured

entities.

Currently there is no contractual arrangement which
requires the Group to provide additional financial support
to the structured entities. However, as the Group conducts
its businesses primarily based on the licences and approvals
held by its structured entities, the Group has provided and
will continue to provide financial support to the structured
entities considering the business requirements of the
structured entities, as well as the Group’s own business

objectives in the future.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Other structured entities through trust arrangements

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so
that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in
deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting
rights relate to administrative tasks only, and the relevant

activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements.

The Group’s structured entities include trust schemes. These
trust schemes are managed by unaffiliated trust companies

and invest the funds raised in loans to individuals (Note 27).

According to the trust scheme agreements, the Group is
considered as the primary beneficiary of the trusts and also
has the power to direct the activities of the trusts. As a result,
the results of operations, assets and liabilities of the trusts
have been included in the Group's consolidated financial

statements.

Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of
acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred
and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognized as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. |dentifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at

their acquisition-date fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(9)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Business combination and goodwvill

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognized
in consolidated comprehensive loss as a gain on bargain

purchase which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognized in consolidated comprehensive loss. The fair
value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the

goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognized in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income), the
amount that was recognized in other comprehensive income
is recognized on the same basis as would be required if the

previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of measuring
impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognized in
consolidated comprehensive loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition

for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders' proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable

assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(b)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries (including structured entities) are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividends exceeds the total comprehensive loss of
the subsidiary in the year the dividends declared or if the
carrying amount of the investments in the separate financial
statements exceed the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(©

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Principal subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31

December 2022 are set out below:

Place of incorporation and

2

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

EXRESHBRBE (@)

(c) ZE LA

1R20225F 12831 HAREB B EEH
BABEBEHIWT :

Percentage of attributable
equity interest
[ Epi

Principal activities and

Name of entity Date of incorporation  kind of legal entity Registered capital s at 3| December 2022 place of operation

Biaai e A AMRIMEREARE  2fES MmENRIR FEREREEM

Beijing Shouhui Kaizhuo Technology Co, Ltd. 12 May 2006 PRC limited liability company RMB5,887,000 0% (Note 35) Technology services in the PRC
(*Shouhui Kaizhuo)

IRESHENEERAT (BEHL)) 006555128 hE EREEAT ARES8670007  (HfzE35) REEERRE

Bejing Shouhui Shidai Information Technology 14 May 2012 PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 0% (Note 35) Technology services in the PRC
Co, Ltd. ("Shouhui Shidai")

IRESHARERIARAT 012458148 TE EREEAT AR%100000007  (HfzE35) RPEEER R
U=Es0)

Bejing Yakushikong Digital Business Co, Ltd. 28 August 2009 PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000000 0% (Note 35) Technology services in the PRC

IREERERTEEARAT 200985288 TE EREAAT AR100,000,0007% 0% (Note 35) R KR

Beijing Yaku Shikong Information Exchange 23 March 2005 PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 Prepaid card issuance and acceptance
Technology Co, Ltd. (*Yaku Shikong") and intemet payment in the PRC

IREEREEECARIARAR 005538230 hE EREEAT AR 1000000007 PHREEREFETRERR

(THEET))
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(“China Netcom”)
R RRERERLE (MFER))
Enniu Network

B

Fuzhou Enniu Network Technology Co, Ltd.

N TR BRI R AT

Hangzhou Jizhao Technology Co,, Ltd.

MNEFREAERAT

Hangzhou Liniu Assets Management Co, Ltd.

A EEEEERAT

Hangzhou Shangniu Information Technology
Co, Ltd

i EERIERAT

Hangzhou Shangniu Investment Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership)

i REERABLE (BRED)

Hangzhou Shangniu Network Technology
Co, Ltd

B REREERAT

I1 November 1999

1999% 18118
2 August 2012

01E882A
23 June 2017
017568330
6 August 2019
2019588 165
2 April 2016
0I6F480A
16 March 2016

2016838160
19 May 2017

017558198
12 December 2014

014E12812A8

Cayman Islands, imited liability
company

BEHE BREMAT

PRC, limited liability company

e AREAAT
PRC, limited liability company
hE EREELT
PRC, limited liability company
hE EREALAT
PRC, limited liability company
hE EREALAT
PRC, limited liability company

e AREAAT

PRC, Limited Liability Partnership

e ARERGH
PRC, limited liability company

e BREAAT

RS

HK$110,000000 39.16% Investment holding in the Cayman

Islands
RRSCERBER

Development and operation of

1100000007
RMB500,000,000 100%
applications in the PRC

AR 500,0000007 ReELERRERERES
RMB200,000,000 100% Micro loan services in the PRC
AR E2000000007 RAELE ) BERRE

RMBI000000 100%
ARH1,00000078
RMB205250000  100%
B 20625000078
RMBI0,000000 100%

Technology services in the PRC

N

Post-loan management in the PRC

ReEAEERER

Development and operation of
applications in the PRC

AEH10000,0007 ROECERAE R REE

RMB240,000,000 89.58% Investment management in the PRC
AR 82400000007 REEEREEE

RMB3,125,000 100% Technology services in the PRC

AEH3 1250007 RAEAEE SRR
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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2

176

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Cont'd)
(c)  Principal subsidiaries (Cont'd)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31
December 2022 are set out below: (Cont'd)

Place of incorporation and

ERESHBRBE (D)

(c) ETEMBAEHE)

1R20225F 12831 HAREB B EEH
BABEBEHINWT : (&

Percentage of attributable
equity interest
[ Epi

Principal activities and

Name of entity Date of incorporation  kind of legal entity Registered capital s at 3| December 2022 place of operation

BRAE EAAEEE AMAIEREARE  dEfRES MmENAIE  TEERREEM

Hangzhou Wuyao Technology Co, Ltd. 25)uly 2014 PRC, limited liability company RMB500,000000 100% Development and operation of
applications in the PRC

INEARBARAT WI4E7A5A hE ARAEAT AB$500000,0007 ReRAERRRREREE

Hangzhou Xingniu Information Technology 20 October 2017

Co, Ld.

IMEFEENRARAT WI7%10A20H
Hangzhou Panniu Financing and Guarantee 24 May 2018

Co, Ltd,("Hangzhou Panniu”)
MNEFREERERAR (IMET) 2018E5A4A
Zhenniu Information 16 November 2017
RS WITEIB16H
Hefei Liniu Information Technology Co, Ltd. 5 December 2018
AEAFRERIARAT WIsENASH

Shanghai [ingjia Network Technology Co, Ltd. 17 December 2010

LERERENEERLT WI0£128178
Shanghai Qiandian Information Technology 27 May 2009

Co, Ltd. ("Qiandian Information”)
LEmEERNEERAT (HEER) 2009558278

Shanghai Qingniu Business Information |8 September 2013

Consutting Partnership (Limited Partnership)
LERAEBERAIABLE
(BRE®)
Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Co, Ltd.

2013898180

14 December 2015

LR RENEERAT WISENAI4H
Shenzhen Mihuanlaile Technology Co, Ltd 05 January 2021
AIBERTHEERAT 021%1A85H
Shenzhen Xiaolanben Network Technology 21 May 2019

Co, Ltd. (*Shenzhen Xiaolanben”)
R EXRERITERAR I9%5A21A

(TRIVNER))
Tianjin Lance Business Management Consufting 13 May 2019
Partnership (Limited Partnership)
REERCRERIIABLE
(BRE%)

2019858138
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PRC, limited liability company

e AREAAH
PRC, limited liability company

e BREAAA
PRC, limited liability company
e BREAAH
PRC, limited liability company
e AREAAT
PRC, limited liability company

e AREAAT
PRC, limited liability company

e BREAAH
PRC, Llimited Liabilty Partnership

hE BREMAH
PRC, limited liability company
e BREAAH
PRC, limited liability company
e AREAAT
PRC, limited liability company
e AREAAT

PRC, Limited Liability Partnership

e BRERAH

RMB400,000000 100%

AR 400,000,000
RMB300000000  100%

AEH300,00000078
RMB2O00000000  100%
B 2,000,000,0007
RMBI 000000 100%
ARH1,00000078
RMB400000000  100%

AEH5400,0000007
RMB325000000  100%

ARH325,000,0007
RMB200,000 100%

ARH2000007T

RMB150,000000 100%

AR 15000000070

RMB300,000 100%
ARH5000007T
RMBI5,802,000 7386%

AR15,802,0007
RMB2,750000 100%

ARH2.750,0007

Technology services in the PRC

REEER R

Financing guarantee services in the PRC

ReEAERERRRE
Technology services in the PRC
R B AR
Technology services in the PRC
R B AR
Development and operation of
applications in the PRC
ReEAERRRPEREE
Technology services in the PRC

REEER R

Employees' incentive operation in the
PRC

RPREEES LR

Investment holding and industry
investment in the PRC

REEAERELRRELRE

Technology services in the PRC

R i RRS

Technology services in the PRC

RPEEER R

Employees' incentive operation in the
PRC
RPREEES LR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAETHENE (&)
(Cont'd)
(c)  Principal subsidiaries (Cont'd) (c) B BRG] (4Z)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 3| R202024F 12H3 I HAEBEN EEM
December 2022 are set out below: (Cont'd) BAGEEHIWT . (&
Percentage of attributable
equity interest
i Ep
Place of incorporation and Principal activities and
Name of entity Date of incorporation  kind of legal entity Registered capital s at 3| December 2022 place of operation
RRAE A R AMAIEREARE  2fES MMENRNE  TEEBREEN
Hangzhou Yeniu Information Technology 24 February 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB400,000000 100% Credit faciltation service in the PRC
Co, Ltd. (*Yeniu Information Technology")
it EER B RAT WI6F2A4E e AREAAT B 400,000,007 ReEABEERARE
(M 5 840 )
Hangzhou Yiniu Network Technology Co, Ltd. 5 May 2015 PRC, limited liability company RMBI20,000000 100% Development and operation of
("Yiniu Network”) applications in the PRC
M BRRITARAR (R 8%) 201555858 B BRRMEAT ABH1200000007 ReEfERRRIREREE
U5!.Com Inc. 8 August 2014 Cayman Islands, incorporated US$50000 100% Investrent holding in the Cayman
company [slands
U51.Com Inc. 2014F8H8H BEHE ROEARAT  S0000%% rHSfERELR
US!.Com Limited 15 August 2014 Hong Kong ("HK'), limited HKS ! 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
liability company
US1.Com Limited W014%8R15A ER(5%)) BRERLT 1En REBEERALR
51 Award Limited 27 February 2017 The Brtish Virgin lslands (‘BVI"), ~ US$I 100% Employees' incentive operation in BYI
limited liability company
51 Award Limited 0I7ER77R REMRRE(RBEAR X1 RABERRRELE
#B1) BREEAT [EEA5
51 Credit Card (China) Limited I3 October 2017 HK; limited liabilty company HKS! 100% Investment holding in the PRC
SIfERF (e BRAT DI7EIABE R BRALAT BT RPESERER
5IRENPIN.COM INC. 7 January 2016 BV, incorporated company US$50000 100% Investment holding in BVI
5IRENPIN.COM INC. WI6EIATA REERREE  RIERAT 5000%7 REBERRBERERALR
51 Stock Limited 2 August 2017 BV, limited liability company USsl 100% Employees' incentive operation in BVI
51 Stock Limited 017%8A2A REAAREE BRRALT X7 REBERREELE
(FbEE]
51 Credit Card Investment (HK) Limited |2 September 2018 HK; limited liabilty company HK$100 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
SIERRE (BR)ARAA WI8E9A 2R &% BREMAR 10070 REBEERALR
51 Credit Card Investment (HK) Limited |2 September 2018 HK; limited liabilty company HK$100 100% Investrent holding in Hong Kong
SIERRE (R BRAT 0I8%98128 &% AREAAT 10087 RERLERERR
Shanghai Zhengcheng Information Technology 19 June 2019 PRC, limited liability company RMB3,522.900 (Note 36) Provision for technical and operational
Co, Ltd. ("Shanghai Zhencheng”) solution to financial institutions
LEBREENEERAT(TLEES)) 201956H19H E AREAAT AEB35229007  (HzE36) AERERRERIEREERA
HE
Hangzhou Haoge Cultural and Tourism Co, Ltd. 6 Aprl 2022 PRC limited liability company RMB4897959 51% Provision for camping services
B RARAT 00E4R6R hE ARREAT NEH48979597 RHEERE
Hangzhou Qinjinziran Business Management 22 March 2022 PRC, limited liability company RMB3,000,000 100% Provision for camping services
Co, Ltd.
IR ABEXEEERAT W0E3ANA > ARELAT AEH3,0000007 RHEERY
Hangzhou Ziranzhilu Cultural and 12 May 2022 PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% Provision for camping services
Tourism Co, Ltd.
BARZIK (M) XIEARAR 00%5R12R hE ARAEAT AR%100000007 RHEERE
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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2

178

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder's intention and financial ability to

exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognized
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together
with the investment at the end of each reporting period when there
is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognized in consolidated

comprehensive loss.

The Group’s share of associate’s post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive loss is recognized in other comprehensive loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits,
the Group resumes recognizing its shares of the those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not

recognized.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss
of significant influence represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group's share of
the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating
to that associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the

equity method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealized profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests
in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group's
most senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group's various

lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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2

180

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is
the Company’s presentation currency and the functional

accuracy of the principal operating subsidiaries of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency in each entity’s financial statements on
initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss within

“Finance expenses, net”.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognized in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognized in consolidated profit or loss as

part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equities held at FVPL are recognized in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as
equities classified as available for sale, are included in other

comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(©

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities

that have a functional currency different from the Company's

presentation currency are translated into the Company's

presentation currency as follows:

)

0!

(ii)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at

the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the

dates of the transactions); and

All resulting currency translation differences are

recognized in the currency translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition

of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the

foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

2

182

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition

of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable the future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs maintenance are recognized in profit or

loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Estimated useful lives

of the assets

Computer and electronic equipment 3 years
Office furniture and equipment 3 years
Leasehold improvements Estimated useful lives
or remaining lease

terms, whichever is

shorter
Building 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting

period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized
within “Other losses, net” in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

The Group's intangible assets include software, platform,
applications, trademark, payment license, goodwill and company

related.

Intangible assets can be recognized only when future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the item will flow
into the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. Intangible
assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business

combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs that
are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and
unique software products controlled by the Group are recognized

as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

. It is technically feasible to complete the software product so

that it will be available for use;

. Management intends to complete the software product and
use or sell it;
. There is an ability to use or sell the software product;

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

2

184

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

. [t can be demonstrated how the software product will

generate probable future economic benefits;

. Adequate technical, financial and other resources to

complete the development and to use or sell the software

product are available; and

. The expenditure attributable to the software product during

its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the

software product include the software development staff cost and

an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs

previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset

in a subsequent period.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed by the period of

bringing economic benefits for the Group.

The intangible assets acquired in a business combination, mainly
including software, platform, applications, licence and goodwill,
are recognized initially at fair value at the acquisition date and

subsequently carried at the amount initially recognized less

accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAETHENE (&)
(Cont'd)
The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows: WL EEN Gt EHEERNT .
Estimated useful B ENGET

lives of the assets o] B A FEHA

Software 2-3 years B 2E3E

Platform 5 years s S54E

Applications 10 years FER ok==

Trademark 10 years g ok==

Camping 2-18 years =i 2F |84

Payment license Indefinite SR 4 PR HA

Goodwill Indefinite EESS 4 fRHA

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortized on the EREHFHNETLEEBEBEEREH

straight-line basis over the useful life. The amortization period and FHAINIG EAGE N o AREREEEN

the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful W EENESNEE RE# AR DR EE

life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each year RETERLHERE (GEE)

end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but BEEEREHEEHENETLEELS S #

are subject to annual impairment assessment. 8 EEHTEERESG o
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortization and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets (including intangible assets
and property and equipment, net) that are subject to amortization
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset

belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of

money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in

which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of amortization or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of

the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset is
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus
or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss

allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any ECL allowance). The
calculation does not consider ECL and includes transaction costs,
premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that
are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.
For purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI") financial
assets — assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition — the
Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is
calculated based on the amortized cost of the financial asset instead
of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of ECL in

estimated future cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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2

188

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

Amortised cost and effective interest rate (Cont'd)

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the
carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial
liabilities is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using

the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognized in

profit or loss.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate

to the gross carrying amount of financial assets.

POCI financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted effective

interest rate is applied to the amortized cost of the financial asset.

Financial assets that are not 'POCI" but have subsequently become
credit-impaired (or “stage 3"), for which interest revenue is

calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortized

cost (i.e. net of the ECL provision).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognized when the entity becomes a Party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases

and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date

on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,
transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset, such as fees and
commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition,
an ECL allowance is recognized for financial assets measured at
amortized cost and investments in debt instruments measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), which

results in an accounting loss being recognized in profit or loss when

an asset is newly originated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

()

190

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

. FVPL;
. FVOCI; or
. Amortized cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity

instruments are described below:

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the
definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective,

such as loans, trade receivables and other receivables.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt

instruments depend on:

0 The Group's business model for managing the asset;
and
. The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

2022 Annual Report

2 EBEAGHBERBE(E

B ()
() DE|NBESE

FEBMEREEMEED B LU TE
E485 :

- BRABESABR@NE/ME
E

- BRAsEESAHRMEEWGD
WERMEE ; X

« BN ASENEREE -

BEHNED TR DBEERNT !

BHETARRETANAERER
THEENTIR  WENR - BFE
W R TR e EL M AR UGRR I ©

BH TAENDEMREEEORN
- AEEEEEEMNKEER

R

- EENFESRERR-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 Ej{ u‘l‘Eﬂ[Bﬁ*ﬁ}fg ( )
(Cont'd)
Measurement methods (Cont'd) FrE T % (48)
0) Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd) (i) SEEMBEST=E (&)

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt

BERBLERZE AEBRAEBH L
BoRU =35t 2485 :

instruments into one of the following three measurement

categories:

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI"), and that are not designated at FVPL, are
measured at amortized cost. The carrying amount
of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance
recognized and measured. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in “Other revenue” using

the effective interest rate method.

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, and that are not designated
at FVPL, are measured at FVOCI|. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through other
comprehensive loss, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument'’s
amortized cost which are recognized in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive loss is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognized in “Net investment income”.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any

financial asset classified as FVOCI.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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192

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

()

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

0 FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognized in profit or loss and
presented in the statement of comprehensive loss
within “Other losses, net” in the period in which it

arises.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group
manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That
is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the
contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both
the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the
sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial
assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial
assets are classified as part of “other” business model and
measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Group in
determining the business model for a group of assets include
past experience on how the cash flows for these assets
were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated
and reported to key management personnel, how risks are

assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

()

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to
collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual
cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the
financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest (the “SPPI test”). In making this
assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual
cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement,
i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value
of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit
margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.
Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to
risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and

measured at FVPL.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
SPPI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets changes.
The reclassification takes place from the start of the first
reporting year following the change. Such changes are
expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during

the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

()

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition
of equity from the issuer's perspective; that is, instruments
that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that

evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
FVPL, except where the Group's management has elected,
at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive loss.
The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as
FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other
than to generate investment returns. When this election
is used, fair value gains and losses are recognized in other
comprehensive loss and are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when
representing a return on such investments, continue to
be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the

Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included
in the “Other losses, net” line in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

(if)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL
associated with its debt instrument assets carried at
amortized cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising
from financial guarantee contracts and contract assets. The
Group recognizes a loss allowance for such losses at each

reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

0 An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that

is determined by evaluating a range of possible

outcomes;
. The time value of money; and
0 Reasonable and supportable information that is

available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and

forecasts of future economic conditions.

For contract assets and trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial

recognition of the receivables.

2

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

EXRESHBRBE (@)

BB ()

(i)

WA

NEFERTEMAER LFPEEE
AL HE AR R A EER
AHEMEEBEAEBNEF LIRS
ERRENVRERERRN » UKRY
BERGHAKRAENEERBNE
o AEBRESKRSBREZEE
BB EEE - HEAIERERN
STERMAT !

« EBFHME—RIIFIERAERM
B RE B B R = A RN =
#

- TENEBEE; &

. AR EEBEMRREABET
FABEERETCEAS AT
BIEMBUBE B « AR
Rk AR TR A B
Ko

MEMBEENEZBYGRIEMS >
FEERARRMFREERF R
FRASFRRSIE S % > A EERTE
Y46 HE BT B WK TR B hE SR TR AR 77 48
K o

2022 FEEHRE 195



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at

amortized cost, except for:

Financial liabilities at FVPL: this classification is applied to
derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading and measured
at fair value. Gains or losses on financial liabilities at FVPL
are presented partially in other comprehensive loss (the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability,
which is determined as the amount that is not attributable
to changes in market conditions that give rise to market
risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of
change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such
a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting
mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to
changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in

profit or loss;

Financial guarantee contracts: financial guarantee contracts
are contracts that require the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such
financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions
and others on behalf of customers to secure loans. The
Group's financial guarantee contracts is reflected as the
quality assurance fund payable recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The quality assurance fund is
a protection mechanism offered to investors who subscribe
to the loans facilitated on the Group's platform. The quality
assurance fund contribution rates are determined at loan
inception on a loan by loan basis and does not subsequently
change over the life of the loan. The determination of the
contribution rates is also based on the estimated loss rate
of the loans, taking into account the underlying risk profile
and historical loss record and other market factors when

necessary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

Financial guarantee contracts (i.e. quality assurance fund payable)

are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at the

higher of:
. The amount of the loss allowance; and
. The premium received on initial recognition less income

recognized in accordance with the principles of IFRS [5.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognized as

a provision.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, with gains or losses arising

from de-recognition or amortization recognized in profit or loss.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes a financial liability or part of it only
when the underlying present obligation or part of it is discharged,
cancelled or expired. An agreement between the Group (an
existing borrower) and an existing lender to replace the original
financial liability with a new financial liability with substantially
different terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original

financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

When the Group derecognizes a financial liability or a part of it,
it recognizes the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and
payable (including any non-cash assets transferred or new financial

liabilities assumed) in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets. All the trade receivables of
the Group are expected in one year or less, therefore, they are

presented as current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

interest method, less provision for impairment.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in

value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital (treasury share), the considerations paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares
are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received (net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs) is included in equity attributable to

the Company's equity holders.

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortized cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss over the period of the borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it

relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least

|2 months after the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalized as part of the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of

specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is determined by applying
a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalization rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding

during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the

purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Quality assurance fund payable

The quality assurance fund payable is measured at their fair value at
inception for both individual and institutional investors. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the quality assurance fund payable is measured
at the greater of |) the amount determined in accordance with
IFRS 9 and 2) the amount initially recognized (fair value) less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortization of the initial amount
recognized in accordance with IFRS |5. The Group’s financial
guarantee is also reflected as the quality assurance fund payable
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position (Note
24).

Quality assurance fund receivable

The quality assurance fund receivable is recognized at loan
inception for amounts allocated to the guarantee. At each reporting
date, the Group estimates the future cash flows and assesses
whether there is any indicator of impairment to any individual
underlying loan of the quality assurance fund receivable. If the
carrying amounts of the quality assurance fund receivable exceeds
the expected collections, an impairment loss is recorded for the

quality assurance fund receivable not recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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202

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Trade payables are obligations to pay for services that have been
delivered in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade
and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. All the trade payables of the Group are expected in one

year or less, therefore, they are presented as current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognized in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the

taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realized, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax is recognized in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognized in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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204

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

(b)

Pension obligations

The employees of the Group are mainly covered by various
defined contribution pension plans. Contributions to the
scheme by the Group and employees are calculated as
a percentage of employee’s basic salaries. The Group
makes and accrues contributions on a monthly basis to the
pension plans, which are mainly sponsored by the related
government authorities that are responsible for the pension
liabilities to retired employees. Under such plans, the Group
has no other significant legal or constructive obligations for
retirement benefits beyond the said contributions, which are

expensed as incurred.

Housing benefits

The employees of the Group are entitled to participate in
various government-sponsored housing funds. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on
certain percentages of the salaries of the employees. The
Group's liability in respect of these funds is limited to the

contributions payable in each year.

Medical benefits

The Group makes monthly contributions for medical
benefits to the local authorities in accordance with the
relevant local regulations for the employees. The Group's
liability in respect of employee medical benefits is limited to

the contributions payable in each year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for
the grant of the options and restricted share units (“RSUs") is
recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by making reference to the fair value of the options and
RSUs granted:

0] Including any market performance condition (for example, an

entity's share price);

(i)  excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining as an employee of the

entity over a specified time period); and

(i) including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for

example, the requirement for employees to serve).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options and RSUs that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting

conditions are to be satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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206

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognizing the expense during the

year between service commencement date and grant date.

Where there is modification of terms and conditions which
increases the fair value of the equity instruments granted (for
example, by changing the vesting period of share options),
the Group includes the incremental fair value granted in the
measurement of the amount recognized for the services received
over the remainder of the vesting period. The incremental fair
value is the difference between the fair value of the modified
equity instrument and that of the original equity instrument, both
estimated as at the date of the modification. An expense based on
the incremental fair value is recognized over the period from the
modification date to the date when the modified equity instruments
vest in addition to any amount in respect of the original instrument,
which should continue to be recognized over the remainder of the

original vesting period.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options and RSUs that are expected to vest
based on the non-market performance and service conditions. It
recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in

profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised or the RSUs are vested, the
Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital

(nominal value) and share premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present

value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the

probability of outflow is remote.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a

significant financing component.

The Group recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. Service is provided over time if the

Group's performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as

the Group performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use for the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

If service transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period
of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is

recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of

the product or the service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods that

best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the performance

obligation:

. direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group

to the customer; or

. the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the

performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple services, the transaction price will be
allocated to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone

selling prices. Where these are not directly observable, they are

estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right
to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if only the

passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is

due.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the

principal revenue streams of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

Credit facilitation and service fee

The Group engages primarily in operating an online
consumer finance marketplace by providing an online
platform which matches borrowers with investors. The
Group's platform provides investors with various investment
products, which the investors can elect to participate in. The
Group determined that it is not the legal lender and legal
borrower in the loan origination and repayment process.
Therefore, the Group does not record loans receivable
and payable arising from the loans between investors and

borrowers on its marketplace.

The total proceeds are collected on a monthly basis over the
loan period. The total proceeds from borrowers generally
includes the services fees for facilitating loan origination
(covering matching of investors to borrowers and facilitating
the execution of loan agreement between investors and
borrowers) and for providing ongoing monthly services
(mainly covering cash processing services and collection
services), and also include contribution to the quality
assurance fund, which provides a protection mechanism to

investors who subscribe to these loans.

The total proceeds from borrowers are first allocated to
the quality assurance fund payable (Note 2.17) at fair value
which meets the definition of a financial guarantee under
IAS 39, and the remaining amount are then allocated to
credit facilitation service and ongoing monthly service. The
Group generally collects the entire amount relating to credit
facilitation and ongoing monthly services as one combined

fee.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(@)

Credit facilitation and service fee (Cont'd)

The Group considers the credit facilitation services and
ongoing monthly services as distinct performance obligations.
Although the Group does not sell these services separately,
the Group determined that both deliver ables have
standalone value. However, the Group does not provide
these services separately, and the third-Party evidence of
selling price does not exist either, as public information is not
available regarding the amount of fees competitors charge
for these services. As a result, the Group uses the expected-
cost-plus-a-margin approach to determine its best estimate
standalone selling prices of the different performance
obligations as the basis for allocation. The total service
fee allocated to credit facilitation is recognized as revenue
upon execution of loan agreements between investors and
borrowers. The service fees allocated to post-origination
services are deferred and recognized over the period of
the loan on a straight-line method, which approximates
the pattern of when the underlying services are performed.
When the cash received is different from the revenue
recognized, a “Contract Asset” or "“Contract Liability" shall
be recognized in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(b)

(©

Incentives

To expand its market presence, attract new investors and
new borrowers and increase activity level on the Group's
platform, the Group provides incentives to potential

investors and borrowers at its sole discretion.

When a loan is successfully matched during the relevant
incentive program period, the investor receives a cash
incentive as additional interest on a monthly basis over the
term of the loan. The borrower may receive a cash incentive,
as a reduction of credit facilitation service fee. These cash

incentives are accounted for as reduction of revenue.

Referral service fee

The Group introduces loan products of external online
lending platforms to borrowers on the Group’'s own
platform who can click through to third-party platforms. The
Group generally is not the primary obligor, does not have
the ability to establish the price, is not exposed to the credit
risk when directing borrowers to third-party platforms. Upon
successful set-up of loans, the Group will charge the third-
Party platforms a negotiated amount or a fixed rate referral
fee based on the loans amount. Loan referral service income
is recoghized on a net basis upon successfully set-up of the

loans.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

(d)

®

Credit card technology service fee

The Group cooperates with banks for their online credit
card applications on a nationwide basis. Users of 51 Credit
Card Manager App can click on the icon of a bank displayed
in the Group's platform and the webpage of the bank will
pop up in the App to complete the credit card application
process. The Group charges banks the referral fee based on
the successful applications which are defined by the banks.
Credit card technology service fee is recognized on a net

basis upon successful applications.

Payment service fee

The Group provides payment services for the third parties
to support the platform users. The income originates from
the payment channel service and the payment advance
service. When the service provided, the service fee will be

automatically deducted from the funds.

Saas service fee

The Group's SaaS business consists of Little Blue Book
business and smart retail business. Little Blue Book is a
smart sales intelligence platform that generates subscription
income from corporate and individual customers. The
subscription income is recognized over the fixed term of
the agreement as services are provided. The Group'’s smart
retail business is operated under its subsidiary, Hangzhou
Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Zhongtuo
Netcom”). The Group receives a fixed income from system
development and sales of hardware, and also receives agency
fees that are based on customers’ volume of usage such as
transaction payment rate, cloud server usage and SMS traffic
volume, etc. The service fee is recognized when the services

provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

)

(h)

Overdue charges

The Group makes efforts to collect the outstanding overdue
amounts from borrowers. Overdue charges incurred on a
case-by-case basis. The collectability of these amounts are
often of high uncertainty. Overdue charges are only highly
probable to be collected when the actual overdue amounts
are repaid and are recognized as revenue when the cash of

the overdue payments is actually collected.

Comping revenue

Revenue consists of the value of goods and services
generated at and campsites under leases, services related
to activities at the Group’s campsites, store and restaurant
revenues and other income related to the rental of
campsites and other income generated in the Group's
activities. Letting of campsites have been considered meeting
the criteria for a lease agreement whereas other revenue is

accounted according to IFRS 15.

Rental of campsites

Rental agreements — primarily from rental of campsites,
including all income from overnight stays and conferences.
Revenue is recognized when the service has been
completed, i.e. when the customer has stayed or the

conference has been completed.

Store and restaurant incomes and revenue for activities sold

Remuneration for store and restaurant income and
remuneration for activities sold and performed at the
Group's campsites are recognized when the goods or

services are delivered.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE
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214

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis,
taking into account of the principal outstanding and the
effective interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is

determined that such income will accrue to the Group.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss in the period in which they

become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets
are deducted from the carrying amount of the assets.
The grant is recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss over the life of a depreciable asset by

way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first
against any unamortized deferred income set up in respect
of the grant. To the extent that the repayment exceeds any
such deferred income, or where no deferred income exists,
the repayment is recognized immediately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss. Repayment of a grant
related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying
amount of the asset or reducing the deferred income by the
amount repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation
that would have been recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss to date in the absence
of the grant is recognized immediately in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by

the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a

similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

. where possible, uses recent third-Party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third Party financing was

received;

. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group,

which does not have recent third Party financing; and

. makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g., term, country,

currency and security.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

2

216

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received; and

° restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-
value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 2

months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income.
The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet
based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of

adopting the new leasing standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

QY

®)

A person or a close member of that person'’s family is related

to the Group if that person:

()

0!

(ii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the

Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

)

(iii)

(iv)

\)

The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary

and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of

a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the

Group.

2 EXg
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

2

218

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Cont'd)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (A).

(vi) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of

the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not
appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made
the following judgements that have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets
measured at amortized cost and is an area that requires the use of
complex models and significant assumptions about future economic
conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers

defaulting and the resulting losses).

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the

accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:
() Determining criteria for SICR;
0 The financial instrument considered to have

experienced a SICR if the borrower is past due on its

contractual payments.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022

HE002F12831ALEE
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

(i)

Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the

measurement of ECL;

ECL is measured on either a |2-month (12M) or
lifetime basis depending on whether a SICR has
occurred since initial recognition or whether an
asset is considered to be credit-impaired. ECL are
the discounted product of the Probability of Default
(“PD"), Exposure at Default (“EAD”), and Loss Given
Default (“LGD"), or ECL=PD*LGD*EAD*discounted

rate.

The calculation of PD and LGD started with the
Group's historical information. They are further
adjusted for the impacts from micro-economy
conditions as well as observed Industry experience.
PD and LGD are calculated by type of products,

internal risk grades and loan durations as appropriate.

EAD is calculated based on the amounts the Group
expected to be owed at the time of default, over the
next 12 months (I12M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD).

The discounted rate used in the ECL calculation is the

original effective interest rate or an approximation

thereof.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

(iii)

Establishing the number and relative weighting of forward-
looking scenarios for each type of product/market and the

associated ECL; and

The Group used the Morten Model to estimate
the relationship between ECL and forward-looking

scenarios.

Based on economic statistics, three different
prospective scenarios, namely the “base”, the
“upside” and the “downside” are used with 80%, 10%

and 10% weighting respectively.

Other forward-looking considerations, such as
the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political

changes, have also been considered.

The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and ECL of each portfolio. The most significant
assumptions used are PP, given their impact they have

on the loans facilitated or provided by the Group.

The Group considers the credit facilitation services and ongoing

monthly services as distinct performance obligations. However,

the Group does not provide these services separately, and the

third-party evidence of selling price does not exist either, as

public information is not available regarding the amount of fees

competitors charge for these services. As a result, the Group uses

the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach to determine its best

estimate of selling prices of the different deliverables as the basis for

allocation. When estimating the selling prices, the Group considers

the cost related to such services, profit margin, customer demand,

effect of competition, and other market factors, if applicable.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

The quality assurance fund is a protection mechanism offered to
both individual and institutional investors who subscribe to the
loans facilitated on the Group's platform. The quality assurance
fund contribution rates are determined at loan inception on a loan
by loan basis and does not subsequently change over the life of
the loan. The determination of the contribution rates is also based
on the estimated loss rate of the loans, taking into account the
underlying risk profile and historical loss record and other market

factors when necessary.

The fair values of share options granted are measured on the
respective grant dates based on the fair value of the underlying
shares. In addition, the Group is required to estimate the expected
percentage of grantees that will remain in employment with the
Group or, where applicable, if the performance conditions for
vesting will be met at the end of the vesting period. The Group only
recognizes an expense for those share options and RSUs expected
to vest over the vesting period during which the grantees become
unconditionally entitled to these share-based awards. Changes in
these estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on
the determination of the fair value of the share options and RSUs
and the amount of such share-based awards expected to become
vested, which may in turn significantly impact the determination of

the share-based compensation expenses.

The fair value of share options and RSUs at the time of grant is to
be expensed over the vesting period of these share-based awards
based on an accelerated graded attribution approach. Under the
accelerated graded attribution approach, each vesting installment
of a graded vesting award is treated as a separate share-based
award, which means that each vesting installment will be separately
measured and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated

recognition of share-based compensation expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

The Group is subject to income tax regulations under the PRC,
HK, Cayman Islands and BVI. Significant estimates is required in
determining the provision for income taxes in different territories.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in

the year in which such determination is made.

In addition, a deferred income tax asset is recognized to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognized based upon the likely timing and the level of future
taxable profits of the individual entities together with tax planning

strategies.

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group
estimates fair value by using a valuation technique. Valuation
techniques include using recent prices in arm’s length market
transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties, if available,
reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is
substantially the same, or discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models. To the extent practicable, valuation technique
makes the maximum use of market inputs. However, where market
inputs are not available, management needs to make estimates on

such unobservable market inputs.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on

an annual basis.

Goodwill and other non-financial assets, mainly including property
and equipment, other intangible assets, right-of-use assets as well
as investments accounted for using equity method are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amount have been determined based on value-in-use calculations
or fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of

judgments and estimates.

Judgment is required to identify any impairment indicators existing
for any of the Group's goodwill, other non-financial assets to
determine appropriate impairment approaches, i.e., fair value
less costs of disposal or value in use, for impairment review
purposes, and to select key assumptions applied in the adopted
valuation models, including discounted cash flows and market
approach. Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment could materially affect the result of the
impairment test and in turn affect the Group's financial condition
and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the key assumptions applied, it may be necessary to take
additional impairment charge to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out

by the senior management of the Group.

4.1.1 Market Risk
(@)  Foreign exchange risk
The transactions of the Company are denominated
and settled in its functional currency, US$. The
Group's subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and
are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to US$ and HKS$. Therefore, foreign exchange risk
primarily arose from cash and cash equivalents in the
Group's PRC subsidiaries when receiving or to receive

foreign currencies from overseas business partners.

The Group enters into foreign exchange contracts to
cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts

within the exposure generated.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.1  Market Risk (Cont'd)

(@)

Foreign exchange risk (Cont'd)

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries whose functional
currency is RMB, if US$ had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB with all other variables held
constant, the loss before income tax for the years
ended 3| December 2022 would have been
approximately RMB2,723,000 higher/lower (31
December 2021: RMBI1,911,000 higher/lower), as
a result of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on
translation of net monetary liabilities denominated in

US$.

For the Group's PRC subsidiaries whose functional
currency is RMB, if HK$ had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB with all other variables held
constant, the loss before income tax for the years
ended 3| December 2022 would have been
approximately RMB300 lower/higher, (31 December
2021: RMB250 lower/higher), as a result of net
foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of net

monetary assets denominated in HK$.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.1  Market Risk (Cont'd)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily
in relation to term deposits, loans to customers, net,
long-term borrowings and short-term borrowings.
The Group generally assumes borrowings to
fund capital expenditures and working capital
requirements. The risk is managed by the Group by
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and

floating rate borrowings.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the

liquidity risk management section of this Note.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for financial
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period

was outstanding for the whole year.

A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. If interest rates had been
50 basis points higher and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's loss would approximately
increase by approximately RMB696,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB894,000). This
is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure to

interest rates on bank and other borrowings.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of
the Group's customers, clients or market counterparties fail

to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Group.

The carrying amount of the prepayments and other
receivables, contract assets, trade receivables, loans to
customers, not restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in

relation to the Group's financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
It has policies in place to ensure that sales care made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. Amounts
due from related companies are closely monitored by the

directors.

The credit risk on restricted cash and cash and bank balances
and derivative financial instruments is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

Credit risk arises mainly from credit facilitation service.

(@  Credit risk measurement

The estimation of credit risk exposure for risk
management purposes is complex and requires the
use of models, as the exposure varies with changes
in market conditions, expected cash flows and the
passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a
portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to
the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated
loss ratios and of default correlations between
counterparties. The Group measures credit risk using
PD, EAD and LGD. This is similar to the approach
used for the purposes of measuring ECL under IFRS 9.
Refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) for more details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment
based on changes in credit quality since initial

recognition as summarized below:

o A financial instrument that is not credit-
impaired on initial recognition is classified in
“Stage |" and has its credit risk continuously

monitored by the Group.

. If a SICR since initial recognition is identified,
the financial instrument is moved to “Stage
2" but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired. Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (i) for
a description of how the Group determines

when a SICR has occurred.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

230

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the
financial instrument is then moved to “Stage
3". Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (ii) for a
description of how the Group defines credit-

impaired and default.

Financial instruments in Stage | have their
ECL measured at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that result from default
events possible within the next |2 months.
Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their
ECL measured based on ECL on a lifetime
basis. Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (iii) for
a description of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques used in measuring the
ECL

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward looking information. Note
4.1.2 (b) (iv) includes an explanation of how
the Group has incorporated this in its ECL

models.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 LREAKREE(E

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)

4.1.2 15/HREE (&

ECL measurement (Cont'd) TRHFIE 1R X512 (48)
The following diagram summarises the impairment T BB PR B S iR S #E RIS
requirements under IFRS 9: 9OSEIE N BERE -
Change in credit quality since initial recognition
BYREDENEREENET
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
S IPEER B2MEER FIPEER
(Initial recognition) (SICR since initial recognition) (Credit-impaired assets)
(R 8aHE (B¥1aHE 2 2R(E A R (ERREZE)
FEEIEN)
|2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
1218 5 FRHA(E AR R FREARTRIE AER FEHATERRE RER

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the
Group in addressing the requirements of the standard

are discussed below:

The financial instrument considered to
have experienced a SICR if the borrower is
more than | day (inclusive) past due on its
contractual payments. No qualitative criteria
is considered by the Group since the Group
monitor the risk of borrowers purely based

overdue period.

The Group has not used the low credit risk
exemption for any financial instruments for the

year ended 3| December 2022.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

232

The Group defines a financial instruments as
is in default, which is fully aligned with the
definition of credit impaired if the borrower is
more than | month (inclusive) past due on its
contractual payments. Besides, fraudulent list is
also considered by the Group for definition for

default and credit-impaired assets.

The criteria above have been applied to loan
to customers and financial guarantees held
by the Group and are consistent with the
definition of default used for internal credit risk
management purposes. The default definition
has been applied consistently to model the
PD, EAD and LGD throughout the Group's

expected loss calculations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

The ECL is measured on either a |2-month
(12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether
a SICR has occurred since initial recognition or
whether an asset is considered to be credit-
impaired. ECL are the discounted product of
the PD, EAD, and LGD, defined as follows:

. The PD represents the likelihood of
a borrower defaulting on its financial
obligation (as per “Definition of default
and credit-impaired assets” above),
either over the next 12 months (12M
PD), or over the remaining lifetime

(Lifetime PD) of the obligation.
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234

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

LGD represents the Group ' s
expectation of the extent of loss on
a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by
type of counterparty, type and seniority
of claim and availability of collateral or
other credit support. LGD is expressed
as a percentage loss per unit of EAD.
LGD is calculated on a |2M or lifetime
basis, where [2-month LGD is the
percentage of loss expected to be made
if the default occurs in the next [2M
and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of
loss expected to be made if the default
occurs over the remaining expected

lifetime of the loan.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

c EAD is based on the amounts the
Group expects to be owed at the time
of default, over the next |2 months
(I2M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example,
for a revolving commitment, the Group
includes the current drawn balance plus
any further amount that is expected to
be drawn up to the current contractual
limit by the time of default, should it

occur.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)
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The ECL is determined by projecting the PD,
LGD and EAD for each future month and for
each individual exposure or collective segment.
These three components are multiplied
together and adjusted for the likelihood of
survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or
defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively
calculates an ECL for each future month, which
is then discounted back to the Reporting date
and summed. The discount rate used in the
ECL calculation is the original effective interest

rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by looking at
how defaults develop on a portfolio from the
point of initial recognition throughout the
lifetime of the loans. The PD profile is based
on historical observed data and is assumed to
be the same across all assets within a portfolio
and credit grade band. This is supported by

historical analysis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

For amortising products, this is based on the
contractual repayments owed by the borrower
over a |2M or lifetime basis. This will also be
adjusted for any expected overpayments made
by a borrower. Early repayment/refinance
assumptions are also incorporated into the

calculation.

The I2M and lifetime LGDs are determined
based on the factors which impact the
recoveries made post default. These vary by

product type.

Forward-looking economic information is also
included in determining the [2M and lifetime
PD, EAD and LGD. These assumptions vary by
product type. Refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (iv) for
an explanation of forward-looking information

and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

There have been no significant changes
in estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)
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The assessment of SICR and the calculation
of ECL both incorporate forward-looking
information. The Group has performed
historical analysis and identified the key
economic variables impacting credit risk and

ECL for each portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated
impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by
financial instrument. The Group applies expert
judgment in the forecast of these economic
variables to obtain the best estimate view of
the economy over the next one year. After one
year, to project the economic variables out for
the full remaining lifetime of each instrument,
a mean reversion approach has been used,
which means that economic variables tend to
be close to a long run average growth rate (e.g.
Producer Price Index, Consumer Price Index)
over a period of two to five years. The impact
of these economic variables on the PD, EAD
and LGD has been determined by performing
Eucilidean Distance analysis to understand
the impact changes in these variables have
had historically on default rates and on the
components of LGD and EAD.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHREAMRESEE)

oo
AN

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 15/HER (&
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) FEEFIEHIEREIE ()

In addition to the base economic scenario, the
Group also obtained other possible scenarios
along with scenario weightings from external
experts. The number of other scenarios used
is set based on the analysis of each major
product type to ensure non-linearities are
captured. The number of scenarios and their
attributes are reassessed at each reporting
date. At | January 2022 and 3| December
2022, the Group concluded that three
scenarios appropriately captured non-linearities
among all portfolios. The scenario weightings
are determined by a combination of statistical
analysis and expert credit judgement, taking
account of the range of possible outcomes
each chosen scenario is representative of. The
assessment of SICR is performed using the
Lifetime PD under each of the base, and the
other scenarios, multiplied by the associated
scenario weighting, along with qualitative
and backstop indicators (see Note 4.1.2).
This determines whether the whole financial
instrument is in Stage |, Stage 2, or Stage 3
and hence whether |2-month or lifetime ECL
should be recorded. Following this assessment,
the Group measures ECL as either a probability
weighted 12 month ECL (Stage 1), or a
probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2
and 3). These probability-weighted ECLs are
determined by running each scenario through
the relevant ECL model and multiplying it
by the appropriate scenario weighting (as

opposed to weighting the inputs).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

()

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

As with any economic forecasts, the
projections and likelihoods of occurrence are
subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty
and therefore the actual outcomes may be
significantly different to those projected. The
Group considers these forecasts to represent
its best estimate of the possible outcomes
and has analysed the non-linearities and
asymmetries within the Group's different
portfolios to establish that the chosen scenarios
are appropriately representative of the range of

possible scenarios.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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4 EWMEMEEE)
1.1.2 1EHEE (&)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) FEBEIEHEIEREIE (B
Economic variable assumptions B] 45T R %
The most significant year-end assumptions 720224128310 » B
used for the ECL estimate as at 3| December RIEstERERELEN
2022 are set out below. The scenarios “Base”, BERRI AT o THE
“Upside” and “Downside” were used for all T EZ IR TR
portfolios. E=RBERERNRRE
B2 o
2023

Producer Price Index Base 99.5
TEEMEIEH HZE

Upside 101.9

+5

Downside 97.5

TEE
Gross Domestic Product Index Base 105.3
B4 ELEETIER B

Upside 106.6

%

Downside 103.6

Bk
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

4 ﬁl‘ﬂﬂ EE (/HEEE)
4 / 2 f:/‘#ﬂ/& (/r%
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEEAIEHIEKE ()
Economic variable assumptions (Cont'd) B] B4 F (58 (48)
The weightings assigned to each economic R2022F 128318
scenario at 31 December 2022 and | January 2002%F 1B 1B pEEE
2022 were as follows: FEKKEENEEN
T
Base Upside Downside
HE i) Bk
All portfolios FrEHAE 80% 10% 10%
Sensitivity analysis SR E T
The most significant assumptions affecting the R ETEAEAE AL EE
ECL allowance are as follows: HNREZRZWT :
2022
RMB’000
ARBTT
Producer Price Index —1% 41
FEEYBEEH No change =
=2
+1% (59)
Gross Domestic Product Index —1% 104
BN ERETEH No change =
=)
+1% (120)
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 fﬁﬂ}ﬁwﬁﬁfi (,{ég)
4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 =R (&
(©) Credit risk exposure (c) 1RO
The following table contains an analysis of the credit TREELIRBENSR T
risk exposure subject to impairment. The amount of ENEREAMKOET T D
financial assets and non-financial assets below also o FIEHEERIEERE
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit ENSRETAEE@mEN S
risk. AERRRO °
As at 3| December 2022 As at 31 December 2021
120225128318 2021128318
Gross Gross
carrying Loss Carrying carrying Loss Carrying
Measurement category st23EH! amount allowance amount amount allowance amount

RERE BREE REE RESE HREE FREME
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOOO ~ RMB000  RMB00O

AERBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETRE ARBTT ARETET

Non-financial asset FERMEE
Contract assets BHEE 638211  (603,336) 34,875 695357  (608:838) 86,519

Financial assets at BEBHER AT EN
amortized cost SREE (BRI

(IFRS 9) REERF95R)
Cash and cash ReEMREEEY

equivalents 376,813 - 376,813 313,148 - 313,148
Trade receivables BAEKEE 233,108 (214,140) 18,968 232,171 (213,008) 19,163

Prepayments and other  T&{T ZUB R E At
receivables e 172,281 (54.,833) 117,448 190,610 (58,745) 131,865
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 ﬁﬁﬂ}ﬁt ﬁ%fi (,{ég)
4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 =R (&
(c)  Credit risk exposure (Cont'd) (c) 1EHEEHOE)
As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021
120226128318 2021128318

Gross Gross

carrying Loss Carrying carrying Loss Carrying

Measurement category stE2ER| amount  allowance amount amount  allowance amount

REME ERER fREfE HEBE HBEER HREE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMBI00O

AE®TR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR

Loans to customers REEH 460,133 (280,408) 179,725 440,586 (282,088) 158,498
Stage | 5 1PBER = = = = = =
Stage 2 BIREER - - - - - -
Stage 3 H3IWE 286,104 (280,408) 569 286512 (28208) 4424
Purchased credit- BEABBLERRE

impaired 174,029 - 174,029 154,074 - 154,074

Financial guarantee IBREEEN

contracts
— Quality assurance fund —[EINE ER:ES

receivable 52,441 (35,998) 16,443 64,479 (35,682) 28,797
Stage | 5B 17,746 (2,598) 15,148 30,493 (2,666) 27827
Stage 2 DL 933 (632) 301 1,508 (709) 799
Stage 3 Rl 33,762 (32,768) 994 32,478 (32,307) 171

1,932,987  (1,188,715) 744,272 1936351 (1,198,361) 737,990
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHEAKEREE)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 15/HER (&
(c)  Credit risk exposure (Cont'd) (c) 1EHEEHKOGE)
The following table contains an analysis of the TREFIMEERSH (BNE
maximum credit risk exposure from financial NEERZL) NEAERA
guarantee contracts (i.e. quality assurance fund g8l [0 A -
payable):

As at 31 December

12831
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETT ARETTT

Financial guarantee contracts MBEFREDN
— quality assurance fund payable —EEEFEs 21,713 59,681
Stage | 551 BEER 12,430 38,689
Stage 2 SE2PEES - -
Stage 3 SE3PEER 9,283 20992
4.1.3 Liquidity risk 4.1.3 HEEEEE
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate REBBBHEREHREHE B
cash reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing TREAGBEEAHNE  FEER
facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash EArRBRESRERCEEME
flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets ERGaENERPREERIES
and liabilities. B
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

4

246

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
The following tables detail the Group'’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities with agreed repayment
periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at
the end of the year. The contractual maturity is based on the

earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.

4 ﬁl‘]ﬂﬂ, I\A B EE (/ffég

4.1.3 TEEZ R ()

T REFRAEBRBHEEWN
HRNERE GRS HE R
R ARERBDEREREMENR
WHRASRERAEETERENR
B RF RS - BREREHR
BENERAZRERE © HHER
ERIFHIE > RINFSEAHER
FROMERHEHES - SHEWH
MRTHE R A& E 7] SER E K7 BY
REAMERE -

As at 31 December 2022

2202212831 H

Less than Between Over
| year | — 5 years 5 years Total
RRIE \ESE BB et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETRT
Long-term borrowings ERRER = 13,787 = 13,787
Quality assurance fund payable FE{IE E1R:E % 21,713 = = 21,713
Payable to platform customers fE{T & FF RIS 75,389 = = 75,389
Short-term borrowings VEEELEE N 168,462 = = 168,462
Trade payables B S ENIE 18,058 - - 18,058
Other financial liabilities Hihermas 13,495 = = 13,495
297,117 13,787 - 310,904

2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd) 4 ZTREMMEIEE)
4.1.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 4.1.3 REELRERE (&

As at 3| December 2021
202112831 H

Less than Between Over

| year | —5 years 5 years Total
RRIF | 5% 85 F #ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREBTRT ARETT ARETRT

Long-term borrowings EHRfER = 22,171 = 22,171
Quality assurance fund payable &} E Z{R:E % 59,681 — - 59,681
Payable to platform customers fE{TFETFRIE 79,467 - — 79467
Short-term borrowings FEHAfERR 180,26 = = 180,26 |
Trade payables B 5 mIE 26,254 = = 26,254
Other financial liabilities Hihsrmad 257,609 - = 257,609

603,272 22,171 - 625443
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TRHEMEEIE (&)
4.1.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 4.1.3 nEIETEE (&
The following table details the Group's expected maturity TRIENAEBSHEENTESTE
for its financial assets. The tables have been drawn up based HHAMR c ARAERRILERSREE
on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial MNATIREENERBARER > GiF
assets including interest that will be earned on those assets. ZEEERSBINAE c IASH
The inclusion of information on financial assets is necessary in BENERABRIERAE RS R
order to understand the Group's liquidity risk management HFETRENEIE  EAReES
as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis. EHEENAEBEEEESIE -

As at 31 December 2022
720224 128318

Less than Over
| year 5 years Total
TRIFE FEIBSE #a5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETRT AR®TRT

Financial assets at FVPL BARBESTAEBGEN

EREE - 69,291 69,291
Quality assurance fund receivable EWEERES 16,443 - 16,443
Contract assets BHNEE 34,875 - 34,875
Trade receivables B 2 e IE 18,968 — 18,968
Loans to customers, net HEEFFEE 179,725 = 179,725
Restricted cash ZR&IIHE 128,827 = 128,827
Cash and cash equivalents BE RIEESZEEY 376,813 - 376,813
Other financial assets HitherhEE 108,124 1,073 109,197

863,775 70,364 934,139
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

4

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

TREREE (@)

4.1.3 mEIELER (&

As at 31 December 2021
12021512831 B

Less than Over

| year 5 years Total
TRIF B 5F #B5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETRT AREBTRT

Financial assets at FVPL

BARBESABRTZH

TREE 295 83,780 84,075

Quality assurance fund receivable EWEERES 28,797 - 28,797
Contract assets BHEE 86,519 - 86,519
Trade receivables B S EU =1 19,163 = 19,163
Loans to customers, net RE B FEE 158,498 = 158,498
Restricted cash SIR4IIRE 225,092 - 225,092
Cash and cash equivalents B HIEESEEY 313,148 - 313,148
Other financial assets HthEmBE 123,986 292 124,278
955,498 84072 1039570

The amounts included above for variable interest rate

instruments for both financial assets and liabilities are subject

to change if changes in variable interest rates differ from

those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of

the reporting period.

AR E R R EE B E RS
REROFE (S > EXF5IER
SHMAERBEIRAETANS
FAREALD) -

2022 FEEHRE 249



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TRHEMEEIE (&)
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the AEEBESESEANBEEERELAERITE
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide KEHFE S 0 U AR ERIR(HE IR &S HAth
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to EhEED > URGERFREBEARZERELUR
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value HRGENERREE

in the long-term.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and capital NEEBETCHSEERALEENHER
reserves) by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part of B> GIERANERNEE o (EAZER
this review, the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks HW—Zn » NEBEEESANAKRED
associated with the issued share capital. The Group may adjust BB AEBRNRLG o & E 0B E %
the amount of return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or BHIRIBEREA N BITHRIBELO AN T K
repurchase the Company'’s shares. In the opinion of the Directors, o BETA » AEENBEARARGHRE o

the Group's capital risk is low.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

(9)

Fair value hierarchy

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorizes into three levels the inputs

to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level | inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement

date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level | that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognize transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the

event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

4 ErE1E

(@

REIE (8)

AREERER

For the year ended 3| December 2022

HE2002F12831ALLEE

ARBEATHSREBNGER
HEAFR 55 & & EWE R
HEEESNZERE -  UTREZ
AABESEERAINBERER
AREERERRFAERINBERR
MERBZEABBE LR =EER

B

BAHE -

E AR

AR -

s —

%:n&

B AR

RERRFERHA
PERET S ERLAER
EEHEBERISZR
18 CRIEHEE) -

EESEBAIERN
BEEAENE AR
B B—REARE
ZIREERID o

BEENEBRZTAH
ENEPNE 6

FEBZHRDNEREREEZ
NEANBERESERRI=(ERE
HRZBAREL °
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HE2NFENA3IBLEE

4

252

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREMEEIE (&2
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (Cont'd) (a9 RREERERGE)
The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities TEREFARER PR 2022F K202 F
that are measured at fair value as at 3| December 2022 and B3I HIEAREEIENEER
2021: a1E
As at 3| December 2022
120225 12A31H
Valuation techniques and key input Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
EERTREESH F— BEHR B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETR AR®TT ARETR
Assets
BE

Financial assets at FVPL

— investments

Discounted cash flow and market approach.
Earnings growth factor, weighted average
cost of capital (“WACC"), liquidity

discounts, risk-free interest rate,

expected volatility. - 69,291 69,291
BARBEEST AR ERBERENHIZHE - BIERAR
ERIEE-RE B METHERRA (ETHER
) ~ REBEHAE - BRRAE B
HIRENE o
Liabilities
afa
Financial liabilities at FVPL Market approach. Risk-free interest rate,
— redeemable equity expected volatility, discount for lack
instrument of marketability. - 52,731 52,731

R BEF ARG
EHEE—rIELED
TH

mI5T % o EERERE « EHKEM
RZRBIEHE o

2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

(9)

Fair value hierarchy (Cont'd)

Valuation techniques and key input

hERMTREES

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

4 ZREREEE)

(@

Level |
E—R
RMB'000

NREEER ()

As at 31 December 2021
20214128318

Level 2 Level 3 Total
B8R B4R 1Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Assets
BE
Financial assets at FVPL

— investments

Discounted cash flow and market approach.

Earnings growth factor, WACC,

liquidity discounts, risk-free interest rate,

expected volatility. = = 83,780 83,780
BRARBEF AR AERRERENTHEHE - BIRERA
EREE-RE B mETaERms (METHEER
B ) S RENMEITE ~ EERAE TR
HIREIE -
Financial assets at FVPL Bank quoted expected return.
— wealth management
products - 295 - 295
BRRBEF ARG RTIRMERAER
THMEE-BEMED
Liabilities
&aff
Financial liabilities at FVPL Market stock price.
— unissued shares = 8,074 = 8,074
BRRBEFARGZH MIZRE o
EREE-RETRD
Financial liabilities at FVPL Market approach. Risk-free interest rate,
— redeemable equity expected volatility, discount for lack
instrument of marketability. = = 43,034 43,034
BRRBEFARZN mET A o EEERE « FEHKENE
RIS A - EDRE RZRBIEHTE o
T2
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

4

254

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

(b)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs

The following table presents the changes in level 3 asset

instruments for the years ended 3|1 December 2022 and

2021:

4

TREREE(E)

(b) FHAEZTFOERGAEGEHL
AEE
TREFEHE20202FEK2021F 128
SIHIEFES=REETANEE !

Year ended 3| December

HENA3IHIEEE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T T ARETT

At the beginning of the year REH] 83,780 100,693

Fair value losses ® AR EBEEBE® (14,489) (13,708)

Disposals HE - (3,205)

At the end of the year REXR 69,291 83,780
# Include gains or losses for assets held P EIARBRSHARMEEEEN

at end of reporting period U % o 5 18 (14,489) (13,708)

0) Transfers between the levels and changes in valuation

techniques

For the year ended 3| December 2022 and 2021,

there were no significant transfers between level |,

level 2 and level 3 fair value measurements.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

(b)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs

(Cont'd)

(i)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

As at 3| December 2022, the level 3 instruments
were mainly equity investments at FVPL and
redeemable equity instrument. As the equity
investments and redeemable equity instrument are
not traded in an active market, its fair value has been
determined using discounted cash flows and market
approach. Major assumptions used in the valuation
include risk-free interest rate, expected volatility,
discount for lack of marketability, perpetual growth
rate, inflation rate, WACC and liquidity discount etc.
Discount rate was estimated by WACC as at each
reporting date. The managements estimated the
risk-free interest rate based on the yield of China
Government Bond with a maturity life equal to period
from the respective reporting period to expected

cash flow date.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognized professional qualifications and recent

experience to perform the valuations.

4 EHEAMRE

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

B(E)

(b) RHEZTEEHEGAEGBIIA
RIEE (&

(i)

1EEEA B R AR R IEERIE
1%

2022128318 » F3BAR
NWTREFEZERAABEBESA
16 20 B9 B RE 4 B8 e ] B (O] R 2
TH - ARKREREROED
Em TERE—B/EEMIER
% > HERAABERANRERE
TMEMTIE S AEE o HED
FRANEERRAERER R
= FEERREME ~ TR REE
e~ KEEEX - BEFRK
X IEFEEEERRATRE
HEITESE o MIRFBRBEN SR
= HEAN IS E AR A
H o BEEERBEPEHEGER S
EREHEEPRESREEH
Z EIE AR W s R B R

BRI o

MEIBBRAABESEM
= AEE-—RELREARP
BEER RIS RSB (G
BEEZETHEE -
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For the year ended 3| December 2022

HE002F12831ALEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4

(b)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs

(Cont'd)

(i)

256

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (Cont'd)

The following table summarizes the quantitative

information about the significant unobservable inputs

used in level 3 value measurements. During the

two years, there were no changes in the valuation

techniques used:

Description

e

Unobservable inputs

FRIBREBAE

(b)

TREMRERE (&

EHEZT A EEGA B ENIA

RIEE ()

(i)  1REBAGEREADDIEENEE
1% (/&)
TREEEIEREETEF
ERNEZ NI REH AEN
EEER - NMEEER > &
FB B9 B BT I SR

Effect on fair value for increase of input

BAEEMBARBENEE

Financial assets at FVPL — investments

BRARNEES AR

THEE-—KA

Financial liabilities at FVPL — redeemable

equity instrument

BRAAMBESAEBREN
TREE-—JBE#ED TR

2022 Annual Report

Expected volatility
FRERR BN

Risk-free interest rate

R R R

Earnings growth factor
BAERERH

WACC
MEFER A

Expected volatility
TRERR BN

Discount for lack of marketability

FRZRENEITE

Increased
s

Increased
s

Increased
s

Decreased
DEA%

Decreased
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TRHEMEEIE (&)
(c)  Fair values of other financial instruments (0 EfEsMTENARMEE
The Group also has a number of financial instruments which NEBEREETFZLELESHBRRT
are not measured at fair value in the consolidated statement KPR EBEALBETENESH T
of financial position such as loans to customers, trade and B I REE% - B REAMMEL
other receivables, borrowings and other payables. For these HIE N B REMENRIE o BR
instruments, the fair values are not materially different to SLETH A ESEHEEEDEE
their carrying amounts, since the interest rate is close to BEEEMER  FAMNXRERS
current market rates, or the instruments are short-term in BISHN=E> yEZETEHIZEH
nature. H o
CREDIT FACILITATION AND SERVICE FEE 5 EERSEREE
Year ended 3| December
BENA3IBLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREETTT
Upfront credit facilitation service fee FHIEERESRFEE 47,607 137,020
Post credit facilitation service fee BHEEBRASREE 66,192 100,391
113,799 237411

Note:

The unsatisfied performance obligation as at 3| December 2022 was
approximately RMB21[,193,000. Management expects that [00% of the
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as at 31 December 2022

will be recognized as revenue within the next twelve months.

HiaE -

FR20224F 12531 HARSEHBAIE AT BN R
21,193,00077 o BB FARIFE20224F 12531 H
DEEEREITEFIBIZ S 1ERT 100% 15 55K 2

+ =185 A HERR A ik o
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

6 OTHER REVENUE

Year ended 3| December
BENA3IHLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

Overdue charges AHEE 6,298 ['1,168
Referral service fee NBRFEE 19,066 10,233
Camping revenue bl 11,063 -
Others Hh 13,718 30,108

50,145 51,509

7 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company who reviews consolidated results of the Group
when making decisions about resources allocation and assessing the
performance of the Group. The executive directors consider that the
Group operates mainly in one business segment and the measurement of

segment result is based on “Operating (loss)/profit” as presented in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

The majority of the Group's activities are carried out in mainland China
during the years presented and the majority of the Group's assets and

liabilities are located in mainland China. Accordingly, no analysis by

geographical basis for the years are presented.

There is no concentration risk as no revenue from a single external

customer was more than 0% of the Group total revenue for the year

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group's non-current assets other than financial instruments were

located in the PRC as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

8  EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 BMEEDHRZ

Year ended 3| December
BENA3IBLEFE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETTT

Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) EE@AFEZ (H5E9) 153,376 168,180
External technical service fees SNER S T AR 7S B 123,162 96,414
Fund transfer charges B ERE 135,103 78,42 |
Marketing and advertising fees SIHNESE 7,087 44,469
Depreciation and amortization T EE e i EH 15,752 27247
Professional service fees HERBE 17,368 16,631
Office expenses AR 11,808 8,266
Auditor's remuneration TZ B EMEN <= 2,380 3,580
Others Hith 22,486 26,751

Total amount of origination and servicing expenses,  HHIERARFSRS ~ —ARRITEGEIS
general and administrative expenses, research and TREEFASE R dH & R & H R 2 AVAE A

development expenses and sales and marketing

expenses 488,522 469,959
Note: Incremental costs to obtain arrangements where the Group is not the loan Kt AR IE E AL A HI A A — FE B L » B ETE
originator are generally expensed off when incurred, because the amortization KEF W IEE N FEE B LIS S pL 25— AR
periods of these incremental costs are one year or less. These costs are recorded RELERSH o ZFEHMAWRINRABIHEREH
as sales and marketing expenses. Fs% o
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

9  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEEMRAX

Year ended 3| December
BEN2A3IBLEFE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE -~ #reREAL 97,987 106,661
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BIRE A — FEMHETE 12,927 13,591
Other social security costs, housing benefits and HMtREE ~ EERAN KR
other employee benefits Hihge EEH 8,653 12,275
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 31) LU A EEE RN 2 (PEE31) 33,809 35,653
153,376 168,180
Note:  Maijority of the Group's contributions to pension plans are related to the local BifaE © ZKEE (B A9 K B8 7 2B Tk 2 Rk £ o B i fE S A
employees in the PRC. All local employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC i o FREHT B 2 E1 A9 A B & e 5 15 2 £ 71 B
participate in employee social security plans established in the PRC, which BIESH ERIEFZ - BIFENE BERE
cover pension, medical and other welfare benefits. According to the relevant @ F] o RIZERIFHEE » Lottt & REEF
regulations, the portion of premium and welfare benefit contributions that should A8 E B K5 B2 T 1\ 5] B R IERIRE R 45 7]
be borne by the companies within the Group as required by the above social B FEHESRLXFLTHDILET - BE
security plans are principally determined based on percentages of the basic 2022 202 | F 12531 HIEFER B (R E]
salaries of employees. The applicable percentages used to provide for these BIBH B EEZAT -
social security plans for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are listed
below:
Percentage-2022 Percentage-202 |
B —20220F B —20214F
Pension insurance BOKREE 14.0%-16.0% 14.0%-16.0%
Medical insurance Bk 9.8%-10.8% 9.8%-10.8%
Unemployment insurance KRR 0.5%-0.8% 0.5%-0.8%
Housing fund tEEZ 5.0%-12.0% 5.0%-12.0%
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont'd) 9 EERNMEX#E)
Senior management includes directors and other senior executives. SMEIBEAEOEEENEMERITEHA
The aggregate compensation paid/payable to senior management B o EERFBMEN BN FTakEE
for employee services, is as follows: AERAESFBNGN T

Year ended 3| December
BENA3IHLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTTT

Salaries e 1,667 3,835
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 1,138 1,333
Pension costs — defined contribution plan BIKE A — R EMHETE 109 189
Other social security costs, housing benefits Hitt R ~ R @&

and other employee benefits HihigE S4EF 187 377
Share-based compensation expenses DURG AR A B R # EANER s 26,244 24,739

29,345 30,473

The Company considers senior management of the Group as REZE20202F 12831 HIEFE > —%5#k
directors of the Company upon the promotion of one senior BEEERBARES LB AABHRAE
management to director during the year ended 31 December EEERBEERNRRES °
2022.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont'd)

9 EERFARZE)

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the aggregate

compensation paid/payable to senior management for employee

services excluding the directors, whose details have been reflected

in Note 10, is as follows:

HE202IF 12831 HIEEE » LEERT
ME/ESTEHREEAS (RBIEEE
B RBEPAKTEE I OESE) F4EFANI T

Year ended

31 December

#®E12831H

LEmE

2021

RMB'000

ARETFTT

Salaries e 1,078

Discretionary bonus B IBTEAL 144

Pension costs-defined contribution plan BIRE A — R EMHIEE 54
Other social security costs, housing benefits HMtREA ~ FERI K

and other employee benefits Hitfg S &5 122

Share-based compensation expenses MM A ERNFTINRE S 594

1,992

The emoluments of the senior management fell within the following

bands:

SREEASHHFMAFUTER :

Number of individuals

A
2022 202
HK$nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZHEITE 1,000,000 7T I I
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,00 | B 7CZE 1,500,00078 7T I 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,00 | A7 3,000,00078 7T = I
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 78752 4,500,00078 70 I -
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,00 | 78T E9,500,00078 7T = I
HK$20,500,001 to HK$21,000,000 20,500,001 BT ZE21,000,000787T = I
HK$29,000,001 to HK$29,500,000 29,000,00 | AB7£ZE29,500,00078 7T I -
4 6
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HE20026 12831 BLEEE

10 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10 EEFN
The remuneration of every director of the Company for the year ended BE2002F 12B3 I BIEEERATISLEEN
31 December 2022 is set out as follows: HENESIOT :
Other social
security costs,
Pension housing
cost- benefits Share
defined  and other based
Director Discretionary ~contribution ~ employee compensation
fees Salaries bonus plan benefits expenses Total

B#hE HtiiR
A RE-HE URAA
REMR BARHEM  BRN
£ 20k wE R it RREN  RMREX et
RMBOOO ~ RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBO0O ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBIOOD
AREBTT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR

Executive directors HTES
Sun Haitao () BiEE(Q) - 593 750 38 57 22,885 24323
Wau Shan (b) SH(b) - 694 388 38 79 27 1,226
Zheng Haiguo (c) 25 (o) - 73 - 3 5 - 8l
Zhu Jianfei (d) REIR() - 307 - 30 46 3332 3715
Non-executive directors FRTES
Zou Yunli (f) FEE®M - - - - - - -
Jiang Chloe Cuicui (g) BIE () - - - - - - -
Gaoli g By - - - - - - -
Yuin (h) FEh) - - - - - - -
- 1,667 1,138 109 187 26,244 29,345
Independent non-executive directors I FFHITESR
Wong Ti i) SER) 7 - - - - - 76
Ye Xiang () =2 178 - - - - - 178
Xu Xuchu (K #IBTK) 148 - - - - - 148
Shou Jian () S0 79 = = = = = 79
481 - - - - - 481
481 ,667 1,138 109 187 26,244 29,826
The total amount of share-based compensation to be expensed is BT RN ARG A ERNFHFWRELE2E
determined by making reference to the fair value of the options and BRERZRRIRABANREEBIHANADE
RSUs at the grant date, which does not represent the actual cashflow the BREE  HUFRRRKRANABNREE202H5 K
Company paid out to the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 FE A3 HIEFERESZANERRE
2022 and 2021. ME o
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HE2NFENA3IBLEE

10

264

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Contd) 10 EEHM (S
The remuneration of every director of the Company for the year ended BE20IFEI2BE3IBIEEERATSLEEN
31 December 2021 is set out as follows: HENESIOT :
Other social
security costs,
Pension housing
cost- benefits Share
defined  and other based
Director Discretionary  contribution ~ employee  compensation
fees Salaries bonus plan benefits expenses Total
Bhe R ‘
HE- BA R LRHS
- ~ _ REtm ENREM  EEE \
Ex% e BB stE EEER  HMREx Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT AREBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors HTES
Sun Haitao (a) NN = 618 470 33 69 15965 17,155
Zheng Haiguo (c) ZE () - 1,047 144 25 54 96 2266
Zhu Jianfei (d) KR (d) = 710 575 57 88 6,187 7617
Zhao Ke (e) ez L] ge) - 382 - 20 44 997 | 443
Non-executive directors FHITES
Zou Yunli (f) PEE®H - - - - - - -
Tuin (h) T#(h) - - - - - - -
= 2,757 ,189 135 255 24,145 2848|
Independent non-executive directors B FRTES
Wong Ti () () 266 - - - - _ 266
Ye Xiang (j) Z8() 249 - - - - - 249
Xu Xuchu (k) B4 (k) 208 = = = = = 208
723 = = — — — 723
723 2,757 ,189 135 255 24,145 29,204
Notes: Mifst -
(a) Appointed as director of the Company in September 2017; appointed as the (a) 201 7FE 9O EZFB LI NG ESE ; JR20224F |
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in January 2022; HEDFLERAGITEIEE ;
(b) Appointed as director of the Company in January 2022; (b)  FR2022%F | HEZEALIANGEE ;
(c) Appointed as director of the Company in February 2021; resigned in January (c) 2021 E2 B EDFB LI AGEDSE ; R20224E |
2022; AEHE;
(d) Appointed as director of the Company in September 202 1; resigned in April (d)  FR2021FIFEZEBIAFEE ; 12202244
2022; AFHE;
(e) Resigned in September 202 1; (e)  FR20214E9H BEIT 5
0] Appointed as director of the Company in November 2017; G} FR20I174E | | HEDZFLEKRAGESE ;
(2) Appointed as director of the Company in January 2022; (g) 2022 | H EZFA L ANFEE ;
(h) Appointed as director of the Company in February 2021, resigned in April 2022; (h) 2021 FE2HEZFEAIATTEE » jR202244
ABHE;
(i) Resigned in April 2022; () FR2022F418EHF 5
0 Appointed as director of the Company in February 2018; 0, 20182 ELZFHB L ANEEE ;
(k) Appointed as director of the Company in April 2020; (k) FR2020FF45 EZTHBAAFESE ;
0] Appointed as director of the Company in May 2022; () FR202F5FEZFABFANGTEE ;
(m)  Except for Ms. Zou Yunli, who waived remunerations amounting to HK$/,000 (m) BGEZEEL L (R EE2022F 52021 F 125

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively, no director
waived or has agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended 3|
December 2022 and 2021.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS I EREEHMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group HEJONENAIIHIEFE » "EBRLES
for the year ended 31 December 2022 include 3 (2021: 3) directors HFNATEIEIZRES Q021 4F . 3%) » HEi
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 10. The R IRIEMEE IOFR B D AT o B E 20225 12831
emoluments payable to the remaining 2 individuals for the year ended 3| HIEFEE > ENEE T 28 AT Q0214F  284) 18
December 2022 (2021: 2) are as follows: FEan R

Year ended 3| December
®HEI2B3 1 HIEEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT

Salaries e 1,414 1,282
Discretionary bonus BYISTEAL 561 80
Pension costs — defined contribution plan BAREHEA— R ERDEE 75 66
Other social security costs, housing benefits and HMtRAE ~ EERAN KR
other employee benefits HithE a5 157 139
Share-based compensation expenses DURG D 2 ERE R # AN R s 3,478 3,470
5,685 5,037
The emoluments fell within the following bands: AN U TEE

Number of individuals

EEAZ
2022 2021
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 78752 2,000,000 7T | -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 Bt % 2,500,000 75 - |
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,00 | 775 % 4,000,000 75 - |
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 78752 5,000,000 7T | -
2 2
During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the EMEAN > AEBTERENAGRSEHMA
five individuals with the highest emoluments as an inducement to join or 2 (< Fr B 1F 2 10 A SR N A A £ B B 2 B2 B
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. oy EER 2 fE1E o
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HE2NFENA3IBLEE

12

EXPECTED CREDIT (GAIN)/LOSS, NET
The composition of ECL provided for the years ended 3| December 2022

and 2021 is as follows:

12 FEEREA (&) 18KFEE
HEI0NFEK2021F 1283 BIEEE » BEN

FREAS FR4ERARRIN T ¢

Year ended 31 December

BE1N2A3IHILLEE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR¥TFTT

Trade receivables (Note 26) B 5 EUGRIE (F1EE26) 1,132 30,691
Prepayments and other receivables T RRIE e EL AR U RIS 3,912 17,790
Contract assets (Note 25) BHEE (MizE25) (5,502) 5503
Loans to customers, net (Note 27) BEREMFE (M5E27) (1,680) (419)
Quality assurance fund (Note 24) BEREE (5E24) (82,848) (38,167)
(84,986) 15,398

OTHER LOSSES, NET

13 HfthEsig8 348

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT AR®BFT
Impairment loss (a) EAEESENE) (26,179) (151,720)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL BARBEFABGNSHEE
AR EEEE (14,489) (13,711)
Gain on disposal of financial assets as FVPL HEZRABEES AER
HEREEN R - 1,389
Government grants (b) BT B (b) 1,434 6,631
Others Hith 6,296 3,369
(32,938) (154,042)
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HE2NENP3IBLEE

I3 OTHER LOSSES, NET (Contd) 13 EMERFE
(@)  The composition of impairment loss provided for the years ended () BE2002FER202IFI2B3IBILEEFE >
31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows: BB EER&AERIT ¢

Year ended 3| December
®HEI2B3 1 HIEEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT

Impairment on intangible assets (Note 19) mLEERE (MIEE9) = (148,903)

Impairment on investments accounted for using AR A A BRAVIE EHE (M15£20)

equity method (Note 20) (26,179) 2817)
(26,179) (151,720)
(b)  Government grants represented various subsidies granted by the (b) BN #HENTS FB BT 1 RER T Y 2 TR AL -
government authorities which are not assets related. HEREE 7 ffe o
14 FINANCE EXPENSES, NET 14 MR FEE

Year ended 31 December
HEI2B3 I HIEEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT

Finance income BIEIKA
Interest income on bank deposits IRITERA B WA (7,992) (5542)
Finance income [ ON (7,992) (5542)
Finance expenses B
Interest and finance charges paid/payable for TIRESIEN At EN MBS

financial liabilities at amortised cost Bt EMR R RS ER 15,424 13,964
Exchange gain, net PE U & F 28 (1) (897)
Finance expenses g 15,423 13,067
Finance expenses, net WSR2 HER 7,431 7,525
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HE2NFENA3IBLEE

I5 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Statements

I5 FriSIRAX

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TT AEBETIT
Current income tax BNEAFR 1SR (12) (1,436)
Deferred income tax IRIEFRETR 3,246 51,229
3,234 49793

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate applicable to loss of

the consolidated entities as follows:

REEFRFTINATBENIRIERRN A A S
BEBERERNZERXGAEREENERE
88 MR

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBF T
Loss before income tax: FREFSFIAIRSIE : (94.395) (210,908)
Tax calculated at PRC statutory income tax R EE RS R 2%t ER
rate of 25% MIA (23,599) (52.727)
Tax effects of: MTFEENRBRE .
Preferential income tax rates applicable to subsidiaries [ /& /A 5] A B EFTE R = 12,396 19,219
Tax losses not recognized for I SRR IEFT S 1R B AR R Y
deferred income tax assets (Note 22) MIEE 18 (FisE22) 22,763 30,654
Deductible temporary differences not I LR IE PSR B E RS2
recognized for deferred income tax assets AR R =R 5315 8,717
Other permanent differences Hxk AMERR 10,636 12,213
Utilization of unrecognized deductible ERFFEERMERT
temporary differences in prior years 078 B b5 1 = KB (26,380) (31,382)
Derecognition of previously recognized R IERES RIS VIR IR IR & A
deferred tax assets 4514 66,630
Research and development tax credit I ZCEA R IR IEIR (2411) (3531)
Income tax expenses FRistiR 3,234 49,793
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont'd)

The Group's main applicable taxes and tax rates are as follows:

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the current
tax laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on
income or capital gains. In addition, no withholding tax will be imposed on

dividends distributed by the Company to its shareholders.

The Group’s entities incorporated in BVI are not subject to tax on income

or capital gains.

The Group’s entities incorporated in HK are subject to profits tax rate of
16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law"),
the enterprises incorporated in mainland China are generally subject to a
uniform enterprise income tax rate of 25%, except for entities qualified as
“Software Enterprise”, “High and New Technology Enterprise”(“HNTE")
or “Small Low-profit Enterprise” for which preferential tax treatments are

granted under EIT Law.

Beijing Dingli Chuangshi Technology Co., Ltd* (IERRNDAIHRIEHE
FR/AF]), Hangzhou Yiniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (FriN&4
HEERAMAMRAR)) and Beijing Shouhui Kaizhuo Technology Co., Ltd.*
(ItREEREREERAT) (“Shouhui Kaizhuo”) were qualified as
HNTEs in 2017; Beijing Yaku Shikong Information Exchange Technology
Co. Ltd* (IERIEFERFZE(E BAHARAMTBRAB]) (“Yaku Shikong”)
and Beijing Shouhui Shidai Information Technology Co., Ltd* (JEREE
RS BEMIBIRAT]) were qualified as HNTEs in 2018, Hangzhou
Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd* (FINBFAEHEMBRAR)
(*Hangzhou Enniu”) and Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology
Co., Ltd* (MNIRHFEERARAT]) (‘Hangzhou Zhenniu”) were
qualified as HNTEs in 2019. Hangzhou Zhenniu renewed its HNTEs
qualification in 2022. They were entitled to a preferential income tax rate
of 15% for three years. The HNTE qualification is subject to renewal every

three years.

All other subsidiaries of the Company established in mainland China were

subject to enterprise income tax rate of 25%.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

FRISTRF ()
FEENTEBRRBRREMT :

RABRRHAESEHEEMMIL - REHASHEN
RITRE > FREBEEAFAERVELTRGF
oo s BIEHAATDBHEHRRD KBRS
BUFRINR -

FERNEBERRASEMAINEREA
AP SIS B AFFR

FERNREBEMBIIVERERM I 6.5%11%K
BIFIER -

RIE(REARLMBEREPSRZE) (TREFR
BRZE)) > RAEAMEMRINEE—RA
RF— B EFTBIRRIS%BMEZEFRER
ERBEEMBRARHEERZHENGE
BiER TR~ TERmtE) (TS
fire2E ) st NEURAI 2 | BB REFRSIN o

IERBAOBMHRZERAE ~ MINEFELEE
MAERADRIEFEERENEARAR (M
BHE1) R20I7FHEBES SRR ;
IR G ERAEM A RA R (THESER
) RIEEEERAEBEMARATNR20I8
FIRE A T b2 5 HUN B A& R
BRAE (TAMBS ) RMNirFE 88 EE
FRAT (THMIRE ) R0 90ERWBES ST
M o FINRE R 200 EREHAEADEH
KMk ZERDEREZE=ZFI%NEE
FTRRE oMMt EXERBAS=G6F/HMD

=

iE °

RABRPBEAM K IIBIFRE BN E AR A
AR5 %I E R R ZEFRISHR o

269

2022 FEHRE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

I5

270

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont'd) 15 FAEHREXZ (E&
According to the EIT Law, distribution of profits earned by the companies BIECEMERE  EERBINETEMAINE
in the PRC since | January 2008 to foreign investors is subject to IEER AT EFE > BEIERA T B2008
withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending on the country of incorporation F B I BEEEIEINEGEE KT BRI A F) 8
of the foreign investor, upon the distribution of profits to overseas- 5% | 0% P TR K mFalie » R FEZIBEINE
incorporated immediate holding companies. BEIMBIFRIEME ©
The Group does not have any plan to require its subsidiaries in the NEBE W E 2 ERE P RHIE R EA S DK
PRC to distribute their retained earnings and intends to retain them to HEZBEA > BHEAHOEERNNEBAS(HRE
operate and expand its business within the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred MEHEMNUERRIEAR S RIAREEZETS o
income tax liability on withholding tax for the undistributed profits of the It > #EEFRRERMN B AT R Ik EF ELE
subsidiaries in the PRC has been accrued. BB AR IEFFBIREaE o
LOSS PER SHARE 16 =EiREIE
(@)  Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss of the Group (a) EREXNGEDNBAATHER ABGERE

for the year attributable to owners of the Company by the BEANBEGRUEANE BT ERNETE

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the HHETE o

year.

Year ended 3| December
BEI2A3IBLLFE
2022 2021
Loss attributable to owners of KABHEE AEILEIE
the Company (RMB'000) (ANE¥TFIT) (82,697) (233,687)
Weighted average number of BEITERERIETHE
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F5%) 1,220,409 [,211,852
Basic loss per share (expressed in RMB) FHREREBERE (UARKTY|R) (0.07) (0.19)
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I6 LOSS PER SHARE (Cont'd)

(®)

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

l6 =HRESIE (&)

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted (b)

average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

As the Group incurred losses for the years ended 31 December

2022 and 2021, the potential ordinary shares were not included in

the calculation of dilutive loss per share, as their inclusion would be

anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the years ended

31 December 2022 and 2021 is the same as basic loss per share.

SREEHRDURREBRAFIEREER
R BN SRR M EETEIINS ERM
BTN HNE -

HRAEBREE2022F %2021 F 128
SIHEFEELRSE  RATEEREE
BRI R RBETERER > RREF K
BELBERFEAREELE - At > &
EJONER20FENRAIBLEEENS
R e 1B S R E A EEER o

Year ended 31 December

HENA3IBLEE

2022 2021

Loss attributable to owners of the Company — ANA SR AFE(LETE

(RMB'000) (ANEB¥FT) (82,697) (233,687)
Weighted average number of ordinary BRTEERMET S (TR)

shares in issue (‘000) 1,220,409 1,211,852
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FBRA 5T B & IR #H 1AM

for calculation of diluted loss per TR N 9 (FRR)

share (‘000) 1,220,409 [,211,852
Diluted loss per share (expressed in RMB) FE#EEE (UARKEEIR) (0.07) (0.19)
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

I7 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

17 WERREFEE

Computer Office
and electronic  furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment improvements Building vehicles Total
Bk MARAR
EfRfE ®fs  HERE BF RE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETRT ARBTR
(Note (a))
(MEE(a)
Cost A
As at | January 2022 120261 51 H 87,303 13,121 85,638 105,215 2,531 293,808
Additions HE 5917 3,931 8318 - 249 18,415
Disposal RE (23,430) (1,737) - - (2,405) (27,572)
Disposal on Deconsolidation BRIHREANREREE
(Note 35) (Pg5E35) (9.815) (130) (16) - (143) (10,104)
As at 3| December 2022 R2022F 12831 H 59,975 15,185 93,940 105,215 232 274,547
Accumulated depreciation EitinE
As at | January 2022 120261 B1H (80,594) (13,115) (71,987) (22,490) (890) (189,076)
Depreciation charge for the year (b)  FRITERZ (b) (2,395) (61) (4,905) (4,998) (465) (12,824)
Disposal BE 18,791 1,109 = = 1,354 21,254
Disposal on Deconsolidation RIHRANRERE
(Note 35) (Bg5%35) 8,492 7l - - = 8,563
As at 31 December 2022 1202212831 H (55,706) (11,996) (76,892) (27,488) (1 (172,083)
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2022 #2022 128318 4269 3,189 17,048 71,127 231 102,464
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

17 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Contd) 17 YEERDBEBEEE)

Computer Office
and electronic  furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment  improvements Building vehicles Total
Bk MARER
BTtk HE  HEEE BF HE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETR ARETr ARETT ARETR ARETR
(Note (a))
(FiEE(a))
Cost D%
As at | January 2021 2021 EIBIR 87,435 14,708 85,440 105,215 1813 294611
Additions NE 200 39 198 - 1,376 1,813
Disposal RE (332) (1,626) - - (658) (2616)
As at 31 December 2021 12021128318 87,303 13,121 85,638 105,215 2531 293,808
Accumulated depreciation EitinE
As at | January 2021 2021 I1B1H (75415) (14571) (64,089) (17,492) (1,107) (172,674)
Depreciation charge for the year ()  ERITERIX (b) (5479) (86) (7,898) (4,998) (424) (18,885)
Disposal RE 300 [,542 - - 641 2483
As at 31 December 2021 20214128318 (80,594) (I13,115) (71,987) (22,490) (890) (189,076)
Net book value IREEE
As at 3| December 202 1®20215128318 6,709 6 13,651 82,725 641 104,732
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

17 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Cont'd) 17 WERBEFLE(Z)

(@ As at 31 December 2022, building with net book value of (@) FM2002FNRB3IH REFENARE
approximately RMB77,727,000 (2021: RMB82,725,000) was 77,727,0007T (2021 £ . AR #£82,725,000
pledged as security for bank borrowings and bank guarantees (Note T N FEH B IERITE T RIBITIEEN
32). R (FEE32) ©

(b) Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated (b) IMERIBUTARARGEEZEERRN
statement of comprehensive loss as follows: B& .

Year ended 3| December
BENA3IHLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTTT

Origination and servicing expenses IR R ARFSRE 2 5,828 8,550
Sales and marketing expenses THE e HY 3,893 1,611
General and administrative expenses — R TR S 1,113 2,519
Research and development expenses s Re 1,990 6,205

12,824 18,885
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

I8 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

KEREAERERSEBANEEER

As at 31 December

#2831
2022 202
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBETT

Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Buildings 1B 13,887 5,392
Lease liabilities HEER
Current i) (6,600) (3,551
Non-current JEmE (6,589) (1,051)
(13,189) (4,602)
Year ended 3| December
HEI2R3IBLLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTFT AR®EFT
Depreciation charge for the year FARTERS (6,231) (4,804)
Interest expense (included in finance expense) FEX Gt AMBERH%) 260 90
Expense relating to short-term leases B HAE B AR
(included in operating expenses) GtALKLERY) 1,317 638
Total cash outflow for lease HERS R H4AERE 6,139 4,146
Additions to right-of-use assets ERHEEERE 14,726 3932
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 EREE
Payment
Goodwill Software Platform  Applications license  Trademark Camping Total
Ba #fr A R xfIER B i At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARBTRT AREBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
GER) (Wi (b))
Cost %
Asat | January 2022 R2022% 18 1B 482371 26,292 9810 3,260 499,000 5272 - 1,026,011
Addition from purchases EERE - 35 - - - - 4670 4705
Disposal on deconsolidation of 8 IE& & \EREF R E
subsidiaries (Note 35) (HtzE3s) = = = = (499,000) - = (499,000)
As at 3| December 2022 R2022%128318 482377 26,327 9810 3,260 - 5272 4670 531,716
Accumulated amortization Bty
Asat | January 2022 120241818 _ (24,109) (9810) (1277) - (226) - (37458)
Amortization charge forthe year ~ EREHY
(Note (c)) (Fif3E(c)) = (1,826) - - - (585) (517) (2928)
As at 3| December 2022 120225128318 = (25,935) (9.810) (1,277 - (2.847) (517) (40,386)
Impairment losses HEBX
Asat | January 2022 #0251 818 (448,630) - - (1983) (188,800) - - (639413)
Addition RE = = = = = = = =
Disposal on deconsolidation of & IE&R & A\EREF R E
subsidiaries (Note 35) (Fi#5E35) - = = = 188,800 - - 188,800
As at 31 December 2022 R202E12831H (448,630) - - (1,983) - - - (450613)
Net book value REFE
As at 3| December 2022 202245128318 33,741 392 - - - 2425 4153 40,717
Cost %
Asat | January 202 R2021E 18 1B 482377 25828 9810 3260 499,000 5272 - 1,025,547
Addition from purchases BERE - 464 - - - - - 464
As at 3| December 2021 R2021E 128318 482377 26292 9810 3260 499,000 5272 - 1,026,011
Accumulated amortization BB
Asat | January 202 202151818 = (21,299) (9.647) (1.277) - (1.677) - (33,900)
Amortization charge forthe year ~ ERE#HY
(Note (c)) iEQ) - (2810) (163) - - (585) - (3558)
As at 3| December 2021 120214128318 - (24,109) (9.810) (1.277) - (2262) - (37458)
Impairment losses HEBX
Asat | January 2021 R02EIBIH (448,630) - - (1983) (39,897) - = (490510)
Addition RE = = = = (148,903) - - (148903)
As at 3| December 2021 R20214 128318 (448,630) - - (1983) (188:800) - - (639413)
Net book value REE
As at 31 December 2021 ®2020£128318 33747 2,183 = = 310200 3010 - 349,140
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, goodwill of approximately
RMB33,747,000 was recognized as the results of the acquisition of
China Netcom in 2017 by the Group. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level by the management. The management
assessed Netcom as one separate operating segment (“Netcom
Unit").

Impairment review on the goodwill of the Group has been
conducted by the management as at 3| December 2022 according
to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”. For the purpose of impairment
review, the recoverable amount of Netcom Unit containing
goodwill is determined based on the higher amount of the fair value

less cost of disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use calculations.

As at 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of Netcom Unit
containing goodwill was determined based on FVLCD, which was
estimated by management with reference to the quoted market
price of Netcom'’s listed shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Management
considered the recoverable amount of Netcom Unit containing
goodwill was higher than its carrying amount as at 3|1 December
2022.

Based on the assessment, no impairment on Netcom Unit
containing goodwill was required for the year ended 3| December
2022 (202 1: Nil).

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

BREE (&

R2022FEK2021E 12831 H » AEER
201 7E B EAE » HEEEENA
S #533,747,0007T - BIEER&E DI/
REREE - EEERPEABREES—
BB E DI (TR EENL) ETT
A o

20225 128318 > BEBRIKEESS
ZRIFE3 6 EEREIHANEENEEE
THESHE WAESHEmS » PXREBE
BANAWEIEREBERRANEEREE
A (TAREBEREERAS) REREE
STENRERBEET °

20225 12831 H > RERBEEMN (B8
8 WE el £ 8T B R A A EE R H
EREETE > BEEESZHRERENES
MERZMARAR (TH3ZR) GEMZ k
MG HBERETZAABERLE
7S © 722022 12831 H > EEERAT
FHEBEM(BamE) WalEeiE=”R
HAREE o

B > 8. E2022F 12831 HIEE

B PEERE(EamE) RERRE
(2021 £F : &) ©
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

19

278

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

The Group's payment license which arose from the acquisition of
Shouhui Kaizhuo on 31 December 2017 is carried at cost less any
subsequent impairment loss, and is considered to have an indefinite
useful life based on the following grounds:

(i) The payment license was valid and granted by People’s Bank
of China (“PBOC") which is renewable every 5 years with
immaterial administrative expenses;

(i) The management of the Company considered that there
would be no practical difficulties in the application for
payment license renewal; and

(i)  The Company has tested whether the payment license
with indefinite useful life had suffered any impairment on an
annual basis by conducting an annual review to determine
whether the latest events and circumstances continue to
support an indefinite useful life assessment.

Impairment review on the payment license with indefinite useful
life has been conducted by the management as of 31 December
2021 according to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”. The Group
compares the carrying amount of the payment license against its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the payment
license was determined based on FVLCD, which was estimated by
management with reference to the comparable transaction cases
within past one year. Based on the impairment assessment, an
impairment loss of approximately RMB 148,903,000 was recognized
against the payment license for the year ended 3| December 2021.

Refer to Note 35 for information in respect of the disposal of
payment license on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries during the year
ended 3| December 2022.

Amortization charges of intangible assets were recorded in
the following categories in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss:

19

7 ﬂ/ﬁé (/uﬁ

AEBERF017F 1283 BNEEEBREMm
ESNZTERUMRA R AT AEBERE
BhETREE ) TERUTRABEAE
BERCIFERASEE

() XTEBHAPBEARET(THEA
R1T)) EEEN > ASLFEH
WA B NBITEFEX

(iy AAEBEERZR > BRIMER
BRTFEEREZ ; &

(i) *EEREBFEBETLNRERNE
HEBERESEE T ERYIER
FHFE > TEFANERTER
FHMERESFERE

R2021F 128310 » EEEERERKES
SRR EERBEIHERAIFERESE
N TR RETRESR - ZEER
THEREREmE R E U E S REE L o 2
SRR Ry BT U Bl R8T IR IR A A EE R T
ERAMETE > MEENEEBL2RE

E—ERETHIE LR ZEEGHS

H oo RIBBRES S > B ZE2021F 12831 H
IFFEENSTRBERIBERELOAR
#148,903,0007T °

B2REMEE3S 0 U T ERREE20224F 128
JIHIEEE » BRRKBARK LGS
IRMEHE X (TERNER o

BILEENEHERAN G 2EEERT
TELUT 4R R HHRERD

Year ended 3| December

HENA3IBLEE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AREBFT

Origination and servicing expenses IR R ARFS R 2 1,331 743
General and administrative expenses — R TR 1,143 27276
Research and development expenses I h s 454 539
2,928 3,558
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY 20 {EEEREAENKS
METHOD

As at 31 December

128318
2022 202
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBETT

Associates — unlisted investments in the PRC B AR RBENIE EHIRE 31,660 44,161
The movement of the Group's interests in associates is as follows: REBRBHE AT RRNESUT -

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARKT T

At the beginning of the year REH] 44,161 32,099
Addition (a) FE(a) 34,000 17,000
Transfer out (Note 36) i (fI5E36) (8,399)

Share of net losses M5 EEE (11,923) (2,121)
Impairment loss (b) EAEEEEN () (26,179) (2,817)
At the end of the year RER 31,660 44,161
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

The investments in associates as at 3| December 2022 and 2021 are as

20 ERA#IEARNRE (E

FR2022F %2021 FE 12831 BN BHE A B IEE

280

follows:

mr

Percentage of
attributable

equity interest

ERERD L
Date of Place of
Name of Entity incorporation incorporation 2022 2021 Principal activities
ERRE A AA=E:G AR TEED
Zhejiang Anniu Technology Co., Ltd. 9 October 2016 PRC 27.25% 27.25% Development and operation
MIZERRBRAR 2016F1089H HRE] of applications
R REEER
Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology 29 December 2006 PRC 49.61% 49.61% Development and operation
Co,, Ltd. ("Beijing Juece")(b, c) 2006 12H29H s of applications
BRARREHRHLBRAF (MERR R#EREZRR
®1) (b o
Hangzhou Sunyard Fintech Technology 26 May 2016 PRC 13.76% 13.76% Technology services
Co,, Ltd. (“Sunyard") (d) 20165F5H26H B i AR
TINEHEEZ =R
BRAE (TEHE)) (d)
Shanghai Pengshu Information 6 February 2016 PRC 15.42% 15.42% Loan collection services
Technology Co,, Ltd. (“Pengshu”) (e) 201628 6H i B ARS
LEMBESRKAERRE (TARBU) (o)
Shanghai Zhengcheng (a, b) 19 June 2019 PRC N/A 46% Technology services
EBIEZ@E b) 2019568 190 FRE] (Note 36) AR
Linglan Information Technology 8 June 2020 PRC 10% 10% Technology services
(Shanghai) Co,, Ltd. (a) 202064 8H B i AR

BEREHR (LB BERAF ()
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

@

(b)

On |5 July 2021 and 29 January 2021, the Group acquired 46%
and 0% equity interests in Shanghai Zhengcheng and Linglan
Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., respectively. During
the year 31 December 2022, the Group agreed to Shanghai
Zhengcheng to capitalise the loans by the Group to Shanghai
Zhengcheng of an amount of RMB34,000,000. Refer to Note 36 on
deemed acquisition of Shanghai Zhengcheng as a subsidiary of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group made an
impairment provision of approximately RMB26,179,000 against
the carrying amount of the investment in Shanghai Zhengcheng,
which was based on the assessed recoverable amount. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group made an impairment
provision of approximately RMB2,817,000 against the carrying
amount of the investment in Beijing Juece, which was based on the

assessed recoverable amount.

On 26 December 2017, the Group acquired 49.61% equity
interests in Beijing Juece. Set out below is the summarized financial
information of Beijing Juece, which is considered as a material
associate of the Company. Other associates are not individually

material to the Group.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

20 ERA#EEARNKRE ()

(@)

2021 78 158 /%2021 15298 » &
EEDRIWE LBIEEM46% K BEALE
Bk (E8) BRATIMNI0%EHE - REE
202F 12831 BIEFE > AEERR £
BIEERAEER LBE2RENSES
AR 34,000,000t EMRE AL - AR
REZE2025F 12831 HIEEEREURE L
5% 2 e E AR A A S BRI B A Bl Y5+
15 > A2 RIMIEE36 ©

REE202F12B3IHILEEE » &
EiRETHEBN A YO8 5 LEEE
ENRERAESRBAEBEEOARE
26,179,0007¢ ° FREE202 1 F 12831 HIE
FE > AEBRBETHENAIUEEZE
I FREN R ERE AR A EREY
ANE#2817,0007T ©

20175128268 » REBEWFEILRRE
B949.6 | %R HE o T X EFIIEFRRBHIIF S
BT > Mt RARHRARABTNE
EHE AT o EthEE A TER M S B4
EETAEK o

Beijing Juece

ERARSE
As at 31 December
128318

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR#TFTT
Current assets RENBE 32,970 31,629
Non-current assets FERBEE 46 53
Current liabilities nEER 4215 3314
Revenue W a 4,807 11,921
Profit for the year FREH 433 3,583
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

20

282

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

©

(@

(Cont'd)

Set out below is the reconciliation of summarized financial
information of the Group'’s major associate, Beijing Juece, presented

to the carrying amount of its interest in the associated.

20 fERERAARIIIKRE (&)

(c)

TXHEIEERPEZME ABIEFURR
B E R Z B EH R E QB KRR
SREERVEER ©

Beijing Juece
EFRE
As at 31 December

RI12A31H8
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARMTTT
Net assets at the beginning of the year FEERHE 28,368 24785
Profit for the year FE R A 433 3,583
Net assets at the end of the year FREEFHE 28,801 28,368
Interests in the associate REE A B NER 49.61% 49.61%
Share of net asset MEBERE 14,288 14,073
Carrying value BREE 14,288 14,073

On 23 October 2017, the Group acquired |3.76% equity interests
in Sunyard. According to Sunyard’s article of association, the Group
is entitled to appoint one director in the board of directors of
Sunyard (5 board seats in total), and the Group’s management
considers that the Group has the power to exercise significant
influence in Sunyard through the participation in operational
and financial policy-making process. Consequently, investment in

Sunyard has been accounted for using equity method.
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(d)

R2017F 10823 H » KEEWEEHE
13.76% 8% - IRIBEHENBSZEM
A RERBEENEHENESSSE—
LEE(BEEREEERN) 0 BXAEH
NEEERAAEBERNBBESHLE
KB B R IBEA EHETEE AR
27 At > EHENEREFERAEREA
iR ©
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20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

(®)

On 3| December 2021, the Group held 15.42% equity interests in
Pengshu. According to Pengshu's article of association, the Group
is entitled to appoint one director in the board of directors of
Pengshu (5 board seats in total), and the Group's management
considers that the Group has the power to exercise significant
influence in Pengshu through the participation in operational
and financial policy-making process. Consequently, investment
in Pengshu has been accounted for using equity method. The
impairment provision for this investment had been made in full
amount for the year ended 3| December 2022 as there was
significant doubt as to Pengshu’s ability to continue as a going

concern.

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

(e)

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

20 ERA#EEARNKRE ()

R2021 5 12831 H » XEBEFBEREW
15.42% %1 o RIZABNABMZIZAA]
AEEEERRAENEEERE—RES
(B RhEESFEM) » BAEENE
BEERRIEEBEENBBESHKLERY
BHRGIAEHBEITHEERTES °
At > FRBEEFERAEREAR - 8E
202F 12831 HLIEFE » AEBEEMZE
BREHERAERE  EREFEAEEF
BREAE BN E K ERE ©

BRAAREBESABENEMEE

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBF T
Included in non-current assets FAERBEE
— Investment in ordinary shares with preferential — R BB T @R
liquidation rights (a) L (a) 43,052 50,160
— Investments in investment funds (b) —REEEESHRE(b) 26,007 33,388
— Investments in equity host securities — R REREBESNEE 232 232
Included in current assets STARBEE
— Wealth management products — B ER - 295
69,291 84,075
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

21

284

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (Cont'd)

@

(b)

The Group made investments in ordinary shares with liquidation
preference rights of certain companies that are engaged in
providing internet information and technology services. These
investments contain embedded derivatives that are not closely
related to the host contracts. After considering the Group's
investment objectives and intentions, the Group does not
bifurcate the embedded derivatives from the host instruments and
recognizes the entire hybrid contracts as financial assets at FVPL,
with the changes in the fair value recorded in “Other losses, net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. The Company
determined the respective fair values as at the year end based
on the expected discounted cash flow and market multiple of

comparable companies.

21

RAAREBESABEENEMEE (&)

(@)

AEEKRERFRMHER LGB RBMARE
NETABNMAERTEEENEBR o
ZERE S H BT SRR Y)ERIRTER
AXTTETH - EEBAEENKERR
REBE > AEREWRFHRAXTELR
HETADHR > MRS SRS
REARNBEFSABZNEREE > AR
BEEINGFEEEBERASTA THAM
BIEFHR - 2ABRMKERMAMRRS M
ERFIELBRABDNTSEBEHREERER
R AR EE o

As at 31 December

12R31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TT ARHTTT
At the beginning of the year REH 50,160 71,609
Fair value loss of investment in ordinary ERELEEHENEEREEN
shares with preferential liquidation rights NABERE (7,108) (21,449)
At the end of the year REX 43,052 50,160

The Group managed and evaluated these investments on a fair
value basis. These investments were recognized as financial assets at

FVPL upon initial recognition.

REBERANBEEEEERTEZER
B o ZEREN S BB REDREA
AEBEFABZNEMEE °

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARH#TFTT
At the beginning of the year REH 33,388 28,852
Fair value (loss)/gain of investments in RREEEREN A NEE
investment funds (B518) k& (7,381) 7,741
Disposal HE - (3,205)
At the end of the year RER 26,007 33,388
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX

22

The amount of offsetting deferred income tax assets and liabilities is

approximately RMBI15,155,000 as at 3| December 2022 (31 December

2021: RMB18,712,000).

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

EIEFRISIR

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

R20202F 12831 HIRSHEIEFISRNEERERE
MESEAL AR5, 1550007 (2021 F 12831
H: AR#18712,0007T) ©

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFTT
Deferred income tax assets: FILFTISIEE
— to be recovered after more than |2 months — Bt 1218 B & W (E] 20,541 27,344
— to be recovered within |2 months — #1218 B k(o] - -
20,541 27,344
Amount offset deferred tax assets IREHIRIE AR TBE E R T 5E (15,155) (18,712)
Total deferred tax assets RIER IS FEEAE%E 5,386 8,632
Deferred income tax liabilities: IEILFTISHRBE
— to be recovered after more than |2 months — Bt 1218 B & =] = (77,550)
— to be recovered within 12 months — B 1218 B k(e (15,155) (18712)
(15,155) (96,262)
Amount offset deferred tax liabilities ILHIRIERIBAENESEE 15,155 18712
Total deferred tax liabilities IRIEFIE B (548 %E = (77,550)
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont'd) 22 RIEFREM (&)
The gross movements of deferred income tax assets were as follows: IRIEFAIEMBENEBNUT -
Other
Advertising temporary
expenses Tax losses differences Total
Hith
BEERX MIARE YREH “ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT ARETRT AREBTT
As at | January 2021 20211818 2,391 12,833 100,063 115,287
Recognized in the profit or loss  FR 1B HESD 144 (9,590) (78,497) (87,943)
As at 3|1 December 2021 22021128318 2,535 3,243 21,566 27,344
As at | January 2022 72022 18 1H 2,535 3,243 21,566 27,344
Recognized in the profit or loss PIE S FER 28 (414) (6,417) (6,803)
As at 3| December 2022 122022512831 H 2,563 2,829 15,149 20,541
The gross movements of deferred income tax liabilities were as follows: IRIEFAER B ENESIUT
Net impact Intangible
of revenue assets
and risk acquired
reserve fund in business
recognition  combination Total
Wh 25 Rz
[\ B (e 1 RER
HEEHE Sofhulis
NEXE NEREEE 45t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIT ARETT AREBTT
As at | January 2021 20211818 (17,318) (114,802) (132,976)
Recognized in the profit or loss PIESFESR (1,394) 37,252 36,714
As at 3|1 December 2021 12021512831 H (18,712) (77,550) (96,262)
As at | January 2022 220225 151 H (18,712) (77,550) (96,262)
Loss on deconsolidation of B AR ILRE ARBEE
subsidiaries (Note 35) (M$5E35) = 77,550 77,550
Recognized in the profit or loss PIESFESR 3,557 = 3,557
As at 3| December 2022 1220225 12831 (15,155) = (15,155)
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont'd) 22
The Group did not recognize deferred income tax assets of approximately
RMB22,763,000 and RMB30,654,000 in respect of tax losses amounting to
approximately RMB34 1,545,000 and RMB482,229,000 that can be carried
forward against future taxable profit as at 3|1 December 2022 and 2021,

respectively.

The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred income tax assets

were not recognized is as follows:

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

IRIEFR1SIR (2

R2022F K202 1512831 8 » ZEE M ERLA]
4558 F DUIR BH R SR FE SR AR A B N AR 1B E5 38 0 )
AR 15341,545,0007T 2 A K 15482,229,000 70
MRS E E D RIA ARE22,763,0007T
K AR #530,654,0007T ©

I R SR EFR S IR B AR BB R E M A
IR

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Expire within | year B A E (448) (42,566)
Expire in | to 2 years PRI E2EE R (43,083) (42,743)
Expire in 2 to 3 years R2E3EE ™ (41,572) (56,783)
Expire in 3 to 4 years PR3E4AEE® (81,359) (61,826)
Expire in 4 to 5 years R4ZESF & (20,798) (87,337)
Over 5 years and not subject to expiration SEE L = R i 8 & im H 2R (154,285) (190,974)

(341,545) (482,229)
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

23 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 FA(THEREMREKERE

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBT T

Included in non-current assets: STAFERBEE .
Rental deposits HEigs 1,073 292
1,073 292
Included in current assets: SFAREEE !
Amounts due from related parties (Note 37(e)) FEUS BA R 75 =018 (I 5E37(e)) 24,573 37,764
Deposits and prepaid expenses e EBEMES 31,975 39,013
Receivable from disposal of bad debts B B IR IRAVE W RIS 10,574 10,937
Loan to a Director (Note 37(e)) BEEM(MEE37(e)) 10,393 10,214
Withholding tax paid on behalf of grantees RKEREEREFEARAZLH
under employee incentive schemes FEHR 6,292 9,138
Others Hith 32,568 24,507
116,375 31,573
Total s 117,448 31,865
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24 REfREKEGEFES

The following table sets forth the Group'’s quality assurance fund payable
movements for the years ended 3| December 2022 and 202 1:

TREFEE2022F 52021 £ 12831 HIEEE
SEBRENESRESNED .

Year ended 31 December

BE1NA3IHILEEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥TFTT
Opening balance A &L e 59,681 53,867
Fair value of newly written quality sl EE2RmEatNAnBEE
assurance obligation 93,109 52,658
ECL reversed for the year (Note 12) AEEELNTERREBEX
(FFsE12) (90,986) (27,038)
Release of the margin (Note 12) R IRE S (fIEE12) 7,822 (11,651
Payouts during the year, net FARZFEE (47,913) (108,155)
Ending balance HAZR 4568 21,713 59,681
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

24 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24 FE(tREWNEERES (&

(Cont'd)
The following table sets forth the Group's quality assurance fund TREHIEHE2022FE K202 FE 1283 HIEEE
receivable movements for the years ended 3| December 2022 and 202 1: REBEEINEEFRESHNES .
Year ended 3| December
BEN2A3IBLEFE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
Opening balance HA¥ 456 28,797 22,190
Fair value of newly written quality FEIEERBETHNAAERE
assurance obligation 93,109 152,658
ECL provided for the year (Note 12) REEBENTERREREX
(FFsE12) (316) (522)
Contribution received from borrowers fBEAALEE (105,147) (145,529)
Ending balance HAR 45 B8R 16,443 28,797
As at 3| December 2022
1#2022%12A31H
ECL staging
REERERMKR
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—PEE BB 2 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFR ARBFR AREBFT AEBFT
Quality assurance fund receivable ElRESFEE 17,746 933 33,762 52,44|
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (a) RN ISR A
F9SE T BRFE
ERBRRHEE) (2,598) (632) (32,768) (35,998)
Quality assurance fund receivable, net EREERESFE 15,148 301 994 16,443
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

24 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24 FEftREWNEERES (&

(Cont'd)
As at 3| December 202
120214128318
ECL staging
RHERRRER
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—IER FIRE BB Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTT AEBTR AREBFT AEBTT
Quality assurance fund receivable EWEEFES 30,493 [,508 32478 64,479
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (a) A REERM R RS 28|
FIRTEM R
ERBRLEE®R) (2,666) (709) (32,307) (35,682)
Quality assurance fund receivable, net FENEEFES B 27827 799 171 28,797
(a)  The following tables explain the changes in the ECL allowance of (@) TROPEEERAEZE2022F %2021 F 12
quality assurance fund receivable by stage for the years ended 31 B3 BLFERKEERESTRAERE
December 2022 and 202 KEmHE
Year ended 3| December 2022
BE202F12R3 I HILEE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
F—RER BRER F=PEE
|2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
1218 5 T FHRIE FREARS
EEEPS LEIEEEEPS EEEPS 85t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTR ARBTT AEBFT AREBFT
Opening balance ¥ 4Es 2,666 709 32,307 35,682
Net (decrease)/increase for AREE GRiL) /210 (h) (39) (12) 367 316
the period (i)
Transfer =42
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2~ F—IEREREF ML 2 2 - -
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 FRREBREE=IEE (27) - 7 -
Transfer from Stage 2to Stage | ~ F_BREBREE MK - - - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3~ S _[EREREE =RER - (67) 67 -
Ending balance HARAEER 2,598 632 32,768 35,998
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE02FNB3IBILEE

24  QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24
(Cont'd)

B REREEFRESE (&

@@  (Contd) (@) @&

Year ended 3| December 202 |
HE202ENB3IBILEE

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
F—IER 5 MR F=MERt
|2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
1218 8 FEH FEmE RN
EREE BEREX EREX Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT ARBT ARBTT
Opening balance HRA 45 R 2,662 701 787423 790,786
Transfer out i - - (755,626) (755,626)
Net increase for the period (i) AHERFIZ N () 26 22 474 522
Transfer B
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2~ SE—[EREREE MK (1) - -
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 ~ H—EREBREH=[ER ) - 2 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | B REEREE R = = - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3~ S _[EREREE =K = (15) 5 -
Ending balance HARAEER 2,666 709 32,307 35,682
()  This item includes changes of PD, EAD and LGD due to () ZEVERILSEEBEEHNSI-EN

BAOBE « BOKRORBAELE
By - LUR RSB E B TR HAE
BAHBHNETE o

routine updates to model parameters, and the impact of

stage changes on the measurement of ECL.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

25 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 25 BHNEE(AR)

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBT T

Contract assets ENEE 638,211 695,357
Less: ECL allowance - TEHAE BRI A (603,336) (608,838)
Contract assets, net SHEEFRE 34,875 86,519
Contract liabilities aHaE (16,347) (16,481)
The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 3| December HE20202EK2021E 1283 BILEE » T8HAS
2022 and 2021 consisted of the following; AL EEESHOIE RIS .

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBET T

Opening balance HAW AR (608,838) (603,335)

Provision of ECL for the year (Note 12) FRTEHRE AR EE (T 12) 5,502 (5,503)

Ending balance HARAEER (603,336) (608,838)

Note: The Group receives payments from borrowers over the tenures of the loans. Hiat : KREEEEFRIRAKEELIANT o S4IE
Contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange for JE 757 5 [B) 75 HE I B L #6 BR 7 2E [ P A2 1 R 755
services that the Group has provided. A substantial majority of the Group's BIFCIE o FRZREE I FF B 70 25 & L HERI I
contract assets as at 3| December 2022 would be realized within the next PEEIGHAR L1 F » ZKEE 20224 2
twelve months as the weighted average term of the arrangements where B3I HEVZBAZE D &S A EERR KK+ 1S
the Group is not the loan originator was less than twelve months. The Group A BT o KNEFR A » Bt AEEI IFEN N
determined that there is no significant financing component for its arrangements EHLHEMNE » WHEEAFELT ©

where the Group is not the loan originator.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

26

294

TRADE RECEIVABLES

26 B EUWFRIA

As at 31 December

I12H318

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TT AEBETIT

Referral and credit card technology service receivables 7743 & 15 FA £ L AR 75 FE W =k 18 226,582 218,251
Others Hith 6,526 13,920
233,108 232,171
ECL allowance TEHR(E BB BfE (214,140) (213,008)
18,968 19,163

The activity in the total ECL allowance for trade receivables as at 31

December 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

R2022F %2021 128318 » BZEWRIER

TRHERBRAEFHREREHRE TIRE

As at 31 December

®12H831H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBETF T
Opening balance HA# 4568 (213,008) (182,317)
Provision of ECL for the year (Note 12) FATEHAE BIELEE (HaE12) (1,132) (30,691)
Ending balance HIRAE R (214,140) (213,008)

Aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

B 5 BRI #Z A HMREOTUT ¢

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARETTT
Within 30 days 30k 6,467 8,268
More than 30 days BiB30K 226,641 223903
233,108 232,171
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

27 LOANS TO CUSTOMERS, NET 27 BEREMFEE

As at 3| December 2022
12022128318

ECL staging Purchased
FEHAE RERPEE credit-
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Total
BABEE
F—REER o2 F=REER fERRE 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AERBTRT AR®BTR AR%®TR ARETR ARET®

Loans =67 = = 286,104 = 286,104
New financial assets purchased MEASREE - = = 174,029 174,029
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (b) 8, : BIFREA %54k & 28

F95% THTRHA

EREXEE(D) - - (280,408) - (280,408)
Loans to customers, net EREHELE = = 5,696 174,029 179,725

As at 3| December 2021
R2021%12A318

ECL staging Purchased
TRHE RERRE credit-
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Total
BACEE
IR FMER F=MEER ERRE w5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREBTT ARETR ARETT AREBTRT ARET:R

Loans =EN - - 286,512 - 286,512
New financial assets purchased HEASHEE = = = 154,074 154,074
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (b) & : BAFRBA 753K &5 28

£95% FHITEHA

ERERER (D) - - (282,088) - (282,088)
Loans to customers, net ZREHELE - - 4424 154,074 158,498
As at 31 December 2021 and 2022, these loans are primarily personal P02 1 EK2022F 12831 H » ZEEHTES
loans made to individual borrowers through the consolidated trusts and a BRGESEIERANEER —RBWE AT R EAE
subsidiary of the Group and the new financial assets purchased from both HAZEHEEAERRREE AL EE M IEER
individual and institutional investors. BEHBEBANESHAEE
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

27 LOANS TO CUSTOMERS, NET (Cont'd) 27 BEREIERE (&)
(@)  The following table explains the aging of loans to customers past (a) TRRBEZE202F /%2021 F 12831 H
due for the past years ended 3| December 2022 and 202 |: It FERAER SRS ©
Overdue days
BHBAH
Less than 30 days to 90 days to Over

30 days 90 days 180 days 180 days Total

DRIOX  0XRENX  90REISOX  180KHE Hast

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AREBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

As at 3| December 2022 2025128318
Loans to customers past due ERiNERER = - - 286,104 286,104
Purchased credit-impaired BADZECERE 26,592 2,142 3,864 141,431 174,029
As at 3| December 2021 20215128318
Loans to customers past due ERiNERER = = - 286,512 286,512
Purchased credit-impaired BABELERRE 38,228 2,620 2,064 111,162 154,074
(b)  The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 3| (b) BEE20202FK202IF 12831 BIEEE >
December 2022 and 202 | consisted of the following: TEHE R ABEEBEEHERE TS
15
Year ended 3| December 2022
BE202F1283 I HILEE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
F—RER 2 MR
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
28R #EH ezt
HHERER BHERELY  BEEAEX st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREBTT AEBTFT
Opening balance B A RS - - 282,088 282,088
Net decrease for AR
the period (Note 12) (i) (B EE12) (i) - = (1,680) (1,680)
Ending balance HRE R - - 280,408 280,408
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

27 LOANS TO CUSTOMERS, NET (Cont'd) 27 BEREIERE (&)
(b)  The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 3| (b) HE2002EK2021E 12831 HIEEE -
December 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following (Cont'd): TR CHEEAREBEAREIFHEE TR
15 (&)

Year ended 3| December 202 |
HE202ENB3IBILEE

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3

F—IER F_IER F=MERt
[2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total

1288 et et
BHERRE BHBEREE BHEREE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTT ARBTTT ARBTT

Opening balance iR Ees - - 282,507 282,507
Net decrease for the period (i) AREFRD () = - (419) (419)
Ending balance HARAS ER - - 282,088 282,088
()  This item includes changes of PD, EAD and LGD due to () ZECRERIL2HHEEM5ENE
routine updates to model parameters, and the impact of IR \ BA O MBI LR
stage changes on the measurement of ECL. 15 » DU B ER 85 C 4 FEHA (= BB 1R sk 5t

ENTE -

28 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 28 IHERBITLER

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Cash at bank RITIRE 376,813 313,148
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

28 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Contd)

28 RERIRITHEER (E)

As at 31 December

128318
2022 202
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBETT

Cash held on behalf of investors BETFAEAKREEFENIRE()
through platform (i) 75,696 112,536
Deposit of secured transactions BIERR ZRER 53,131 112,556
128,827 225,092

0] Cash held on behalf of investors through platform as at 3|

December 2022 and 2021 mainly represented the cash in

custody account on behalf of individual investment to hold

fund.

29 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND SHARES HELD FOR

0}

2022 8202 1512831 H » BidF
BRAREERFENRETEALER
FARBIKERAENES °

29 KA ROBERMESEREEE

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES )b

Shares held

for employee

Number of Share incentive

shares Share capital premium schemes

F{EEE

R

BHYE B BiHEE HtH

US$'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Zxtx AE%®Tx ARETRT ARETR
Asat | January 2021 202141818 1,358,320,188 12 90 6136837 ()
Share incentives exercised and vested (a) BT KR BRIRDEE ) = = 15962 |
As at 3| December 2021 12021128318 1,358,320,188 12 90 6,152,799 (10)
As at | January 2022 B202% 1818 1,358,320,188 12 90 6,152,799 (10)
Share incentives exercised and vested (a) BT & BRIRDEE ) = = = 6,530 =
As at 3| December 2022 B202% 128318 1,358,320,188 12 90 6,159,329 (10
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND SHARES HELD FOR 29 B&7s ~ B3R BRIt (ESIREEIEE

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES (Cont'd) BIBG (R (2)

(@)  During the year ended 3| December 2022, 1,635,000 RSUs were (a) EZE2022€ 12831 HIEEE » RIDEEE
vested under share incentives scheme. Reserve amounted to ZIIE Y 1,635,000 ZFREIRR(HENIE &
approximately RMB6,530,000 were transferred to share premium. B o 9 AR1£6,530,000cHEEDEEE

RRADEE ©

RESERVES 30 {HiE

Share-based

Other compensation Translation
reserve reserve reserve Total
WA A B
Hthf# HoF AN hE G st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

N AEBFR AEBFT AEBFT

Asat | January 2021 720211518 (242458) 358597 (161.982) (45.843)
Share incentives exercised and vested BETERGENRMNZE = (15,403) = (15,403)
Change in fair value attributable to change in  #Z/A BB ABEH

the credit risk of financial liability at FVPL SHeEEHEERES

BYINRAEEED (1,777) = = (1,777)
Share incentives awarded under share MR BN ST BITE N R
incentive plan B 1D 12 - 30317 = 30317
Currency translation differences e =L = = 221 221
As at 31 December 2021 2021128318 (244235) 373511 (161,761) (32485)
Asat | January 2022 720261818 (244.235) 373511 (161,761) (32,485)
Share incentives exercised and vested BTERGEENRDZE = (6,530) = (6,530

Change in fair value attributable to change in  #2/A BB ABEH
the credit risk of financial liability at FVPL SRBEERRRES

BRNANBEEE (1,286) = = (1,286)

Share incentives awarded under share R IZEETEIIE T Z R
incentive plan B 1D 12 = 29,043 = 29,043
Currency translation differences EiihE =R = = 2,130 2,130
As at 31 December 2022 202812831 (245,521) 396,024 (159,631) (9,128)
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

31

300

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has adopted 5| Award Scheme and 5| Stock Scheme
(collectively, “Employee Incentive Schemes™) to provide options and
RSUs to employees and senior management as an additional incentive for
the purposes of attracting and retaining the best available personnel. The
majority of the options and RSUs vest 50% at the second service year end

and 25% at the third and fourth service year end.

The Company has set up two structured entities, namely 51 Award
Limited and 51 Stock Limited, which are solely for the purpose of
administering and holding the Company's shares for the Employee
Incentive Schemes. In addition, the Company entered into a trust deed
with an independent trustee (the “Trustee™) in November 2017, pursuant
to which the Trustee shall act as the administrator of the Employee

Incentive Schemes.

The Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of 5| Stock
Limited and 51 Award Limited and it has the ability to use its power
over the trusts to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets
and liabilities of 51 Award Limited and 5| Stock Limited are included in
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position and the ordinary
shares held for the Employee Incentive Schemes were regarded as issued
but not outstanding shares and presented as a deduction in equity as

“Shares held for employee incentive schemes”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'd) 31 UM AERINI (T (&E
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to repurchase or settle ANEBEW ENISEO oA EERENET
the options in cash. WHEE o
(@  Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their (a) MRITENERES B RABREMNEFHST
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: FENESUT .
2022 2022 2021 2021
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number price in RMB Number price in RMB
AREmME AREME
#E aE #B8 THE
Outstanding at | January RIBIBRKRTE 73,716,410 2.98 76,488,354 1.92
Exercised during the year FERET = N/ATER (794,269) 03I
Forfeited and expired during the year R E R UK E (95,409) 5.52 (1,977,675) 344
Outstanding at 3| December R1283 1 BREKRTE 73,621,001 2.98 73716410 298
Vested and exercisable RI2A3 I BERBE AT
at 31 December 73,271,001 2.98 66,429,410 275
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

31

302

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Contd)

(®)

31 RGO AERNZG (E

Movements in the number of RSUs during the years ended 3| (b) HE202IEK20202F 12831 BIEEER
ZIRFII D B BB NEEIT

December 202 | and 2022 are as follows:

Number of RSUs

Z PRI
B#E
Outstanding balance as at | January 2021 1220211 B I B RITELER 14,000,000
Granted [ dan 23917283
Vested ORE (10,059,083)
Forfeited SR (5,330,000
Outstanding balance as at 3|1 December 2021 12021 E 12831 B RITELEER 22,528,200
Granted [ sdan 2,500,000
Vested B 578 (1,635,000)
Forfeited 22 (1,553,954)
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2022 1220225 12831 BRKRITELE R 21,839,246

The fair value of each RSUs at the grant dates were determined
by reference to the market price of the ordinary shares of the

Company.

The newly granted RSUs during the year ended 3| December 2022
were fully vested on the respective date of grant, and its fair value
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss was

RMB399,000 during the year ended 3| December 2022.
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32 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE20026 12831 BLEEE

32 IRITREMER

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT AREETTT

Non-current liabilities: EREEE .
Bank borrowings (a) — secured RITER () — BHER 20,540 27,483
Less: current portion of non-current liabilities B —ERIENIERBAEE (7,370) (6,943)
13,170 20,540
Included in current liabilities: FTAREIEE !
Bank borrowings (a) — secured IRITER () —BER 84317 90,000
Other borrowings (b) — secured and unsecured HER(b) — BRI EER 75,000 75,000
Current portion of non-current liabilities —FERFHNIEREEE 7,370 6,943
166,687 [71,943
Total bank and other borrowings RIT R EME T 4ERE 179,857 192,483
Borrowing by repayment schedule: W EtEI2 S ER
Within | year —F R 166,687 [ 71,942
| year to 2 years —FEE " F 7,763 7,344
2 years to 5 years TEERFE 5,407 13,197
179,857 192,483
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

32

304

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

@

(®)

In August 2017, the Group borrowed a loan of RMB53,000,000
from Bank of Hangzhou. The loan bears interest at an annual rate of
I'15% of the five-year loan benchmark rate of the People’s Bank of
China. The loan is repayable in eight years from the borrowing date
and is guaranteed by Sun Haitao, the director of the Company, and
secured by a pledge of the building held by Enniu Network. As at
31 December 2022, the amount of approximately RMB7,370,000
will be repaid within one year and was classified as current liabilities.
The amount of approximately RMBI3,170,000 will be repaid

beyond one year and was classified as non-current liabilities.

In March 2020, the Group borrowed a loan of RMB90,000,000
from Bank of Wenzhou. The loan is repayable in one year and is
secured by a pledge of the building of Enniu Network with the
fixed interest rate of 6.75% per annum. In March 2022, the Group
renewed the loan of RMB90,000,000 with the fixed interest rate of
6.5% after expiry.

In November 2022, the Group borrowed a loan of RMB5,000,000
from Agricultural Bank of China. The loan is repayable on demand

at an annual rate of one-year LPR - 0.25%.

In May 2017, Enniu Network, together with Shenzhen Tiantu
Xingneng Investments (Limited Partnership) (“Tiantu Xingneng")
and China Merchants Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(“CMS AM"), established a limited partnership, Hangzhou Shangniu
Investment Management Partner ship (Limited Partner ship)
(“Hangzhou Shangniu™). In November and December 2017, Enniu
Network entered into agreements with Tiantu Xingneng and CMS
AM, respectively that Enniu Network would repay the partnership
funds contributed by Tiantu Xingneng and CMS AM in four years

with fixed interest rates of 8% and 8.035% per annum, respectively.
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32 $R1T

(@)

R EAfhfERR (4%)
12017488 » AEBAEFMNRITEEA

E#553,000,0007T - ERAM EZFEAR
IRIT A FHEREEFZM | 15%H FF]
Kt HE o ZEMBREF HBRENFAE
B> BAAREEHEEERAERGHE
BRANBFIEREER o 10202245 12
B31H B AR73700007T# 1R —5F
RESTEIEARDEE NWARK
13,170,0007CAG I — F U EEIE T E D48
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B TR REENIETIRRERER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

32 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd) 32 HRITRHEMER (&)
(b) (Contd) (b) (#&)
The partnership funds of RMB25,000,000 and RMB90,000,000 R2019F 12B31H» XEEERIBES
contributed by Tiantu Xingneng and CMS AM respectively ENRHENESEES ARIEE25000,000
recorded as borrowing by the Group at 3| December 2019. The TR ARE90,000,000CH A EBEEAE
partnership funds were secured by a pledge of the ordinary shares o ZEBESHAEBMEEERSEN
of Shouhui Kaizhuo held by the Group. In March 2020, Enniu LB IE IR EIE(R o 1R202048E38 » B
Network repaid the remaining partnership fund of RMB90,000,000 PR aEEEEEER T BES AR
to CMS AM. In December 2022, the Group renewed the 90,000,0007T © 20224 128 » ZREBTE
partnership fund of RMB25,000,000 after expiry. S8 ES AR5 000000 HBERELE o
In May 2020, the Group borrowed RMB50,000,000 with fixed R2020F58 » AEBRFEY X
rate of 8.035% per annum from Shenzhen Tiantu Xingfu Equity ERELEEEERAAEZARK
Investments Management Co., Ltd. The loan is guaranteed by Sun 50,000,0007C * BEEFIERABSF8.035% ©
Haitao, the director of the Company. In December 2022, the EHHANATEFTIAEEZIER o R20228
Group renewed the loan and will repay in December 2023. 128 > AEBHEETES > w2023
FI12RAEE -
33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 33 B REMENATRIE

As at 31 December

128318

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT NS
Payables for equity investments (a, Note 35) PRI B FE(TFRIE (a ~ HI5E35) - 214,825
Payable to settlement banks FE(S UG BB ER 1 TN = 32,566
Trade payables (b) B S ERIE (D) 18,058 26,254
Payroll and welfare payable FEN TERER 13,556 12,608
Interest payable FESF] 2 16,110 10,401
Professional service expenses BHEARTEE H 6,965 5,476
Others Hih 11,367 16,039
66,056 318,169

(@) Payables for equity investments primarily represent the cash (a) RERBERMNHEFrZEMREEEHRS

R RIERZZHFHNREHE -

consideration due to the counterparties of equity transactions in

connection with the acquisition of Shouhui Kaizhuo.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd) 33 BHRHEHMEMNRIEGE)
(b)  Trade payables represent payables of fund transfer charges and (b) BZENFUBIEESERER&KLEWRE
collection service charges. N ERIE RIS o
The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as B EMRIBEBENEEHIANERE DT
below: FI

As at 31 December

12831
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETT ARETTT

Within 30 days 30N 9,046 18,998
30 to 90 days 30K EI0K 8,352 3,070
90 to 180 days 90K E 180K 322 1,324
180 to 360 days 180K E 360K 163 1,599
over 360 days 360K L F 175 1263
18,058 26,254
34 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVPL 34 BARBESIAEGNEMEAE

As at 31 December

128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBTT

Financial liabilities at FVPL BARBESABGNEMERE
— Redeemable equity instrument (a) — A B[O m T A (a) 52,731 43,034
— Unissued shares (b, Note 35) — REBEITRAD (b ~ MIzE35) - 8,074

52,731 51,108
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVPL (Cont'd)

@

(®)

In the first half of 2020, Shenzhen Xiaolanben entered into an
investment agreement with Shenzhen Tiantu Xingshen Tianshi
Venture Investment Partner ship (Limited Partner ship) and
the other three third-Party investors, the Group assessed and
accounted for the capital contribution as an equity instrument
contains an obligation to repurchase given the agreement terms
of redemption and liquidation preference. The capital contribution
was recognized as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss when received. In June 2020, Shenzhen Xiaolanben received
the fund contribution with aggregate amounted to RMB40,000,000

from the investors.

In December 2017, the Group acquired 100% shares of Shouhui
Kaizhuo from independent third parties for cash consideration and
issuance of certain shares of the Company. As at 3| December
2021, the issuance of shares had not been completed. Refer to

Note 35 for the Loss on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

34 BRARBESABZNERER(E

(@)

1220206 £ o FRYIVNEE AR B ERIIR
EBURRERAIXREGBEX (BIREH)
REME=FREE UK E R BN
kB ER R BiEEE » AEEF (G
TRAREEFAESEREENED T
BAR - TERBBEEIABAAE
BFf AB@mMERMEE ° 02020568 -
FYNEARBMREETEGHEARE
40,000,0007T °

120175128 » ZEEDIRENERET
ETARABRMDABILS = KESEHR
HHI00%BE1D o FR2021 128310 > &
PEITERTTA o 52 BT 350 T R MY
BREKRIEGRE ARNERE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

BS

308

LOSS ON DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Beijing Shouhui Kaizhuo Technology Co., Ltd. (At & BB R FHZ A
FRZSF]) (“Shouhui Kaizhuo™) who, through its subsidiary (collectively,
the “SK Group”), holds a valid payment business license (the “payment
license"), was acquired by the Group from the former shareholders of
Shouhui Kaizhuo in December 2017.

In or around early August 2022, Mr. Yang Fan (“Mr. Yang”), the former
controlling shareholder of Shouhui Kaizhuo, had become aggressive and
directly gone to the office of Shouhui Kaizhuo in Beijing and claimed that
the personnel of Shouhui Kaizhuo shall report to him instead of the Group,
restricted the management of Shouhui Kaizhuo from contacting the staff
of the Group, and sent his staff to interfere with the business operation
of Shouhui Kaizhou and SK Group. The Group had since 3 August 2022
been unable to carry out workplace communication with SK Group and
was also unable to access all the books and records of SK Group. The
management of SK Group ceased to report to the Group on any business
matter, and the Group was unable to obtain all the necessary books and
records of SK Group to ascertain the operational status and financial

situation of SK Group.

Despite the Group's efforts in taking protective measures since then,
such as (i) taking legal action against Shouhui Kaizhuo's subsidiaries for
the repayment of loans of an aggregate of RMB01,425,800 to the Group
(the “Loans"); (ii) obtaining an order from the court to freeze the bank
accounts of operating subsidiaries of SK Group; and (iii) commencing Legal
Proceedings against the relevant individuals and entities (including but
not limited to Mr. Yang), the Board is of the view that the Company is
currently unable to control to the assets and operations of SK Group and
is unable to exercise its decision-making rights over SK Group. After having
taken into account the applicable requirements under the International
Financial Reporting Standards in relation to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2022, the
Board considers that SK Group shall be deconsolidated from the Group
with effect from the date of the event that Mr. Yang seized the Group'’s
management right over the office of SK Group (i.e., 3 August 2022) (the
"Deconsolidation”), on the basis that (i) the Company is unable to control
the operation and finance of SK Group; (ii) the Company is unable to
obtain the books and records of SK Group since 3 August 2022; (iii) the
Company is unable to obtain report from the management of SK Group
on business matter; and (iv) the Company is unable to direct the future

development of SK Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

LOSS ON DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Contd) 35 MIEBABKRIEES AENERE (&)

In light of the above circumstances, the Group excluded the financial ER BB R AEBBAEBREZE2022512
position of the SK Group as at and after 3 August 2022 and the BlBIEREENGESHBZHREDR > ZIET
results and cash flows of the SK Group since 3 August 2022 from the BEEENR2022F8A3H EZ BRI
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year FEEEEBH0NFEIAIHENEERIES
ended 3| December 2022. The Board considered that the consolidated Mo BEHERA ) BREEEEBANIB R
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2022 I ARSI RERBEE2002F 12831 BIEE
be prepared on such basis presents the results and state of affairs of the ENiGZEIEHRE > B AT EIRAEEFEDN
Group more fairly as a whole in light of the current situation of the SK FREEH B RIFAR o

Group.

The following set out the financial impact on the Deconsolidation of SK THREYEHEERLIES ANENBFEEE

Group:

Note RMB’000
PEE ARBTTT

Cash and cash equivalents BE& RIS EEY 56,129

Trade receivables B 5 FEURIE 600

Prepayments and other receivables FEAT R I8 K Efh fE W= I8 8,535

Property and equipment, net MERZEFE |7 1,541

Intangible assets EmLEE 19 310,200

Trade payables B S ENZHIE (10,029)

Other payables H At & I8 (142,058)

Deferred tax liabilities IRIEMIBEE S (77,550)

Net assets of SK Group BEEENFEE 147,368

Consideration payable waived: BB IRE

Payables for equity investments FE(TREFEIG B 33 (214,825)
Financial liabilities at FVPL on unissued shares MRARBITRMG 2B RANEE

sTABENE/MEE 34 (3.013)

(70,470)

Amount due by SK Group to the Group (Note (a)) BEEEENAERTE (M) 101,426

Loss on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries B AR IR S ARMNE 18 30,956

Note: HtaE -

(a) As at 3 August 2022, the Group has an amount due from SK Group, net of (a) FR2022%F8F3H » AEFEEEWE FEEN
approximately RMB101,425,800. Due to the loss of control over and legal action IEFEEAN E 15 101,4258007T - IR EX &
against SK Group, an impairment loss of RMB 101,425,800 had been provided HEBEF TR BB REEEETE
for as loss on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries in the consolidated financial Bl E2022F 12831 HIFFE » SRAANEE
statements for the year ended 3| December 2022. 101,425,800 T AY 8 B /65 51 He i 15 » AL GT AR &

I BRENE BB A B AR S A BRBIRTIR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

36

310

DEEMED ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 36 HIEWE—RMELS
On 15 July 2021, the Group acquired 46% equity interest in Shanghai R2021E78 158 » mNEEWE FEIEZ2M46%
Zhengcheng (Note 20), and was previously recognized as an investment BERE (Mi3%20) » BLawERA—BHBERE
accounted for using equity method. SEABRHIEE o
On 7 September 2022, the Group signed an act in concert agreement (the R20202&E9870 » AEBEHE FEIF 2 H95.4%
“"Agreement”) with a 5.4% equity interest minority shareholder (the “MI") BeRE/ DEARGEE (MDA %S ) 551 — (T B 7%
of Shanghai Zhengcheng, of which the Ml agreed to act in concert with (TZih=E)) » ER VD EERFEERETER
the Group on all major operating and financial decision making until either BB REE FEANREF —XTH >0 53/
the Ml or the Group disposed their respective equity interest in Shanghai HaAERHESEN LEIFE2MIREE o
Zhengcheng.
Upon the signing of the Agreement, the Group obtained control of BiIZBER ) NEBES LEIF 29T
Shanghai Zhengcheng. Shanghai Zhengcheng was engaged in providing o FEIEFEENERIREN SRS EBIZHIM
technical and operational services to financial institutions in the PRC. The FEEIR o L BEEINEBHNENEBALER
deemed acquisition is for the purpose of sourcing the Group's technical HWEERSEENNMTEESEREINGE T £E
and operational services of its credit facilitation business to Shanghai IE2 o
Zhengcheng.
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Shanghai RiEVEWEE 5 ER » PUKEERY EBIE 2/ a 4 R
Zhengcheng acquired as at its date of deemed acquisition is as follows: BEERBENAREBENT :
Note RMB’000
P &E ARBTTT

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 5016
Trade receivables B2 EWRIE 2,050
Prepayments and other receivables TS TRIE K HL AN FE U TR IE 17,391
Inventories =75 253
Other payables HAth eI 7R IE (6,451)
Fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of FEEBEErHEIEEK

Shanghai Zhengcheng BENAMNEE 18,259
Non-controlling interest JEFE PG RS (9,860)
Satisfied by: BB TAAZAM

Fair value of 46% of Shanghai Zhengcheng LIBE246%ER A NEE 20 8,399
Net cash inflow of the acquisition: I RERVIR B M A RRE ¢

Cash and cash equivalents acquired PR IR S R IREEEY 5,016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEEMED ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Cont'd)

The Group recognized a loss of RMB26,179,000 as a result of measuring
at fair value its 46% equity interests in Shanghai Zhengcheng held before
the business combination. The gain is included in “Other losses, net” in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

Shanghai Zhengcheng contributed approximately RMB 15,543,000 and
RMBI 1,276,000 to the Group's revenue and loss for the year respectively
for the period between the date of acquisition and the end of the

reporting period.

If the deemed acquisition had been completed on | January 2022, total
Group revenue for the year would have been RMB405,1 17,000 and loss
for the year would have been RMB86,608,000. The proforma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of the
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on | January 2022, nor

is intended to be a projection of future results.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

36 MRIFWE—REREARE (&)

HRURAABEFERBEGHAMAMTAERN
EBER4e%kkE > AEEREIGEEARE
26,179,0007¢ ° Waist AR S 2 EEERN TH
fthiEsi8 3 EE 1 ©

T EEBEEREEREBSHERSHRER »
PDAAEAEBNREREEEHROARE
15,543,000 AR ¥ 1 1,276,0007T ©

IR EREBE R 202025 | B I B%M » ERAE
B B9 48 U 7 75 2 A R #5405,117,0007T » & A
B A AR H86,608,0007T © HEEREMR
A A—ERnEIEEN2022F1 81 BT
o BAEEERSERNREREEES -
IR EZ R R B TEA ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one Party has the ability, directly

or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence over B RRERETHEEREE S » HHE
the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also AR o HiEESHEEES > IR AR

considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members

37 FAMAERS

of key management and their close family members of the Group are also 1VEREEE T ©

considered as related parties.

As at 3| December 2022, relationship and details of transactions between

the Group and other related parties are disclosed below:

Name of the major related parties

BRRZFHBRENT

Relationship with the Group

TEMBSRE HHR BARE @R %

Sun Haitao® Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company
%8s RABTHAEEKRES

Wu Shan® Director of the Company

SO ~ABES

Zheng Haiguo®
ZLgE 0

Zhu Jianfei®™
SRE AR

Zou Yunli
BPERE

Yu Jin®
Figw

Jiang Chloe Cuicui®

B

Gao Li

B

Wong Tit
SRR

Shou Jian™"

= (i vii)

Ye Xiang
=220

312
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Director of the Company
KATES

Director of the Company
KREESR

Director of the Company
KATES

Director of the Company
KREER

Director of the Company
KATES

Director of the Company
KREER

Director of the Company
KATES

Director of the Company
KREER

Director of the Company
KATES

H—AARENEENEEENS KW 5 —

7o AEBETEEEEMERBRELRITHNR

FR20225 12831 B » 25 [ 52 EL {th BF B 75 A B8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

3V BEAERS (&

Relationship with the Group

TEMBSRE HR BARE @R &

Xu Xuchu Director of the Company

RIBA) KRABES

Zhao Kel Director of the Company

e KATES

Lam Yuhon Key management personnel of the entity
MR ER BREZIEZEEAS

Zhejiang Anniu Technology Co., Ltd.
HIZF A RAE

Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology Co., Ltd.
BFRRREHABKARAE

Hangzhou Sunyard Fantai Technology Co., Ltd.
FUNEHEZZRRARAT

Linglan Network Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
BEMENS (LB ARAE

Zhuhai Yunyoudao Technology Co., Ltd.
KERBEENKAEREEAH

Zhejiang Zhongma Technology Co., Ltd.
A IREREARAT

Shark Kuaiyou Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

ARREREEM QER) ARAE

Hangzhou Zaodao Technology Co., Ltd.
TN R RERE AR AT

Hangzhou Ren Junxing Technology Co., Ltd.
FNEBITRRBERAF

Hangzhou Linglinggi Technology Co., Ltd.™
RN BRERBARAT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBREATENRRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAERERTENRKRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENRZERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAERERTENRKRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBEXTZENRKZERF

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEERERTENRKRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENFRKZERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEERERTENRKRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENRZERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTENRKERT
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

37

314

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

TEMBSRE HHR

3V BEAERS (&

Relationship with the Group

B E @R &

Beijing Xiaochenghuyu Culture Technology Co., Ltd.

BRNBERER AR AT

Xinhuizhiyan Cultture Communication (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

SESEOIR) XIEEEARAR

TOWERING GROUP INC.

Hangzhou Yingniu Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)

MNBFREGBEE(AREE)

Hangzhou Yigilaidian Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)

MIN—ERBRESHBLE (BREH)

Hangzhou Fanniu Investment Management Partnership

(Limited Partnership)
FINZHREBESBEE (BREE)

Suzhou Jiamu Wuyao Venture Capital Investment Partnership

(Limited Partnership)
BINEATARIERESB X (FRGE)

Hangzhou Lvji Network Technology Co., Ltd.
PN IREC A4S BT A PR A E]

Pingxiang Chuangniu Asset Management Co., Ltd.

MR TEEEEARAR

Pingxiang Shiniu Asset Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)

ML EEEESBEE(BRE®)

Pingxiang Jiniu Asset Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)

SMCTEEEESBLE(BRER)

51 Xinhu L.P.

Rising Sun Limited

2022 Annual Report

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEERERTENRKRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENRZERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAERERTENRKRERT

Investee of which the Group has joint control

REEBRHARERNHNRKREQT

Investee of which the Group has joint control

RAERHFEFINRKERT

Investee of which the Group has joint control

RREBRHFERNHNRKREQT

Investee of which the Group has joint control

RAEBHFEZEFINRIZEERF

Controlled by key management
RETEEE NS

Controlled by key management

TEEEEASES

Controlled by key management

TETEEEA BTG

Controlled by key management

ZTEEEA BTG

Controlled by key management
SREIEEBABES

Controlled by key management
RFEEEEASES
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

0]

(i

(vii)

(vl

(ix)

On 7 January 2022, the Board announced that Sun Haitao had been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive director
of the Company. Since then, Zheng Haiguo has ceased to be the

Chief Executive Officer and executive director of the Company.

Wu Shan has been appointed as an executive director on 7 January

2022.

Zhu Jianfei resigned as an executive director on |4 April 2022.

Yu Jin resigned as a non-executive director on 14 April 2022.

Jiang Chloe Cuicui and Gao Li have been appointed as a non-

executive director on 4 April 2022.

Wong Ti resigned as an independent non-executive director on 4
April 2022.

Shou Jian has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director on |3 May 2022.

Zhao Ke resigned as an executive director and the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company on 3 September 2021. Since then, Lam
Yuhon has been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer.

Hangzhou Yunpinh Information Technology Co., Ltd. changed its
name to Hangzhou Linglinggi Technology Co., Ltd. on 2 August
2021.

Save as disclosed in elsewhere of these consolidated financial statements,

the Group entered into the following related Party transactions during the

year ended 3| December 2022. In the opinion of the Director, the related

Party transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of business

and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective related

parties.

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

3V BEAERS (&

@)

(ii)

(vii)

(viii)

(i)

(GRS

R20202%F1B7H > EEEEMHBBEE
ELHERTREITHRHFERITES - It
% BBEABEARARITHARRNIT
Ex-

SHR20202F I B7THEZFEARITES °

REIFRIN2022F48 4B BHERITES ©

T#ER2022F48 4B BEFHTES ©

iR S AN 2022F48 4B ESZEA
JERITESE o

IR 202248 4B B EBILIEHITE
$ o

EREN2002F58 3REZERBIULIEHR
TE=E-

2021 FIRIHBERRDRITES
REFEUHE - bR > MRREZESAE
FHBE -

MmN =mEERREBRAE1R2021 F8
A2HEELBAMMBBERTERA
EJ o

MEMBREEMBOMMIKESEN 0 K&

BEREE202F 12831 HIEEETI M5
ARG - REBEESEERR  BABAXRZTINAEE
=B PR AE B BB S R EIRE

70
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

37 BMtARS (&)

Year ended 3| December

HENA3IHIEEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT
Investees over which the Group has SREBEATEN
significant influence =N 611 473

Year ended 3| December

HENA3IHILEEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Investees over which the Group has SAREFBFEAFEN
significant influence b =N 160 247

Year ended 31 December

HZENAIBALEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARFT ARETF T
Investees over which the Group has SREFBFEAZEN
significant influence - WN=] 471 6,737

316
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 37 [k

B
Xt

BExX5 (&

As at 31 December

12H318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREETFTT
The Chairman of the Board EETIE 70,540 77484
As at 3| December
128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ETTT ARETFTT
Trade receivables B 5 R TRIE
Investees over which the Group has SREFBFAFEN
significant influence =N 2,477 2,506
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE{IRRIE ~ HERK
H{th FEULFRIA
Investees over which the Group has SAREBFATLEN
significant influence k= YN=] 24,573 37,664
Directors of the Company KNANT)ES 10,393 10,214
Controlled by key management STEEEIEEITH 105 100
35,071 47,978
Trade and other payables 85 REMESTRIE
Investees over which the Group has SREFBEAZEN
significant influence b =N 2,736 565

On |4 September 2021, the Company provided a loan to the
Chairman of the Board in the principle amount of RMB10,000,000.
The loan has a term of 3 years and a simple interest rate of 5.8% per
annum. The principle and accrued interest will be paid on maturity
date.

Other than the loan mentioned above, the balances with related
parties as at 3| December 2022 are interest-free and have no fixed

terms of repayment.

R2021 98 148 » ZARAEEEE/E
REAEA AR 10,000,000cHER ©
BB AIE  FHZEA58% c KEK
FESTREREIHERET o

pR2022 12831 H ¢ B EMERRIN - A
Rl SNSRI AR E 0 BEBEENE
R o

oan
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

3V BEAERS (&

Key management includes executive directors and senior FTEEHEAERTESEEREIERE o
management. The compensations paid or payable to key mEHEERFEENNENTITEESIBEWNS
management for employee services are shown below: ENZ R0

Year ended 3| December
BENAALEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AERBTT AREBTIT

Share-based compensation expenses VUG 1D A E s 26,244 24739
Wages, salaries and bonuses IE - #re&IEA 2,805 5168

Other social security costs, housing benefits HAM R A « EEEF &
and other employee benefits HithEeE:EF 187 377
Pension costs-defined contribution plan BARERAE — REMDTE 109 189
29,345 30473
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NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

38 &ZERE

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

Year ended 31 December

HZENA3IBALEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ET T ARETFTT
Loss before income tax FRER1S M AIRS 18 (94,395) (210,908)
Adjustments for: AT BIEETHE ©
Depreciation and amortization e Y 21,983 27247
Fair value losses on financial assets at FVPL BARBESABREMEE
R EEEE 14,489 13,708
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVPL HEZAREBEA
BmEEEN R E - (1,389)
Fair value loss on financial liabilities at FVPL BARBESABREMERE
R EERE 3,350 1961
Loss on wealth management products R E eS8 - 3
Share of net losses of associates accounted for ER#EmEARNE = AT
using equity method (Note 20) (& E518 558 (M35E20) 11,923 2,121
Share-based compensation expenses DURRD A E R E NG 33,809 35,653
Loss on disposal of property and equipment HEYER R EEE = 108
Expected credit (gain)/loss, net (Note 12) FEHR(E B (has) 5187358
(FdEE12) (84,986) 15398
Impairment loss (Note |3(a)) BAEEE (FisE13(2)) 26,179 151,720
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Note 35) i B A B4R L4z & ABRBIE 18
(Fg5E£35) 30,956 —
Finance expenses gl ha 13,913 13,067
Operating (loss)/profit before working HEESEFHAINLE
capital change (&518) /& (22,779) 48,689
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SIR&IIR &R () 93,292 (5,641)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets and BHREEKRE G EWIIE
trade receivables B (Em) 55,609 (94,454)
(Increase)/decrease in loans to customers ZEREH L) R (19,547) 13,124
Decrease in prepayments and other receivables  FE1{ 7R I8 K E fth FE WL =R I8 R 6,566 24,820
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables B 5 R EMERIE
g, Geb) 13,373 (8,697)
Decrease in contract liabilities sHa&ER/RD (134) (733)
Cash generated from/(used) in operating activities 4&&SEBES  (FrA) NIRS 126,380 (22,892)
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Cont'd)

-~
38 =&

RERERME (BE)

As at 31 December

I12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETFTT
Payable for acquisition of a subsidiary I BE— RS MY B A B FE S v 18 = (214,825)
Acquisition of right-of-use assets IR E AR E 14,726 3,932

An analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for the years

ended 3| December 2022 and 2021 are presented as follows:

Net Debt

HE2002F K202 F 12831 HIEFEEZF
ERRPEREHNOIT2®RAOT -

FEFE

As at 31 December

128318

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents B RESZEY) 376,813 313,148
Borrowings — repayable within one year B —BR—ERNER (166,687) (171,943)
Borrowings — repayable after one year B —BR—FBER (13,170) (20,540)
Lease liabilities HE&aE (13,189) (4,602)
Net debt HETS 183,767 116,063
Cash and liquid investments PE MO E 376,813 313,148
Gross debt — fixed interest rates HBEFS — EEF =X (179,857) (192,483)
Gross debt — variable interest rates HR(EFE — F B F| = (13,189) (4,602)
Net debt FEH 183,767 116,063
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38

(Cont'd)

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

mAaRERERWE(E)

Cash and
cash  Borrowings Borrowings
equivalents (non-current) (current) Leases Total
RERk EEN EEA
REEB/Y  (GEEIH) (ENEA) HE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRT AREBTR ARBTRT ARETR
As at | January 2021 202151818 412,684 7483 (171563) (4816) 208822
Foreign exchange adjustments  JMNEZHEE (1908) - - (1,908)
Acquisition-Leases WEE—fE - - - 3932 3932
Cash flows Hens (97,628) - 6563 #146) (95211
Other non-cash movements HihIER £ EH = 6,943 (6,943) 428 428
As at 3| December 2021 2021128318 313,148 (20,540) (171,943) (4,602) |'16,063
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ IMNEFHEE 2,116) - - - (2,116)
Acquisition — Leases WiE—HE - - - 14,726 14,726
Cash flows He w8 65,781 - 12,626 (6,139) 72,268
Other non-cash movements HihIEIR LS — 7,370 (7,370) (17,174) (17,174)
As at 3|1 December 2022 72022128318 376,813 (13,170) (166,687) (13,189) 183,767
39 KRR

39 DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year
ended 3| December 2022 (2021: Nil).

REE20225F 12831 BIEEE » A B RIK

NHREIRKRE Q0214 :

") -
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NFENA3IBLEE

40

322

FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY

40 FBREMBRAKRFEEES

As at 31 December
®128318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BATINKEE 1,283,499 1,283,499
Receivables from subsidiaries FEUS Bt B /A B =18 4,993,816 4967971
Total non-current assets ERFEELE 6,277,315 6,251,470
Current assets RAEE
Cash and cash equivalents BPERIEEEEY 7,672 9,097
Total current assets BB EMSE 7,672 9,097
Total assets BEME 6,284,987 6,260,567
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEkaE
Equity e
Share capital [N 90 90
Share premium [ arpinyi=} 6,159,329 6,152,799
Share held for employee incentive schemes HEEEREI 2RI IEH (10) (10)
Reserves (Note 40 (b)) & (MI5E40(b) ) 187,354 163,878
Accumulated loss (Note 40 (b)) RetE518 (EE40(b) ) (61,776) (56,190)
Total equity B 6,284,987 6,260,567
Total liabilities = NEE - -
Total equity and liabilities S RaEszE 6,284,987 6,260,567

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
by the Board of Directors on 3| March 2023 and was signed on its
behalf.

Sun Haitao
%iEE
Director

EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE2NENP3IBLEE

40 FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 40 ZSASBFE4N R RS S (&
COMPANY (Cont'd)

Reserves Accumulated loss Total
fkfE RETESE Bzt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARWFT ARWFT

Asat | January 2022 #0251 818 163,695 (56,190) 107,505
Comprehensive loss 2EEBE

Loss for the year FEEE - (5,586) (5,586)
Currency translation differences i ERE 1,146 = 1,146
Total comprehensive loss P HEEEIE4EEE 1,146 (5,586) (4,440)

Transactions with owners as their capacity S A%E ANEEAZ

as owners R5
Share incentives exercised and vested BITEREBINRG, IR (6,530) = (6,530)
Share incentives awarded under employee &£ IEN 51218 T2 H Y

incentive schemes BRAR £Z 29,043 - 29,043

Total transactions with owners as their S ABERANEEAZ

capacity as owners 4% 22,513 - 22,513
As at 3| December 2022 120225128318 187,354 (61,776) 125,578
Reserves  Accumulated loss Total

] RETE1E Wt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARETT ARETT

Asat | January 2021 20211818 147,859 (53,467) 94,392
Comprehensive loss 2EBE

Loss for the year FEEE - (2723) (2723)
Currency translation differences S EERR 922 = 922
Total comprehensive loss P HEEEERE 922 (2723) (1,801)

Transactions with owners as their capacity Sl G AEE ANEEAZ

as owners x5
Share incentives exercised and vested BITEREBIRDIZE (15,403) = (15,403)
Share incentives awarded under employee & 28BN ETEITE M ZH A

incentive schemes BRAD 12 30,317 - 30,317

Total transactions with owners as their ~ EAGAEE ANBEEAZ
capacity as owners RH4EEE 14914 - 14914

As at 31 December 2021 20215128318 163,695 (56,190) 107,505
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Five-Year Financial Summary

For the year ended 3| December

HENA3IBILEEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTRT ARETT AEBTR®
Results E4
Revenue Weas 2,811,994 2,045,393 274,309 440,098 395,739
(Loss)/Profit for the year FER(FEE) 5 2,168,767 (1,111,043)  (1,716,406) (260,701) (97,629)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to: AT (B518R)
Vvl
Owners of the Company KATIFFE A 2,162,084 (1,128878)  (1,699,071) (233,687) (82,697)
Non-controlling interests IR 6,683 17,835 (17,335) (27.014) (14,932)
2,168,767 (1,111,043 (1,716,406) (260,701) (97,629)
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBETT AREBTT ARKBTT AR®TT AR%TR®
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Total assets HEE 7,532,198 5,740,426 1,871,738 1,559,214 1,136,504
Total liabilities S =R (3985942)  (3,186,068) (890,152) (800,468) (425,282)
3,546,256 2,554,358 981,586 758,746 711,222
Equity attributable to owners of ~ ZNATIHEA AERL
the Company e 3,529,315 2,522,174 969,613 765,247 712,437
Non-controlling interests FJFER R 16,941 32,184 11,973 (6,501) (1,215)
3,546,256 2,554,358 981,586 758,746 711,222
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